
FALL TOWN MEETING 
October 21, 2023 
Table of Contents 

                                                                                                                                                             PAGE(S) 
  REPORT & RECOMMENDATIONS  
  Report & Recommendations of the Advisory & Finance Committee  ........................   3-19 
 

  VOTING CHARTS 
  Advisory & Finance Committee Roll Call Voting Charts ..............................................    23-24 
 

  CAPITAL IMPROVEENTS COMMITTEE 
  Capital Improvements Committee Project Rankings ..................................................     27 
 

  SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION  
  Article 1   WITHDRAWN ……………………………………………………………………………………  
  Article 2A Supplemental Budget - General Fund ……………………………………………….     31-51 
         Article 2B Supplemental Budget - Enterprise Fund ……………………………………………     53-60   
  Article 3  WITHDRAWN …………………………………………… ..........................................      
  Article 4  Capital Recommendations  ....................................................................    61-121 
  Article 5  Amend Bylaw Ch 137 Blight/Nuisance ..................................................  123-127 
  Article 6   Amend Bylaw Ch 166 Swimming Pools  .................................................  129-132 
  Article 7   WITHDRAWN .........................................................................................      
  Article 8   Master Plan Funding  .............................................................................  133-144  
  Article 9A  CPC - Housing: Habitat for Humanity  ....................................................  145-172  
  Article 9B  CPC - Housing: Plymouth Housing Authority ..…………………………………… 173-183    
  Article 9C CPC - Historical: Old Russell Library  ......................................................  185-209     
  Article 9D  CPC - Historical: Pilgrim Hall ..................................................................  211-224  
  Article 9E CPC - Open Space: Land off Rocky Pond Rd ………………………………………  225-235 
  Article 9F CPC - Open Space: Land off Rocky Hill Rd …………………………………………. 237-253 
  Article 9G CPC - Recreation: Hedges Pond Demolition ……………………………………… 255-270 
  Article 9H CPC - Reduce Stephens Field Borrowing …………………………………………… 271-273 
  Article 9I  CPC - FY24 Budget ……………………………………………………………………………  275-279 
  Article 10 Land Donation …………………………………………………………………………………. 281-285    
  Article 11 EV Charging Fund …………………………………………………………………………….. 287-290    
  Article 12 WITHDRAWN ……………………………………………………………………………………    
  Article 13 Conveyance of Tax Title Property to Parks & Forestry ……………………… 291-303  
  Article 14      Conveyance of Tax Title Property to Conservation Commission .……… 305-318 
   Article 15 Amend Bylaw Ch 133 – Nip Ban …………………………………………................ 319-326    
  Article 16 Legislative Petition – Habormaster Employees ……………… .................... 327-331    
 Article 17     Holtec Pilot  ............................................................................................  333 
 Article 18     Solar Pilot – 17 Plymouth St  .................................................................. 335-343 

  Article 19 Solar Pilot – Long Pond Park & Ride …………………………………………………. 345-349    
  Article 20  WITHDRAWN …………………………………………………………………………………….  
  Article 21 Amend April 2023 Art 9 A38 Amend Funding Source ……………………… .. 351-353   
  Article 22 Amend April 2023 Art 13 Promotion Fund  ........................................... 355-357  
  Article 23    Special Purpose Article – Opioid Settlement ……………………………………..359-362 
  Article 24 Citizen Petition – Amend Zoning Bylaw §207-11 Solar Systems …………363-366 



 

 

 

 

 

 

REPORT & 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

1



2



REPORT & RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE ADVISORY & FINANCE 
COMMITTEE 

Fall Town Meeting - Saturday, October 21, 2023 
ARTICLE 1: Withdrawn 
 
ARTICLE 2A: Supplemental Budget - General Fund 
To see if the Town will vote to amend the vote taken under Article 7A of the 2023 Spring Annual Town Meeting 
warrant, and, as necessary, to raise, appropriate, transfer from available funds, or borrow funds for the purpose of 
supplementing departmental expenses, and/or to reduce certain departmental expenses or otherwise amend said 
vote, or take any other action relative thereto.  
SELECT BOARD  
 
RECOMMENDATION: LINE #3 COPC SUPPORT - Approval $25,000 (7-6-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 2A Line # 3 COPC Support. 
Approval of this article will increase the FY24 General Fund Operating Budget by $25,000 (voted separately) as 
detailed in the table below: 

RECOMMENDATION: ALL OTHER LINE ITEMS – Approval $1,013,201 Unanimous (13-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 2A All Other Line Items. 
Approval of this article will increase the FY24 General Fund Operating Budget by $1,013,201 as detailed in the 
following table: 

Department Budget Line Item Line 
# Description of Item A&F  

Recommendation 
Sub-Committee A     

Town Manager Personal Services 3 Salaries - COPC Support  $              25,000  

Town Manager Personal Services 3 Salaries - Stipend Quality 
Council  $                3,000  

Town Manager All Other 
Expenses 4 Implement Climate Action Plan  $              20,000  

Town Clerk Personal Services 7 Salaries    $                2,250  

Town Clerk All Other 
Expenses 8 Program Annual Cost & 

Printing  $              16,000  
Town Clerk Dept Equipment 9 Equipment Lease  $              11,700  
Elections & Town Meeting Personal Services 10 Salaries  $                2,025  

Elections & Town Meeting 
All Other 
Expenses 11 Technical Assistance  $                   600  

Elections & Town Meeting Dept Equipment 12 Equip Rental & Purchase  $                6,000  

Inspectional Services All Other 
Expenses 11 Technical 

Services/Enforcement  $            125,000  
Fixed Costs - Member 
Benefits 

All Other 
Expenses 15 Member Benefits - Dispatchers  $              (8,889) 

   Total Sub-Committee A  $            202,686  
Sub-Committee B         

Information Technology All Other 
Expenses 20 Open Gov Annual Maintenance  $              86,097  

Finance  Personal Services 17 OT Charter Committee Support  $                8,834  

Finance  All Other 
Expenses 18 Reduction to Maint. Costs for 

Procurement  $              (5,416) 

3



Fixed Costs - Member 
Insurance 

All Other 
Expenses 28 Member Insurance - 

Dispatchers  $          (231,846) 
Total Sub-Committee B  $          (142,331) 

Sub-Committee C 
Police Personal Services 32 Salaries - Dispatchers  $          (612,971) 

Police All Other 
Expenses 33 Contractual Costs - Dispatchers  $            612,971 

Police All Other 
Expenses 33 Contractual Costs - Dispatchers  $            231,846 

Police All Other 
Expenses 33 Contractual Costs - Dispatchers  $          8,889 

Total Sub-Committee C  $            240,735 
Sub-Committee D 

DPW - Parks All Other 
Expenses 45 Specialized Graffiti Removal  $        10,000 

Fixed Costs - Snow & Ice All Other 
Expenses 48 Increase Snow & Ice  $            660,777 

Total Sub-Committee D  $            670,777 
Sub-Committee E 
Community Resources Personal Services 55 Library Salaries  $        41,334 

Planning & Development All Other 
Expenses 64 Consulting Services  $        25,000 

Total Sub-Committee E  $        66,334 

Total Article 2A Supplemental Budget Recommendation to Town Meeting  $         1,038,201 

ARTICLE 2B: Supplemental Budget – Enterprise Fund 
To see if the Town will vote to amend the votes taken under Article 7B, 7C, 7D, and 7E of the 2023 Spring 
Annual Town Meeting warrant, and, as necessary, to raise and appropriate, transfer from available funds, or 
borrow funds for the purpose of supplementing enterprise departmental expenses, and/or to reduce certain 
departmental expenses or otherwise amend said vote, or take any other action relative thereto.   
SELECT BOARD  

RECOMMENDATION: Approval $656,000 Unanimous (13-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 2B. Approval of this article will 
increase the FY24 Enterprise Fund Budget by $656,000 as detailed in the following table: 

Department Original
Article Budget Line Item Line 

# Description  A&F 
Recommendation 

Sub-Committee G 
Water 7B Other Expenditures 72 Purchase of Chemicals $100,000 
Sewer 7C Other Expenditures 76 Increase in Utilities $100,000 
Sewer 7C Other Expenditures 76 Purchase of Chemicals $156,000 
Sewer 7C Other Expenditures 76 Disposal of Biosolids $100,000 
Sewer 7C Other Expenditures 76 Monitoring Equip Rental $200,000 
Total Article 2B Supplemental Enterprise Budget Recommendation to Town Meeting $656,000 

ARTICLE 3:  Withdrawn 

4



ARTICLE 4: Capital Recommendations 
To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate, transfer from available funds or borrow a sum of money for 
the construction and/or repair and/or purchase and/or lease and/or replacement of departmental buildings and/or 
equipment and/or capital facilities for various departments of the Town and/or for feasibility and other types of 
studies, and to authorize contracts or lease/purchase agreements for such purposes for terms of three or more 
years, as follows:   
 

ITEM DEPARTMENT PROJECT DESCRIPTION 
A1 Town Manager Downtown Corridor Heat Island Mitigation & Beautification 
A2 IT Security Camera Upgrades 
A3 Fire Replace & Equip Pumping Engine 5 
A4 Harbor Master Town Wharf Extension 
A5 DPW - Admin Administration Building Schematic Design & Appraisal 
A6 DMEA Engineering & Permitting for Rehab of Store Pond 
A7 DMEA Herring Ponds Management Plan Implementation 
A8 DMEA Savery Pond Groundwater Flow Model 
A9 DMEA Design of Dark Orchard All Persons Trail 

A10 DPW - Sewer CMOM Program 
A11 DPW - Sewer Infrastructure Improvements 
A12 DPW - Water Infrastructure Improvements 

or take any other action relative thereto. 
SELECT BOARD  
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval $2,764,849 Unanimous (13-0-0)  
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 4 Capital appropriations as 
listed in the table below:   
 

ITEM PROJECT DESCRIPTION 
 

APPROPRIATION  

A1 
Downtown Corridor Heat Island Mitigation & 
Beautification  $            63,200.00  

A2 Security Camera Upgrades  $            58,550.00  
A3 Replace & Equip Pumping Engine 5  $          925,596.00  
A4 Town Wharf Extension  $          664,500.00  
A5 Administration Building Schematic Design & Appraisal  $            25,000.00  
A6 Engineering & Permitting for Rehab of Store Pond  $          246,300.00  
A7 Herring Ponds Management Plan Implementation  $            32,800.00  
A8 Savery Pond Groundwater Flow Model  $            32,800.00  
A9 Design of Dark Orchard All Persons Trail  $            16,103.00  

A10 CMOM Program  $          500,000.00  
A11 Infrastructure Improvements  $          100,000.00  
A12 Infrastructure Improvements  $          100,000.00  

  TOTAL FOR ARTICLE 4 ITEMS  $       2,764,849.00  
 
 

5



ARTICLE 5: Bylaw Amendment.  
To see if the Town will vote to amend its General Bylaw, Chapter 137, “PROPERTY MAINTENANCE,” as 
provided below with strikethrough language to be deleted and underlined language to be added: 

 

Chapter 137 

PROPERTY MAINTENANCE 

Blight/Nuisances on Property 

 

§ 137-1. Premises where building has been torn down.  

[HISTORY: Adopted by the Annual Town Meeting of the Town of Plymouth 4-16-1974 by Art. 58 as Art. 
5, Sec. 5.13 of the 1974 Bylaws. Amendments noted where applicable.]  

§ 137-1. Premises where building has been torn down.  

The Selectmen shall require the owner of the premises from which any building has been removed or torn down 
to have said premises put in good, presentable and safe condition and require said owner to erect a suitable 
barrier, all to be done to their satisfaction within 30 days after notice, in writing, to said owner. 

§ 137-1. Purpose and Intent 

It is the purpose and intent of this section to minimize nuisances in the municipality. Nuisances, such as 
dilapidated buildings, structures including fences, graffiti, overgrowth, debris, trash, stagnant pools of water, 
property having defective weather protection and vacant or abandoned buildings, cause and contribute to blight 
within neighborhoods and commercial areas of the municipality and adversely affect the property values for 
adjacent and surrounding property. Such nuisances on property also impair the public health and safety. This 
bylaw is intended to further the objectives of and to act in concert with any existing state or local laws.  

§ 137-2. Definitions 

The following words and phrases, when used in this bylaw, shall have the following meanings: 

 Enforcement Authority- the Director of Inspectional Services or his or her designee, Health 
 Director or his or her designee, Fire Chief or his or her designee 

 Graffiti- the intentional painting, marking, scratching, coloring, tagging or other defacement of  any 
property without the consent of the owner.  

 Nuisance- a failure to satisfy any one or more of the property standards set forth in §137-3. 

 Owner- any person who owns, manages, or controls any property and shall be sufficiently   
 identified by the name and address appearing in the records of the municipal assessor.  

 Person- any individual, voluntary association of individuals, business, entity, organization   
 whether incorporated or not.  

6



 Property- any land, building, structure of real property, including any fixtures attached thereto,   
 or any personal property located within the Town of Plymouth.  

§ 137-3. Property Standards 

All property, whether occupied or vacant, shall be maintained in good repair and a safe and sanitary condition as 
provided herein, so as to not cause or contribute to the creation of a hazardous or blighted area or to affect 
adversely the public health and safety or property value of adjacent or surrounding property. All property in the 
Town of Plymouth shall be maintained in the accordance with the following property standards:  

(a) Overgrowth- All property shall be maintained free of vegetation that is or may reasonably become 
infested with rodents, vermin, or other animals, conceal pools of stagnant water, or create a fire safety 
hazard as determined by the fire official. All property shall be kept free of overgrown, decayed, dead, 
or hazardous trees, shrubs, or any other vegetation that possess a hazard to the health and safety of 
any person in the vicinity of the property, including any persons traveling on any portion of any 
public way, or any surrounding property. This section does not apply to any vegetation growth 
associated with agricultural use.  

(b) Structures- All structures, including any buildings, fences, storage sheds, or any element thereof 
shall be maintained in a structurally sound condition and in good repair as determined by the 
enforcement authority, including proper weather protection and waterproofing, and shall be 
maintained in a condition so as to not cause or contribute to creation of a fire safety hazard as 
determined by the fire official. All property with siding and roof covering shall be maintained in a 
weather resistant and watertight condition as determined by the enforcement authority. Any building 
or structure sustaining damage due to a fire, natural disaster, or any other incident and determined by 
the enforcement authority to be a nuisance may cause the nuisance to be removed as provided in 
MGL c. 139 at the owner’s expense or as provided in § 137-4. 

(c) Accumulation of Trash, Rubbish or Debris- All property shall be maintained in a clean and 
sanitary manner and free from the accumulation of litter, rubbish, trash, or other debris, except in 
closed receptacles intended for such use. 

(d) Pools of Stagnant Water- All property shall be maintained to prohibit the formation of stagnant 
pools of water, which may adversely affect the public health by attracting and harboring mosquitoes 
and other insects.  

(e) Graffiti- All private property shall be maintained free from graffiti as defined in § 137-2. This section 
shall not apply to municipal property, property owned and operated by a state or federal agency.  

(f) Other: Determinations made by an Enforcement Officer or his/her designated agents, that the 
building, structure, or parcel of land is in a condition which poses a serious nuisance or serious threat 
to safety, health, and or/wellbeing of the Town of Plymouth. 

§ 137-4. Removal of Nuisance 

It shall be unlawful for the owner of any property in the Town of Plymouth to violate any one or number of the 
property standards contained in § 137-3 and any such property in violation shall be deemed to be a public 
nuisance. The enforcement authority shall declare the property a public nuisance and order the property owner to 
remove the nuisance within ten (10) days after service of the notice of the violation. Such notice shall be served in 
accordance with G.L. c. 111, § 124. The notice shall contain the following information: 

(1) The street address and description of the property sufficient for identification of the property. 

7



(2) A statement that the property has been declared a public nuisance because of the presence of a 
nuisance on the property.  

(3) A concise description of the conditions on the property that has led to the determination that the 
property is a public nuisance.  

(4) A statement that the nuisance shall be removed from the property within ten days from service of the 
notice and that if the owner fails to remove the nuisance within the time frame specified that the 
owner will be in violation of this bylaw and subject to the penalties described therein.  

 
§ 137-5. Violations 
 
If the owner fails to remove such nuisance within the timeframe provided in § 137-4, the enforcement authority 
may enter the property and remove or cause to be removed the nuisance and the owner shall be liable for any 
expense incurred by the town for such removal. If the owner refuses or neglects to pay any costs incurred by the 
town, the municipality may take any action to recover the sum expended as allowed by law including but not 
limited to a municipal lien of the property. 
This section may also be enforced by civil process, criminal process or by non-criminal disposition as provided in 
General Laws, chapter 40 § 21D. Each day on which a violation exists shall be deemed to be a separate offense 
and any person in violation of this section shall be subject to the following fines: 
 
  First violation:                                                              $ 50.00 
  Second violation:                                                         $100.00 
  Third violation:      $200.00 
  Fourth and each subsequent violation:   $300.00 
 
In addition to the penalties set forth above, the enforcement authority may seek an injunction from a court of 
competent jurisdiction to restrain any violation of this section. 
 
This section shall not apply to municipal property, property owned and operated by a state or federal agency. 

or take any other action relative thereto.   
INSPECTIONAL SERVICES 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval (10-1-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 5. Approval of this article will 
authorize the Town to adopt property standards for overgrowth, structures, accumulation of trash, rubbish, or 
debris, pools of stagnant water, graffiti and other determinations which pose a serious nuisance or serious threat to 
safety, health and/or well-being of the Town of Plymouth, authorize the Town to issue violations for failure to 
comply with the standards within 10 days of issuance of a violation, and to authorize the Town to remove the 
nuisance at the owners expense, or take any other action, to recover the sum expended as allowed by law 
including but not limited to a municipal lien of the property.  
 
ARTICLE 6: Bylaw Amendment 
To see if the Town will vote to amend its General Bylaw, Chapter 166 by striking its entirety, as on file with the 
Town Clerk, or take any other action relative thereto. 
INSPECTIONAL SERVICES 
 
 

8



RECOMMENDATION: Approval Unanimous (11-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 6. Approval of this article will 
rescind the Town of Plymouth General By-law Chapter 166 Swimming Pools in its entirety. Town Counsel has 
determined that the 9th Edition of the Building Code supersedes the current bylaw, as it is written, and is more 
stringent with its requirements pertaining to swimming pools and spas thereby supporting the Article 6 Bylaw 
Amendment. 
 
ARTICLE 7: WITHDRAWN 
 
ARTICLE 8:  Master Plan Funding 
To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate, transfer from available funds, or borrow $430,000 to 
conduct an update of Plymouth’s Comprehensive Master Plan, or take any other action thereto. 
PLANNING BOARD 

RECOMMENDATION: Approval $430,000 Unanimous (14-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 8. Approval of this article will 
authorize the Planning Board to contract consultant services to establish a master plan that addresses issues 
unique to Plymouth and includes implementation strategies for Town goals that are both measurable and 
trackable. 

ARTICLE 9A: CPC Housing- Habitat for Humanity 
To see if the Town will vote to appropriate from Fiscal Year 2024 Community Preservation Act estimated 
revenues, Community Preservation reserves or other available funds the sum of $100,000.00 as a grant to the 
Habitat for Humanity of Greater Plymouth for the purposes of constructing a single family home pursuant to G.L. 
c. 44B, §12 and G.L. c. 184, §§ 31-33 with deed restricted affordable housing on the property located at 47 Indian 
Avenue, Plymouth, Massachusetts, Lot 233, Plot 000, Assessors Map 048-054-233-000 and further to authorize 
the Select Board to enter into a grant agreement with the Habitat for Humanity of Greater Plymouth for such 
purposes, and to accept the affordable housing restriction, or take any other action relative thereto. 
COMMUNITY PRESERVATION COMMITTEE 

RECOMMENDATION: Approval $100,000 Unanimous (13-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 9A. Approval of this article will 
authorize a grant to Habitat for Humanity of Greater Plymouth for the purpose of constructing a single-family 
home at 47 Indian Avenue, with an affordable housing deed restriction. 

ARTICLE 9B: CPC Housing- Plymouth Housing Authority 
To see if the Town will vote to amend the vote taken under Article 9D of the 2019 Fall Annual Town Meeting by 
increasing the amount appropriated thereunder from Fiscal Year 2024 Community Preservation Act estimated 
revenues, Community Preservation reserves or other available funds the sum of $381,525.00 as a grant to the 
Plymouth Housing Authority for the purpose of acquiring an affordable housing restriction pursuant to G.L. c. 
44B, §12 and G.L. c. 184, §§ 31-33 for three units of rental housing on property located in the former Oak Street 
School on Oak Street Plymouth, MA 02360, with any balance of funds left over after the renovation to revert back 
to the Community Preservation Fund, and further to authorize the Select Board to accept the affordable housing 
restriction, or take any other action relative thereto. 
COMMUNITY PRESERVATION COMMITTEE 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval $381,525 Unanimous (13-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 9B. Approval of this Article 
will authorize a grant to the Plymouth Housing Authority for the purpose of remodeling 3, affordable housing 
restricted, units located in the former Oak Street School on Oak Street. 
 

9



ARTICLE 9C: CPC Historical- Old Russell Library 
To see if the Town will vote to appropriate from Fiscal Year 2024 Community Preservation Act estimated 
revenues, Community Preservation reserves or other available funds the sum of $443,942.00 as a grant to The 
Plymouth Guild Inc., d/b/a Plymouth Center for the Arts for the restoration and rehabilitation and preservation of 
the historic Russell Library located at 11 North Street, including construction, repainting of the brick and mortar 
façade, roof and windows restoration including incidental and related expenses, and to authorize the Select Board 
to enter into a grant agreement with The Plymouth Guild Inc., for such purposes, which grant agreement shall 
include but not be limited to the requirement that the Town of Plymouth be provided with an historic preservation 
restriction in said property in accordance with  G.L. c. 44B, §12 and meeting the requirements of G.L. c. 184, §§ 
31-33 and to authorize the Select Board to accept such restriction, with such restriction being held under the care, 
custody and control of the Historic Commission or take any other action relative thereto. 
COMMUNITY PRESERVATION COMMITTEE 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval $443,942 Unanimous (13-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 9C. Approval of this Article 
will authorize a grant to the Plymouth Guild Inc. for the restoration, rehabilitation and preservation of the historic 
Russell Library located at 11 North Street. 
 
ARTICLE 9D: CPC Historical- Pilgrim Hall  
To see if the Town will vote to appropriate from Fiscal Year 2024 Community Preservation Act estimated 
revenues, Community Preservation reserves or other available funds or borrow the sum of $3,200,000, or any 
other sum, as a grant to Pilgrim Hall Museum for the preservation, rehabilitation and restoration of the Pilgrim 
Hall Museum located at 75 Court Street including all incidental and related costs, and further to authorize the 
Select Board to enter into a grant agreement with Pilgrim Hall Museum, for such purposes, which grant 
agreement shall include but not be limited to the requirement that the Town of Plymouth be provided with an 
historic preservation restriction in said property in accordance with  G.L. c. 44B, §12 and meeting the 
requirements of G.L. c. 184, §§ 31-33 and to authorize the Select Board to accept such restriction, with such 
restriction being held under the care, custody and control of the Historic Commission, or take any other action 
relative thereto. 
COMMUNITY PRESERVATION COMMITTEE 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval $3,200,000 (9-4-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 9D. Approval of this Article 
will authorize the Town to borrow said funds to grant to the Pilgrim Hall Museum for the restoration, 
rehabilitation, and preservation of the Pilgrim Hall Museum located at 75 Court Street. 
 
ARTICLE 9E: CPC Open Space- Land off Rocky Pond Road 
To see if the Town will vote to authorize the Select Board to acquire by purchase, gift, eminent domain or 
otherwise, for open space and recreational purposes pursuant to G. L. c.44B and to accept the deed to the Town of 
Plymouth, of a fee simple interest or of land located off 36 Rear Rocky Pond Road in the Town of Plymouth 
comprised of 50 acres, more or less, shown on Assessors Map 91, Lot 4B and including Assessor’s Parcel 091-
000-004B-000, and further that said land be held under the care, custody and control of the Conservation 
Commission; and as funding therefor to appropriate $175,000 for the acquisition and other costs associated 
therewith from Fiscal Year 2024 Community Preservation Act estimated revenues, Community Preservation 
reserves or other available funds and further to authorize the Select Board to grant a conservation restriction in 
said property in accordance with G. L. c. 44B, §12 meeting the requirements of G.L. c.184, §§31-33; and to 
authorize appropriate Town officials to enter into all agreements and execute any and all instruments as may be 
necessary on behalf of the Town to effect said purchase; or take any other action relative thereto. 
COMMUNITY PRESERVATION COMMITTEE 
 
 

10



RECOMMENDATION: Approval $175,000 Unanimous (13-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 9E. Approval of this Article 
will authorize the Town to purchase 50.2 acres of land located at 36 R Rocky Pond Road for Open Space, and to 
grant a conservation restriction on said property. 
 
ARTICLE 9F: CPC Open Space- Land Rocky Hill Road 
To see if the Town will vote to authorize the Select Board to acquire by purchase, gift, eminent domain or 
otherwise, for open space and recreational purposes pursuant to G. L. c.44B and to accept the deed to the Town of 
Plymouth, of a fee simple interest or of land located at 280 Rocky Hill Road in the Town of Plymouth comprised 
of 23.6 acres, more or less, shown on Assessors Map 43, Lot 18-C, and including Assessor’s Parcel 043-000-
018C-000, and further that said land be held under the care, custody and control of the Conservation Commission; 
and as funding therefor to appropriate $1,210,000 for the acquisition and other costs associated therewith from 
Fiscal Year 2024 Community Preservation Act estimated revenues, Community Preservation reserves or other 
available funds, and further to authorize the Select Board to grant a conservation restriction in said property in 
accordance with G. L. c. 44B, §12 meeting the requirements of G.L. c.184, §§31-33; and to authorize appropriate 
Town officials to enter into all agreements and execute any and all instruments as may be necessary on behalf of 
the Town to effect said purchase; or take any other action relative thereto. 
COMMUNITY PRESERVATION COMMITTEE 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval $1,210,000 (12-1-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 9F. Approval of this Article 
will authorize the Town to purchase 23 acres of land located at 280 Rocky Hill Road for Open Space, and to grant 
a conservation restriction on said property. 
 
ARTICLE 9G: CPC Recreational- Hedges Pond Demolition 
To see if the Town will vote to appropriate from Fiscal Year 2024 Community Preservation Act estimated 
revenues, Community Preservation reserves or other available funds the sum of $157,500 for the demolition of 
buildings at Hedges Pond Recreational and Preserve off Long Pond Road including all incidental and related 
costs, to preserve recreation and open space; or take any other action relative thereto. 
COMMUNITY PRESERVATION COMMITTEE  

RECOMMENDATION: Approval $157,500 Unanimous (13-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 9G. Approval of this Article 
will authorize the Town to demolish and properly dispose of 7 buildings located at Hedges Pond Recreation Area, 
which pose both physical and environmental risks to the public, due to the presence of lead paint. 
 
ARTICLE 9H: CPC- Reduce Stephens Field Borrowing   
To see if the Town will vote to revise the funding sources and thereby amend the vote taken under Article 16B of 
the 2015 Spring Annual Town Meeting for the restoration and rehabilitation of Stephens Field, as previously 
amended, by reducing the amount to be borrowed by a sum of money and appropriating a sum of money from 
Fiscal Year 2024 Community Preservation Act estimated revenues, Community Preservation reserves or other 
available funds for such purposes, or take any other action relative thereto 
COMMUNITY PRESERVATION COMMITTEE 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval $1,487,154 Unanimous (13-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 9H. Approval of this Article 
will authorize the Finance Director to use available Fiscal Year 2024 Community Preservation Act funds to reduce 
the final borrowing commitment for the restoration and rehabilitation of Stephens Field.  
 
 
 

11



ARTICLE 9I: CPC- FY24 Budget 
To see if the Town will vote to hear and act on the report of the Community Preservation Committee on the Fiscal 
Year 2024 Community Preservation Budget and to appropriate from the Community Preservation Fund Fiscal 
Year 2024 a sum of money to meet the administrative expenses and all other necessary and proper expenses of the 
Community Preservation Committee for Fiscal Year 2024, future appropriation amounts as recommended by the 
Community Preservation Committee: a sum of money for the acquisition, creation, and preservation of land for 
open space, and including restoration and rehabilitation of land for recreational use, a sum of money for 
acquisition, preservation, restoration and rehabilitation of historic resources, and a sum of money for the 
acquisition, creation, preservation and support of community housing, or take any other action relative thereto. 
COMMUNITY PRESERVATION COMMITTEE 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval Unanimous (13-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 9I. Approval of this Article will 
allow the Community Preservation Committee to allocate 10% of the estimated annual revenues of the 
Community Preservation Fund (CPA) for future spending in community housing. Additionally, 4% of the 
estimated annual revenues of the CPA will be set aside for funding administrative and operational expenses and 
an amount will be set aside for interest expense on debt. The balance of the annual CPA revenue will be held as a 
reserve balance which can be used for any CPA purpose at future Town Meetings. 
 
ARTICLE 10: Land Donation 
To see if Town will vote to authorize the Select Board to acquire by gift, purchase or otherwise, and upon such 
terms and conditions as the Select Board deems appropriate, to accept a deed to the property located on Bourne 
Road being a portion of Lot A-16, in Plymouth, Massachusetts, for general municipal purposes, consisting of 
approximately 2.33 acres for general municipal purposes as shown on a plan of land on file with the Town Clerk, 
entitled Makepeace - Bourne Road - Proposed Fire Station, Prepared For: The Town of Plymouth, Prepared by: 
Scott Ludwig, Dated: July 8, 2023. Said land or interest to be managed by the Select Board, or take any other 
action relative thereto. 
SELECT BOARD 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval Unanimous (11-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 10. Approval of this Article 
will authorize the Town to accept the gift of land (2.35 acres) from A.D. Makepeace, located in the area of 220 
Bourne Road for the purpose of a new Bourne Road Fire Station. 
 
 
 
ARTICLE 11: EV Charging Fund 
To see if the Town will vote pursuant to G.L. c.44, §53E ½ to establish a new revolving fund, to be known as EV 
Charging; and further, to amend General Bylaws Chapter 143: Departmental Revolving Funds, particularly §143-
5, by inserting the underlined text in a new row at the end of the Table of authorized revolving funds, as follows, 
and, further, to establish a fiscal year expenditure limit of $200,000 for such fund, to be applicable from fiscal 
year to fiscal year unless amended by Town Meeting prior to July 1 in any fiscal year: 
 
 

A 
Revolving 

Fund 

B 
Department, Board, 

Committee, Agency or 
Officer Authorized to 
spend from the Fund 

C 
Fees, Charges or 
other Receipts 

Credited to Fund 

D 
Program or Activity 

Expenses Payable from 
Fund 

E 
Fiscal Years 

12



EV Charging 
 

Climate Resiliency 
and Sustainability 

Planner 

Any fees collected 
for use of the EV 

chargers 

This fund shall be used for 
electricity charges, 

equipment, and recurring 
network software costs 

Fiscal Year 
2024 and 

subsequent 
years 

or take any other action relative thereto. 
SELECT BOARD 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval $200,000 Unanimous (11-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 11. Approval of this Article 
will establish a new revolving fund, EV Charging, authorize the Town to charge a fee for the use of the 
public access EV Charging staions across the community, authorize the Town to use the fees collected 
to pay the costs associated with the electricity charges, equipment maintenance and recurring network 
software costs, and authorize the Town to set the FY24 Spending Cap for $200,000. 
 
ARTICLE 12: WITHDRAWN 
 
ARTICLE 13: Conveyance of Tax Title Property to Parks & Forestry 
To see if the Town will vote to transfer the care, custody, management, and control of the parcels listed below 
from the Town Treasurer for tax title purposes to Parks & Forestry for open space and recreational purposes, and 
further to authorize Parks & Forestry to execute any and all instruments as may be necessary to effectuate the vote 
taken hereunder, as follows:  
 

Parcel ID Location Legal Reference Recording Date 
100-000-029-000 Billington Street Bk: 15751, Pg: 309 Dec 23, 1997 
100-000-051-000 Billington Sea Bk: 7580, Pg: 202 March 30, 1987 
100-000-052-000 Billington Sea Bk: 7580, Pg: 202 March 30, 1987 
100-000-053-000 Billington Sea Bk: 7580, Pg: 202 March 30, 1987 

or take any other action relative thereto. 
OPEN SPACE COMMITTEE 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval (9-4-1) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 13. Approval of this article will 
transfer the listed parcels from the Town Treasurer to Parks & Forestry for open space and recreational purposes. 
The parcels were taken by the Town through a tax lien proceeding.  

ARTICLE 14: Conveyance of Tax Title Property to Conservation Commission 
To see if the Town will vote to transfer the care, custody, management, and control of the parcels listed below 
from the Town Treasurer for tax title purposes to the Conservation Commission for conservation purposes 
pursuant to G.L. c. 40, section 8C; and further to authorize the Conservation Commission to execute any and all 
instruments as may be necessary to effectuate the vote taken hereunder, as follows:  
 
 

Parcel ID Location Legal Reference Recording Date 
058-000-013-000 Off Valley Road Bk. 1820, Pg. 50 November 15, 1941 

073-000-007-192 Off Shallow Pond Lane Bk. 26980, Pg. 115 November 6, 2003 

or take any other action relative thereto. 
OPEN SPACE COMMITTEE 
 

13



RECOMMENDATION: Approval (11-2-1) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 14. Approval of this article will 
transfer the listed parcels from the Town Treasurer to the Conservation Commission for open space and 
conservation purposes. The parcels were taken by the Town through a tax lien proceeding. 
 
ARTICLE 15: Bylaw Amendment 
To see if the Town will vote to adopt the following ban on the sale of miniature single use containers for alcoholic 
beverages as a general by-law and to insert into the Bylaw of the Town of Plymouth, Massachusetts as Chapter 133 as 
follows: 
 
133-1 Definitions 
 

Miniature Single Use Alcohol Container (Nip) - Any bottle or container of alcohol that is 100 ml or less in 
size.  
Establishment - Establishment shall mean any business within the Town of Plymouth offering nips for sale. 
   

133-2 Findings, Purpose, and Declaration 
 

(a) Findings. The Town Meeting finds and determines that:  
 
1. Nip bottles are harmful to the marine and land environments as well as to wildlife as they take hundreds of 

years to biodegradable, leach toxins and are not recyclable in Massachusetts due to their size. 
 

2. Nip bottles are a significant part of litter resulting in potential impacts upon the 
      desirability of Plymouth for tourism as well as upon the attractiveness of the town   
      for residents and businesses alike.  
 
3. Nip bottles frequently end up on the sides of roads, in waterways and the drainage 

 system as well as in other areas of the environment, thereby contributing to the expense for the collection 
and disposal of litter and trash throughout the town. 

 
(b) Purpose. The purpose of this bylaw is to:  
 
1. Help lessen the deterioration of the environment.  
 
2. Provide an additional and effective method to protect public and private property from litter while reducing 
some of the burden of enforcement.  
 
(c) Declaration. Town Meeting declares that for all these reasons, as well as others, that nip bottles are a 
nuisance to the Town that must be abated as set forth herein. 
 

133-3 Ban on Sale of Nips by Establishments within the Town of Plymouth 
 

The sale of alcoholic beverages in containers less than or equal to 100 milliliters is prohibited by all 
establishments within the Town of Plymouth, effective: July 1, 2024. 
 

133-4 Severability 
  

If any provision of this bylaw shall be held to be invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, then such 
provision shall be considered separately and apart from the remaining provisions of this bylaw, which shall 
remain in full force and effect. 

14



 
or take any other action relative thereto. 
OPEN SPACE COMMITTEE 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Not Recommended (6-8-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends that Town Meeting does not approve Article 15. The 
Committee felt that the article language in the warrant, and as presented, was too broad. The Committee feels the 
ultimate solution is litter enforcement. 
 
ARTICLE 16: Legislative Petition 
To see if the Town will vote to authorize the Select Board to petition the Massachusetts General Court for special 
legislation in the form set forth below, provided, however, that the Massachusetts General Court may make 
clerical or editorial changes of form only to the bill, unless the Select Board approves amendments to the bill 
before enactment by the Massachusetts General Court, and provided further that the Select Board are hereby 
authorized to approve amendments which shall be within the scope of the general public objectives of this 
petition. 
 

An Act Relative to the Town of Plymouth Harbormaster Employees 
 

Be it enacted by the Senate and House of Representatives in General Court assembled, and by the authority of the 
same as follows: 
 
Section 1: 
In the Town of Plymouth, the position of Harbormaster, and the Town of Plymouth Harbormaster Department 
employees who have statutory powers of law enforcement, shall be Group 4 employees pursuant to M.G.L. c. 32, 
§ 3(2)(g). Notwithstanding any provision in M.G.L. c. 32, §§ 1-28, inclusive to the contrary, all prior creditable 
service rendered before the effective date of this act rendered by the Harbormaster and Harbormaster Department 
employees as of the date of this act will be considered Group 4 service. 
 
Section 2: 
This act shall take effect upon its passage. 
 
or take any other action relative thereto.  
SELECT BOARD 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval Unanimous (13-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 16. Approval of this article will 
authorize the Town to petition the Massachusetts General Court for special legislation that would place the full-
time sworn members of the Harbormaster Division of the Plymouth Police Department into retirement Group 4 as 
outlined in M.G.L. c. 32, § 3. All full-time members of the Harbormaster have completed the Police Officer 
Standards and Training and are certified police officers, which provides them with the full law enforcement 
authority throughout the town, thereby justifying the reclassification into retirement Group 4. 
 
 
ARTICLE 17: HOLTEC PILOT 
To see if the Town will vote to approve a payment in lieu of taxes agreement between the Town and Holtec 
Pilgrim, LLC (or any affiliate, subsidiary, or successor in interest thereof), for the property known as the Pilgrim 
Nuclear Generation Station, as on file with the Town Clerk, or take any other action relative thereto. 
SELECT BOARD 
 

15



RECOMMENDATION: The Advisory & Finance Committee had NOT heard or considered this article at the 
time of going to print. Updates will be provided, as necessary. 
 
ARTICLE 18: SOLAR PILOT – 17 Plymouth Street. 
To see if the Town will vote, pursuant to the provisions of G. L. c.59, §38H, to authorize the Select Board and 
Board of Assessors to negotiate and enter into an agreement for payments in lieu-of-taxes (“PILOT”), for a 2.476 
Megawatt DC (more or less) solar photovoltaic energy generating facility for ReWild Renewables Solar Project 
(or its affiliates, successors or assigns) to be located on a 12 acre agricultural reservoir (more or less) at 17 
Plymouth Street, submitted as 0 Carver Road Floating Solar, currently shown on Plymouth Assessor’s Map 107 
Lots 3, 4, 5, and 6U, upon such terms and conditions as the Select Board and Board of Assessors shall deem to be 
in the best interest of the Town, or take any other action relative thereto.  
SELECT BOARD 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval Unanimous (14-0-0)  
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 18. Approval of this article will 
authorize this payment-in-lieu-of-taxes (PILOT) agreement for personal property tax associated with a floating 
solar development, which will occupy approximately 5 acres within a 12-acre agriculture reservoir, located at 17 
Plymouth Street in Plymouth, shown as lots 3, 4, 5, and 6U on Assessors Map 107. This is a floating solar project 
with a total production size of 2.476 MW DC. The terms of this agreement would be $15,000 per MW DC with 
an escalation of 2.5% per year for 20 years. 50% of these payments will be deposited into the Environmental 
Affairs Fund. 
 
ARTICLE 19: SOLAR PILOT – Exit 13  
To see if the Town will vote, pursuant to the provisions of G. L. c.59, §38H, to authorize the Select Board and 
Board of Assessors to negotiate and enter into an agreement for payments in lieu-of-taxes (“PILOT”), for a 
.67745 Megawatt DC (more or less) solar photovoltaic canopy energy generating facility for Ameresco (or its 
affiliates, successors or assigns) to be located on the 1.19 acre parcel of land at Exit 13 Long Pond Road Park & 
Ride, currently shown on Plymouth Assessor’s Map 89, upon such terms and conditions as the Select Board and 
Board of Assessors shall deem to be in the best interest of the Town, or take any other action relative thereto.  
SELECT BOARD 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval Unanimous (13-0-1) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 19. Approval of this article will 
authorize this payment-in-lieu-of-taxes (PILOT) agreement for personal property tax associated with a solar 
development located at Exit 13 Long Pond Road Park & Ride in Plymouth, shown on Assessors Map 89. This is a 
parking lot canopy solar project with a total production size of .67745 MW DC. The terms of this agreement 
would be $13,000 per MW DC with an escalation of 2.5% per year for 20 years. 50% of these payments will be 
deposited into the Environmental Affairs Fund. 
 
ARTICLE 20: WITHDRAWN 
 
ARTICLE 21: Amendment to April 2023 Annual Art 9 A38 – Amend Funding Source 
To see if the Town will vote to amend the vote taken under Article 9, A38 of the 2023 April Annual Town 
Meeting, Design Cemetery Space, by reducing the amount of $9,855 from the vote taken under Article 9A-15 of 
the 2009 April Annual Town Meeting, Cemetery Software, and by increasing the amount from sales of lots by 
$9,855, or take any other action relative thereto. 
FINANCE DEPARTMENT 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval Unanimous (13-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 21. Approval of this article will 
amend the vote taken under Article 9 A38 at the April 2023 Annual Town Meeting, Design Cemetery Space, to 

16



amend the funding by reducing the amount from article 9A-15 of the April 2009 Annual Town Meeting, 
Cemetery Software, by $9,855 and by increasing the amount from sales of lots by $9,855. The purpose of the 
amendment to switch the funding source, due to the Cemetery Software fund balance being less than the amount 
needed, to funding source, sales of lots, that has the appropriate fund balance to satisfy Article 9 A38 funding 
amount approved by Town Meeting. 
 
ARTICLE 22: Amendment to Annual 2023 Article 13 – Promotion Fund 
To see if the Town will vote to amend the vote taken under Article 13 at the 2023 April Annual Town Meeting, 
Promotion Fund, to fix a typographical error, and increase the appropriation by transferring $136,478 from the 
Town Promotion Fund created pursuant to Chapter 4 of the Acts of 1993, for programs and projects that enhance 
the beautification, recreational resources, public safety, promotional and marketing activities, events, services, and 
public improvements, or take any other action relative thereto. 
FINANCE DEPARTMENT 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval Unanimous (13-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 22. Approval of this article will 
amend the vote taken under Article 13 at the April 2023 Annual Town Meeting, Promotion Fund, to fix a 
typographical error, and increase the appropriation by transferring $136,478 from the Town Promotion Fund 
created pursuant to Chapter 4 of the Acts of 1993, for programs and projects that enhance the beautification, 
recreational resources, public safety, promotional and marketing activities, events, services, and public 
improvements. 
 
ARTICLE 23: Special Purpose Article- Opioid Settlement 
To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate, transfer from available funds, or borrow to establish a 
special purpose article to utilize and administer the Opioid Settlement Abatement payments distributed to the 
Town, or take any other action relative thereto. 
SELECT BOARD 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval $239,092.09 Unanimous (13-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 23. Approval of this article will 
authorize the transfer of $239,092.09 from free cash to the Opioid Special Revenue Account for the purpose of 
funding community-based organizations focused on preventing drug addiction and providing mental health 
services across our community. 
 
ARTICLE 24: Citizens Petition 
To see if the Town will vote to amend its Zoning Bylaws governing Ground-Mounted Solar Photovoltaic Systems 
(§ 207-11). The intent is to ensure that when there are nearby residents who are not naturally shielded from a 
proposal, a plan to adequately do so MUST be presented to Planning Board, who in turn MUST make the 
implementation of such a plan a recommendation to the Building Commission. 
This plan further adds to the Financial Surety section of the bylaw concerning bonds and increases abutter 
notification requirements from 300 to 700 feet. 
 
SEE ATTACHED 
 
Or take any other action relative thereto. 
BY PETITION: MARC PACHECO, et al 
 
(The following was attached) 
 
§ 207-11. Ground-Mounted Solar Photovoltaic Systems [Amended 10-23-2018 FTM by Article 
22; Amended 4-8-19 SATM by Article 22] 

17



 
4. Information Required with Zoning Permit for all GMSPS. 
 

d) Financial Surety. Except for a municipally owned GMSPS, or a GMSPS designed to 
cover a parking lot, a project designed to generate in excess of 2MW, or exceed 8 feet 
above grade, shall require a performance guarantee in the form of a cash bond in an 
amount approved by the Building Commissioner to cover the cost of GMSPS removal 
in the event the town must remove the installation and stabilize the Development Site 
with loam and seed. 
 
5. Other Requirements.  

a) Notification. When site plan review is required, at least fourteen days prior to site plan review by the 
Planning Board, notice of the time and place of said review shall be sent by mail by the GMSPS 
Owner/Operator, postage prepaid to abutting owners of land within three SEVEN hundred feet of the 
property line of the parcel or parcels upon which the GMSPS proposes to be situated, as said abutters 
appear on the most recent applicable tax list. The assessors maintaining any applicable tax list shall 
certify the names and addresses of parties interest and such certification shall be conclusive for all 
purposes. At least 60 business days prior to the commencement of work on a project, the GMSPS 
Owner/Operator shall notify abutters within 300 700 feet of when work will commence and that site plans 
are available for public review at Town Hall. 

 
g) Viewshed affected. Exempting the municipality, when site plan review is required and there are residents 

within 700 ft of the proposed GMSPS whose viewshed will be impacted, affecting community/scenic 
character and property values (as determined by the Building Commissioner), the following SHALL 
apply: 

 
1. A viewshed SHALL be defined as the geographical area that is visible from a 

location. It includes all surrounding points that are in line-of-sight with that location and excludes 
points that are beyond the horizon or largely obstructed by terrain and other features (e.g., buildings, 
multiple trees {Deciduous, Conifers or otherwise}). 

 
2. An applicant SHALL present a complete plan which includes screening, as defined in §201-3 of the 

Bylaw and which accomplishes the goal of adequately and sufficiently reducing the impact of the 
GMSPS, regardless of the height of the GMSPS, for the abovementioned residents. The plan SHALL 
include but not be limited to the use of berms, fencing and/or vegetation. 

 
3. The Planning Board SHALL make a recommendation for screening which accomplishes the goal of 

adequately and sufficiently reducing the visual impact of the GMSPS, regardless of the height of the 
GMSPS, from the residents. The plan should include, but not be limited to the use of berms, fencing 
and/or vegetation. 

 
a. The Planning Board MAY waive this provision IF the applicant obtains the notarized, written 

permission of every one of the abutting property’s LANDOWNERS meeting the 700 ft 
viewshed criteria. 

 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval 5-4-2 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 24. Approval of this article will 
amend the zoning bylaw § 207-11. Ground-Mounted Solar Photovoltaic Systems (GMSPS) requirement for 4 d. 
Financial Surety requirement to include projects that exceed 8 feet above grade in height, amend the requirement 
for 5 a. Notification for abutter notification of potential GMSPS Projects to include projects that are within 700 

18



feet of the property line of the parcel or parcels upon which the GMSPS proposes to be situated, and add a new 
section g) Viewshed affected to the zoning bylaw. The Committee had mixed feelings about the intent of this 
amendment.  

19



 

20



 

 

 

 

 

 

ROLL CALL 

VOTING CHARTS 

21



22



ADVISORY & FINANCE COMMITTEE - ROLL CALL VOTING CHART 

Ga
il B

ut
le

r 
Lo

ui
s C

ab
an

a
Br

ian
 D

un
n

Da
ni

el
 G

re
en

Br
uc

e H
ow

ar
d

Jo
se

ph
 La

lle
y 

Tim
ot

hy
 La

wlo
r

St
ev

e N
ea

rm
an

Lo
re

nz
o 

Pi
za

rro
Ch

ris
tin

e R
ich

ar
ds

Be
th

an
y R

og
er

s 
As

hl
ey

 Sh
aw

Ev
el

yn
 St

ra
wn

Ja
m

es
 Yo

un
g

Ro
be

rt 
Zu

pp
er

ol
i

VOTE TOTAL            
FOR-AGAINST-ABSTAIN

Y  - For                                               
N - Against                                        
A - Abstain  R - Recuse                                 
X - Absent                                       
Ch - Chair did not vote                                                                  
ARTICLES                              

1 Withdrawn

2A 
Supplemental Budget General 
Fund - Line 3- COPC Support N Y Y Y N Y N Ch Y N N N X Y Y 7-6-0

2A 
Supplemental Budget General 
Fund - ALL Others Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Ch Y Y Y Y X Y Y 13-0-0

2B 
Supplemental Budget Enterprise 
Fund Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Ch Y Y Y Y X Y Y 13-0-0

3 Withdrawn

4 Capital Improvements Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Ch Y Y X Y Y Y Y 13-0-0

5
Amend Bylaw Ch 137 
Blight/Nuisance Y X Y Y Y Y Y Ch Y N Y X X Y Y 10-1-0

6
Amend Bylaw  Ch 166 
Swimming Pools Y X Y Y Y Y Y Ch Y Y Y X X Y Y 11-0-0

7 Withdrawn

8 Master Plan Funding Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y 14-0-0

9A Housing: Habitat for Humanity Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y X Y Y Y Y Y 13-0-0

9B
Housing: Plymouth Housing 
Authority Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y X Y Y Y Y Y 13-0-0

9C Historical: Old Russell Library Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y X Y Y Y Y Y 13-0-0

9D Historical: Pilgrim Hall  Y Y Y Y N Y Y Y Y X N N N Y Y 9-4-0

9E
Open Space: Land off Rocky 
Pond Rd Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y X Y Y Y Y Y 13-0-0

9F
Open SpaceL Land off Rocky Hill 
Rd N Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y X Y Y Y Y Y 12-1-0

9G
Recreation: Hedges Pond 
Demolition Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y X Y Y Y Y Y 13-0-0

9H
Reduce Stephens Field 
Borrowing  Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y X Y Y Y Y Y 13-0-0

9I FY24 Annual Budget Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y X Y Y Y Y Y 13-0-0

23



Ga
il B

ut
le

r 
Lo

ui
s C

ab
an

a
Br

ian
 D

un
n

Da
ni

el
 G

re
en

Br
uc

e H
ow

ar
d

Jo
se

ph
 La

lle
y 

Tim
ot

hy
 La

wlo
r

St
ev

e N
ea

rm
an

Lo
re

nz
o 

Pi
za

rro
Ch

ris
tin

e R
ich

ar
ds

Be
th

an
y R

og
er

s 
As

hl
ey

 Sh
aw

Ev
el

yn
 St

ra
wn

Ja
m

es
 Yo

un
g

Ro
be

rt 
Zu

pp
er

ol
i

VOTE TOTAL            
FOR-AGAINST-ABSTAIN

Y  - For                                               
N - Against                                        
A - Abstain  R - Recuse                                 
X - Absent                                       
Ch - Chair did not vote                                                                  
ARTICLES                              

10 Land Donation Y X Y Y Y Y Y Ch Y Y Y X X Y Y 11-0-0

11 EV Charging Fund Y X Y Y Y Y Y Ch Y Y Y X X Y Y 11-0-0

12 Withdrawn

13
Conveyance of Tax Title 
Property to Parks & Forestry N A Y Y Y Y Y Y Y N N N Y Y Y 9-4-1

14
Conveyance of Tax Title 
Property to Conservation 
Commission

Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y A N N Y Y Y 11-2-1

15 Amend Bylaw Ch 133  - Nip Ban N Y N Y Y N N Y Y N N N Y N Y 6-8-0

16
Legislative Petition - 
Harbormaster Employees Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Ch Y Y X Y Y Y Y 13-0-0

17 Holtec Pilot Ch
18 Solar Pilot - 17 Plymouth St Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y 14-0-0

19
Solar Pilot - Long Pond Park & 
Ride Y Y Y Y Y A Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y 13-0-1

20 Withdrawn

21
Amend April 2023 Art 9 A38 
Amend Funding Source Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Ch Y Y Y Y X Y Y 13-0-0

22
Amend April 2023 Art 13 
Promotion Fund Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Ch Y Y Y Y X Y Y 13-0-0

23
Special Purpose Art - Opioid 
Settlement Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Ch Y Y X Y Y Y Y 13-0-0

24
Citizen Petition - Amend Zoning 
Bylaw §207-11 Solar Systems Y X Y N N N Y Ch Y Y A X X N A 5-4-2

24



 

 

 

 

 

 

CAPITAL 

IMPROVEMENTS 

COMMITTEE 

25



26



Art 4A Fund DEPT/DIV PRIORITY REQUEST
 AMOUNT 
Requested 

9/6/2023 
Ranking

 Town Manager 
Recommendation Free Cash

Sewer 
Retained 
Earnings

Water 
Retained 
Earnings Other NOTES

1 GF Town Manager 1
Downtown Corridor Heat Island 
Mitigation & Beautification 63,200.00$          50 63,200.00 31,600.00 31,600.00 Environmental Affairs Fund

2 GF IT 1 Security Camera Upgrades 58,550.00$          45 58,550.00 25,875.00 32,675.00 MIAA Flex Grant - No Vote

3 GF Fire 1
Replace & Equip Pumping Engine 
5 925,596.00$        47 925,596.00 TBD TBD

Combination Free Cash & 
Article Balance

4 GF Harbor Master 1 Town Wharf Extension 664,500.00$        48 664,500.00 TBD TBD
Combination Free Cash & 
Article Balance

5 GF DPW - Admin 1
Administration Building 
Schematic Design & Appraisal 25,000.00$          46 25,000.00 25,000.00

6 GF DMEA 1
Engineering & Permitting for 
Rehab of Store Pond 246,300.00$        49 246,300.00 123,150.00 123,150.00 Environmental Affairs Fund

7 GF DMEA 3
Herring Ponds Management Plan 
Implementation 32,800.00$          51 32,800.00 32,800.00 Environmental Affairs Fund

8 GF DMEA 2
Savery Pond Groundwater Flow 
Model 32,800.00$          52 32,800.00 32,800.00 Environmental Affairs Fund

9 GF DMEA 4
Design of Dark Orchard All 
Persons Trail 16,103.00$          53 16,103.00 16,103.00 Environmental Affairs Fund

GF Total 2,064,849.00$    2,064,849.00$          205,625.00$   -$                 -$                 269,128.00$   
10 Sewer DPW - Sewer 1 CMOM Program 500,000.00$        500,000.00                500,000.00
11 Sewer DPW - Sewer 2 Infrastructure Improvements 100,000.00$        100,000.00                100,000.00

Sewer Total 600,000.00$        600,000.00$              -$                  600,000.00$   -$                 -$                 
12 Water DPW - Water 1 Infrastructure Improvements 100,000.00$        100,000.00                100,000.00

Water Total 100,000.00$        100,000.00$              -$                  -$                 100,000.00$   -$                 
Grand Total 2,764,849.00$    2,764,849.00$          205,625.00$   600,000.00$   100,000.00$   269,128.00$   

27



28



 

 

 

 

 

 

ARTICLE 

SUPPORTING 

DOCUMENTATION 

29



30



ARTICLE 2A: 
 
 
ARTICLE 2A: Supplemental Budget - General Fund 
To see if the Town will vote to amend the vote taken under Article 7A of the 2023 Spring Annual Town 
Meeting warrant, and, as necessary, to raise, appropriate, transfer from available funds, or borrow funds 
for the purpose of supplementing departmental expenses, and/or to reduce certain departmental expenses 
or otherwise amend said vote, or take any other action relative thereto.  
SELECT BOARD  
 
RECOMMENDATION: LINE #3 COPC SUPPORT - Approval $25,000 (7-6-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 2A Line # 3 COPC 
Support. Approval of this article will increase the FY24 General Fund Operating Budget by $25,000 
(voted separately) as detailed in the table below: 

RECOMMENDATION: ALL OTHER LINE ITEMS – Approval $1,013,201 Unanimous (13-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 2A All Other Line 
Items. Approval of this article will increase the FY24 General Fund Operating Budget by $1,013,201 as 
detailed in the following table: 

Department Budget Line Item Line 
# Description of Item A&F  

Recommendation 
Sub-Committee A     

Town Manager Personal Services 3 Salaries - COPC Support  $              25,000  

Town Manager Personal Services 3 Salaries - Stipend Quality 
Council  $                3,000  

Town Manager All Other 
Expenses 4 Implement Climate Action Plan  $              20,000  

Town Clerk Personal Services 7 Salaries    $                2,250  

Town Clerk All Other 
Expenses 8 Program Annual Cost & 

Printing  $              16,000  
Town Clerk Dept Equipment 9 Equipment Lease  $              11,700  
Elections & Town Meeting Personal Services 10 Salaries  $                2,025  

Elections & Town Meeting 
All Other 
Expenses 11 Technical Assistance  $                   600  

Elections & Town Meeting Dept Equipment 12 Equip Rental & Purchase  $                6,000  

Inspectional Services All Other 
Expenses 11 Technical 

Services/Enforcement  $            125,000  
Fixed Costs - Member 
Benefits 

All Other 
Expenses 15 Member Benefits - Dispatchers  $              (8,889) 

   Total Sub-Committee A  $            202,686  
Sub-Committee B         

Information Technology All Other 
Expenses 20 Open Gov Annual Maintenance  $              86,097  

Finance  Personal Services 17 OT Charter Committee Support  $                8,834  

Finance  All Other 
Expenses 18 Reduction to Maint. Costs for 

Procurement  $              (5,416) 

31



Fixed Costs - Member 
Insurance 

All Other 
Expenses 28 Member Insurance - 

Dispatchers  $          (231,846) 
   Total Sub-Committee B  $          (142,331) 

Sub-Committee C    
 

Police Personal Services 32 Salaries - Dispatchers  $          (612,971) 

Police All Other 
Expenses 33 Contractual Costs - Dispatchers  $            612,971  

Police All Other 
Expenses 33 Contractual Costs - Dispatchers  $            231,846  

Police All Other 
Expenses 33 Contractual Costs - Dispatchers  $                8,889  

      Total Sub-Committee C  $            240,735  
Sub-Committee D     

DPW - Parks All Other 
Expenses 45 Specialized Graffiti Removal  $              10,000  

Fixed Costs - Snow & Ice All Other 
Expenses 48 Increase Snow & Ice  $            660,777  

   Total Sub-Committee D  $            670,777  
Sub-Committee E     

Community Resources  Personal Services 55 Library Salaries  $              41,334  

Planning & Development All Other 
Expenses 64 Consulting Services  $              25,000  

   Total Sub-Committee E  $              66,334  
     

Total Article 2A Supplemental Budget Recommendation to Town Meeting  $         1,038,201  
 
 

32



8/11/2023 

________________________________________________________________________________ 

To:  Select Board 

  Advisory and Finance Committee 

From:  Derek S. Brindisi, Town Manager 

Subject: 2024 Wage Line-Item Adjustments- 

Date:  August 11, 2023 

________________________________________________________________________ 

 

I respectfully request an amendment to the Town Manager’s Wages Line item to 

adjust for two personnel additional initiatives that will enhance and provide for an 

increased level of service for not only our Boards and Committees but directly to the 

residents of this community by utilizing process improvement strategies.  

Community Preservation Committee/Community of Precinct Chairs 

 During the past twelve months I have had the opportunity to better understand the 

needs of two major committees in town government: the Community Preservation 

Committee and the Committee of Precinct Chairs. These two major committees have 

historically gone without professional staff support unlike other boards/committees e.g. 

Planning Board, ZBA, Conservation Committee, Board of Health, (just to name a few), 

who utilize the technical expertise of staff in various ways. 

It is my intention to add one full time administrative assistant that will support 

both CPC and COPC at approximately 20 hours per week each. The duties of this 

proposed position for CPC will consist of interfacing with the procurement office, town 

counsel, finance department, department of environmental affairs, historical commission 

and then providing administrative support such as agenda management, meeting minutes 

and working with the Community Preservation Coalition. The other 20 hours per week 

will provide support to the COPC with agenda management, meeting minutes, article 

monthly reports and liaising with various departments at the request of the Chair.  

  The CPC has voted to approve by a majority vote to utilize CPC administrative 

funds to cover the costs of the CPC share, therefore there will need to be a minor 

adjustment to the Town Manager’s budget of $25,000 for the COPC share.  

 

Town of Plymouth 

Town Manager’s Office 
26 Court Street 

Plymouth, Massachusetts 02360 
508-747-1620 

Fax 508-830-4028 

 

33



⚫  Page 2  August 11, 2023 

Quality Council 

The Vision of the Quality Council is to advance the performance of the Town of 

Plymouth’s municipal operations and to be a leading example of excellence and 

innovation in local government. The Quality Council is an organizational performance 

management tool used to track both existing and emerging processes that promote 

excellence in the quality of work and customer service delivered by the Town of 

Plymouth. The Quality Council focuses in on performance management by promoting 

access to training, interdepartmental cooperation, and innovative, data-driven problem 

solving.  

       

The Quality Council is currently comprised of three existing staff members who 

work within different departments of town government represent different and diverse 

service areas. When the Quality Council receives a request for process improvement, the 

team will meet with each respective department to better understand the problem. They 

then take that information to further analyze and conduct research on the matter.  The end 

results in a proposed process improvement recommendation for the department of enact.  

The Quality Council will then return to the department later to provide quality assurance. 

To date, the Quality Council has analyzed and made process improvement 

recommendations for the Harbor Master Office and Treasurer/Collector Office to assist in 

improving upon their respective operations.   

 

Town staff are committed to excellence in all that they do, and the Quality 

Council is the body to assist in ensuring we meet our stated goals. For the work outlined 

above, I am requesting to add an additional $3,000 to the Town Manager’s Budget as a 

$1,000 stipend to each of the three Council members.  

 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

Derek S. Brindisi, Town Manager 

 

 

 

 

 

34



 
MEMORANDUM 

 
 
TO: Lynne Barret, Director of Finance 

FROM: Mark Reil- Climate Resiliency and Sustainability Planner 

CC: Derek Brindisi, Town Manager, Brad Brothers, Assistant Town Manager 

DATE:  AUGUST 8, 2023 

SUBJECT: Developing a Budget for Climate Resilience and Sustainability 

 
The Town of Plymouth has made a conscious effort to prioritize climate resiliency and 
sustainability as we prepare for the hazardous impacts of climate change. In 2021, the Plymouth 
Select Board declared a climate emergency through an official resolution. This action led to the 
creation of the Climate Action Net Zero Advisory Committee and the Climate Resiliency and 
Sustainability Planner position. Over the last year, the Select Board also established specific 
goals that directed the Climate Resiliency and Sustainability Planner to act on. Those goals 
were met and there is a continued effort to expand on those goals.  
 
The Town has invested in the integration of electric vehicles in the Town vehicle fleet adding 
4 Chevrolet Bolt’s and 1 Ford F-150 Lighting. Not only does this integration assist the Town 
in achieving environmental goals, but also provides relief to budgetary constraints. Replacing 
conventional internal combustion vehicles with EV’s eliminates the use of expensive gasoline 
and the need for frequent oil changes. Additionally, the Town has accessed $37,500 in grant 
funds to purchase these vehicles. Furthermore, with more electric vehicles comes a need for 
additional charging infrastructure. The Town has added an additional 4 charging ports to the 
Cornish lot for a total of 6 ports. These ports service both the Town fleet and the public, 
providing an additional public service. The Town funded that project with Mass EVIP PAC 
funds in the amount of $14,578, an Eversource grant in the amount of $19,717, a contribution 
of $9,206 from the Plymouth Growth and Development Corporation, and a $14,758 ARPA 
appropriation. We will continue to maximize the use of State, Federal, and private grant funds 
for the completion of projects that serve both the public and the interest of taxpayers.  
 
The Town achieved Green Community Designation in December 2022 and received a 
designation grant in the amount of $270,000. The Green Communities program directs the 
municipality to meet a 20% energy reduction goal over a 5-year period. Once again this is a 
program that promotes a more sustainable community, while also reducing financial burdens 
both in the short term (funding capital projects), and the long term (reducing energy costs). We 
are fully replacing the HVAC system of the Animal Shelter, retro-commissioning the Town 
Hall HVAC controls, installing new radiator valves at Memorial Hall, installing destratification 

T O W N   O F   P L Y M O U T H 
OFFICE OF THE TOWN MANAGER  
26 COURT STREET, PLYMOUTH, MA  02360 
PHONE: (508) 747-1620 
WWW.PLYMOUTH-MA.GOV 

35



fans in the South Middle School Gym, and improving the weatherization of all those locations 
solely with the funds provided by the Green Communities grant. The Town can leverage a 
$30,000 energy efficiency appropriation for additional projects that can supplement the Green 
Communities grant funds in the future. We know that these funds are essential in meeting our 
prescribed goals and are critical investments in the Town’s long-term financial and 
environmental sustainability.  
 
With the Town updating the website platform, came the ability to communicate more efficiently 
with the public. We established the Town’s first Sustainability Newsletter which was released 
on June 1st and is attached to this memorandum for your review. This Newsletter will be 
released seasonally on June 1, September 1, December 1, and March 1. The Town will use this 
platform to inform the public of the work being done by all Town Departments relative to 
climate resilience and sustainability, as well as provide educational information on how the 
public can be a part of a stronger community in the face of climate change. The newsletter also 
informs the public on relative events happening over that given season. We encourage more 
people to sign up to receive the publication and have partnered with local groups to assist in 
electronic distribution.  
 
As an MVP (Municipal Vulnerability Preparedness) designated community, we are eligible to 
apply for MVP action grants. These grants are designed to assist a community complete projects 
that improve resiliency and preparedness. For the FY24 application, we applied for the 
replacement of the Bartlett Rd. bridge project (a funded capital project) in the amount of $1.9 
million. This project increases the culvert size for storm water flows, includes high ecological 
benefits, and incorporates an educational program developed by Mass Audubon for improving 
social resiliency. We have been notified that we have been awarded the entire $1.9 million 
request (embargoed information). The Town is also currently in the planning stage of an FY25 
project that includes the implementation of green and heat island reducing infrastructure in the 
downtown area. All the work we do must leverage grant funds to be successful. These projects 
exhibit the importance of investing Town funds and the realization of how those funds can be 
largely beneficial to the public wellbeing.  
 
The Town of Plymouth has funded the development of a climate action plan. This plan was 
funded by an allocation of $50,000 from ARPA funds and we are awaiting a response for an 
additional grant amount of $50,000 to supplement the plan. This document is critical in 
informing the community on what is needed to mitigate and adapt to the impacts of climate 
change. It will be the guiding document for many decisions and will identify specific actions 
that we must take not only at the municipal level, but across the community both in the 
residential and commercial sectors. With the completion of the plan on the horizon we will need 
to be positioned to act. I am requesting a budget of $20,000 to assist in the implementation of 
the climate action plan and to further position the Town’s efforts in climate resiliency and 
sustainability. This is a first step towards funding action items that will be prescribed by the 
plan completion. Additionally, the budget will assist us in being prepared for future grant 
applications by providing available funds for consulting and public engagement materials. 
These funds will go a long way in providing a broad public benefit and as time goes on, we can 
expect the need for these funds will increase.  

36



Category
Climate Action Implentation Cost Purpose

Prininting/ Advertising $500
Provides for the printing of informational materials relative to 
climate action engagement 

Engagement Costs $1,000
Covers the cost of implentation engagement/ outreach events, and 
materials such as posters, handouts, necissary equipment and 
supplies to maximize effectiveness

Action funds $5,000
Theses funds will be used to directly assist the Town complete 
prescribed actions from the climate action plan.

Consulting Services Cost Purpose 

Program Development/ MVP Consulting $10,000

Assists with professional input for the development of programs the 
develop social resiliency and other relative climate resilience 
measures as prescribed by our climate action plan. The funds may 
also be utilized to prepare for a competative MVP action grant 
application in spring 24'.

Conference and Travel  Cost Purpose 

Conference Attendance Costs $3,500
This would cover the cost of the MMA conference and the travel 
and registration for the climate leadership conference in spring 24' 

Total Budget Requested $20,000

Proposed Budget Request 
Climate Resiliency and Sustainability Budget FY24

37



TOWN OF PLYMOUTH 
26 Court Street 

Plymouth, Massachusetts 02360 
(508) 747-1620 

www.plymouth-ma.gov 
 

 
 
August 8, 2023 
 
Finance Director 
Town Manager 
Advisory and Finance Committee 
Town of Plymouth 
 
I am respectfully requesting a supplemental budget for the Town Clerk’s office for the Fall 
Town Meeting.  
 
After the Clerk’s budget was submitted for FY2024, additional expenses have been determined 
as not being allocated for.  The items are below: 
 
Wages/Vacation Buyback $  2,250   Dept Head is eligible for this benefit 
Dog Program Annual Cost $  3,000    City Hall Systems Annual fee for FY24  
Printing (Census) $10,000   Cost to print Annual Street list (30k) for mailing  
Printing (Street Lists)  $  3,000   Cost to print Street Lists as required by law 
 
Clerk Equip Lease  $11,700 6-month cost for a 60-month lease of postage  

machine and enveloper opener to replace existing 8-year-old machine.  **Note, 
maintenance costs are included in lease payment.  There will be an $5,416 
savings in Procurement.   

 
Clerk Wage Total:   $  2,250  
Clerk Total:   $27,700 
 
_____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
Election Wages  $1,620  $.75 hourly increase for poll workers (2160 hours) 
Election Wages  $   405  $.75 hourly increase for wardens (540 hours) 
 
Election Equip Purchase $3,000  Replacement of 6 outdated poll pads 
Election Equip Rental $3,000  6-month cost for printer to print addresses on 

Vote by Mail ballots (this will save in Election Wage costs) 
Election Technical Asst $   600   Assistance with reports for Vote by Mail ballots  
 
Election Wage Total:    $ 2,025 
Election Total:   $ 6,600 
 
 
 
 
 38

http://www.plymouth-ma.gov/


 
With the changes taking place in the Clerk’s office, these expenses will assist us with getting 
through the Fiscal Year 2024 and conduct the work of the office.  I look forward to discussing 
this expenditure in further detail.   
 
Thank you, 
 

 
Kelly A McElreath, Town Clerk  

39



 

 

MEMORANDUM 
 
 
TO:  Lynne Barrette 
 
FROM:  Nicholas Mayo, Building Commissioner 
 
DATE:  July 31, 2023 
 
RE:  FY 24 Budget Adjustment 
 
Hi Lynn, 
 

 With the proposal of a new blight/nuisance bylaw this fall, Inspectional 
Services will be seeking a budget adjustment of a $125,000 increase to the 
Technical Services line-item object #530004. This is to manage the budgetary 
impacts of future enforcement of the upcoming bylaw should it pass at fall 
town meeting.      

 
Thank You 
 
Nick Mayo 
Director of Inspectional Services 
 
 
 

Town of Plymouth 
Department of Inspectional Services 

26 Court Street 
Plymouth, Massachusetts 02360 

508-747-1620 
Fax 508-830-4028 

 

40



 

 
TO:   SELECT BOARD 
  ADVISORY & FINANCE 
  TOWN MEETING 
 
FROM:  LYNNE A. BARRETT  
  DIRECTOR OF FINANCE  
 
SUBJECT: SUPPLEMENTAL BUDGET REQUEST FOR DISPATCH WITH COUNTY FROM 

BENEFITS   
 
DATE:   AUGUST 7, 2023 
 
CC:  DANA FLYNN, CHIEF OF POLICE 
 
 
Due to the Town partnering with Plymouth County for Dispatch services 
beginning July 1, 2023, there are many current line items in the budget that 
supported the previous Town sponsored dispatch service. You will see a request 
from the Police Chief to transfer the salary line items pertaining to dispatch from 
the “personal services” line to the “all other expenses” within the Police 
Department budget to pay for the contractual cost with the County. 
 
This request is to transfer the fringe benefits and payroll costs associated with 
Dispatch from Member Insurance, $231,846, and Member Benefits, $8,889, to 
the “all other expenses” in the Police department budget to complete the annual 
contractual cost of the County Dispatch service. 
 
The net effect of all these transfers is zero but need to be in the correct line of the 
budget where the service is paid from. 
 
Thank you for your support in this transfer request in Article 2A of the Fall Annual 
Town Meeting. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

TOWN OF PLYMOUTH 
FINANCE DEPARTMENT 

26 COURT STREET, PLYMOUTH, MA  02360 
PHONE (508) 747-1620 EXTENSION 10177 

 

41



 

To: Lynne Barrett, Director of Finance     Date: July 24, 2023 
 
From:   Joseph Young, Information Technology Dir 
 
Subject: FY 2024 Budget Amendment 
 
I would like to request a $86,097 budget increase for FY 2024 IT, Repair & Maintenance of 
Equipment (00101556-524301). During the budget process, I neglected to account for the 
annual maintenance cost for Open Gov, the online permitting software used by various 
department throughout town. The Open Gov implementation was handled by Inspectional 
Services, they were responsible for all invoicing and payments. I was planning to take on the 
annual maintenance payments starting in FY 2025. Inspectional Services planned on a FY 
2024 transition of responsibilities. Neither of us have the requested amount in our budget for 
FY 2024. My apologies for this oversight, this amount will be added in future IT budget 
requests. 
 

TOWN OF PLYMOUTH 
Information Technology  

26 Court Street 
Plymouth, Massachusetts 02360 

 

 

42



 

 
TO:   SELECT BOARD 
  ADVISORY & FINANCE 
  TOWN MEETING 
 
FROM:  LYNNE A. BARRETT  
  DIRECTOR OF FINANCE  
 
SUBJECT: SUPPLEMENTAL BUDGET REQUEST FOR OVERTIME FOR FINANCE 

DEPARTMENT EMPLOYEE SUPPORTING THE CHARTER COMMITTEE 
 
DATE:   AUGUST 7, 2023 
 
CC:  SANDRA STRASSEL, PROCUREMENT OFFICER 
 
 
There is a Finance Department employee in the Procurement Division supporting 
the Charter Committee with meetings and administrative support. There is no 
budget for the Charter Committee, therefore, we are requesting an increase to 
the overtime budget of $8,834 to accommodate this support. 
 
Thank your for your support of this supplemental request in Art 2A of the Fall 
Annual Town Meeting. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

TOWN OF PLYMOUTH 
FINANCE DEPARTMENT 

26 COURT STREET, PLYMOUTH, MA  02360 
PHONE (508) 747-1620 EXTENSION 10177 

 

43



     Memo 
To: Lynne Barrett, Director of Finance 

From: Dana Flynn, Chief of Police 

CC:        Brad Brothers, Assistant Town Manager 

Date: 7/10/23 

Re: Fall ATM - FY24 Budget Amendment 

On 6/30/23 E911 Police, Fire, and EMS Dispatch Opera�ons were transferred to the Plymouth 
County Sheriff’s Department (PCSD) and the Plymouth Police Dispatch union dissolved. 

I am reques�ng a transfer of $612,971.00 from my FY24 salary and benefit budget, which was 
delegated for the 9 former police department dispatchers, to my FY24 opera�ng budget to cover 
the first year’s contractual commitment to the PCSD.   

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

Plymouth Police Department 

 

44



45



46



47



 

 
TO:   SELECT BOARD 
  ADVISORY & FINANCE 
  TOWN MEETING 
 
FROM:  LYNNE A. BARRETT  
  DIRECTOR OF FINANCE  
 
SUBJECT: SUPPLEMENTAL BUDGET REQUEST FOR SNOW & ICE BUDGET   
 
DATE:   AUGUST 7, 2023 
 
CC:  SHIELA SGARZI, ACTING DPW DIRECTOR 
  TIM BALBONI, HIGHWAY SUPERINTENDENT 
 
 
For many years now the Town has consistently been increasing the annual snow 
& ice budget by $25,000 to eventually get the budget to an annual amount that 
represents an average annual cost.  At the same time, we budget an annual 
amount that we estimate is going to be the snow & ice deficit that will be raised 
on the recap the following year, as provided by Mass General Law below.  
 
MGL Chapter 44 Section 31D: 

Any city or town may incur liability and make expenditures in any fiscal year in excess of 
available appropriations for snow and ice removal, provided that such expenditures are 
approved by the chief administrative officer; provided, however, that the appropriation for 
such purposes in said fiscal year equaled or exceeded the appropriation for said purposes 
in the prior fiscal year. Expenditures made under authority of this section shall be certified 
to the board of assessors and included in the next annual tax rate. 

Every city or town shall annually, not later than September fifteenth, report to the division 
of local services of the department of revenue the total amounts appropriated and 
expended, including any funding or reimbursements received from the commonwealth, for 
snow and ice removal in the fiscal year ending on the preceding June thirtieth. 

In essence we are budgeting on an annual basis the average annual cost but 
paying for it out of two years tax rates.  
 
This past year we did not incur a deficit with the help of a small end of year 
reserve fund transfer from the A & F. Because of this, I feel that this is a good 
time to bump up the snow & ice budget to the 10-year average annual amount. 
As I said earlier, an estimated deficit had already been included in the annual 
budget presented to Town meeting in the spring, within the sources & uses 

TOWN OF PLYMOUTH 
FINANCE DEPARTMENT 

26 COURT STREET, PLYMOUTH, MA  02360 
PHONE (508) 747-1620 EXTENSION 10177 

 

48



document, page 13 of the FY2024 General Government Proposed Operating 
Budget Book. 
 
My recommendation is to increase the snow & ice budget by this amount, 
$660,777, allowing the Fiscal 2024 snow & ice budget to be $1,366,415, quite 
close to the 10-year annual average expenditure of $1,362,801 seen below in the 
historical analysis. I used the last 10-year average to capture current costs as 
much as possible. You will also notice that prior to the 10 years there were at 
least 3 times we spent more than the $1.3 average and there have been two 
years in the last 19 years where we have not spent the full annual budget. 
 
 

 
 
I appreciate your consideration in increasing the snow & ice budget under Article 
2A of the Fall Annual Town Meeting. 
 
 
 
 
 

Fiscal Year Original 
Appropriation

Supplemental 
Appropriations 

& Transfers 

Expenditures & 
Encumbrances 

State 
Reimbursement 

Received

Federal 
Reimbursement 

Received 

Deficits 
Reported on 

Balance Sheet 
as of June 30

2004 283,807.00        -                         791,403.63          130,052.49            -                          (377,544.14)          
2005 283,807.00        63,433.00            1,879,241.39       -                          222,437.79            (1,309,563.60)       
2006 283,807.00        -                         894,041.53          -                          -                          (610,234.53)          
2007 290,491.88        -                         531,445.13          -                          -                          (240,953.25)          
2008 326,527.00        -                         1,103,513.43       -                          -                          (776,986.43)          
2009 359,180.00        -                         1,621,056.12       -                          -                          (1,261,876.12)       
2010 360,000.00        16,997.14            851,997.14          -                          -                          (475,000.00)          
2011 385,000.00        225,049.00          1,439,444.17       -                          -                          (829,395.17)          
2012 410,000.00        -                         390,435.55          -                          -                          19,564.45              
2013 435,000.00        1,142,315.18       (707,315.18)          
2014 460,000.00        115,000.00          1,505,433.32       (930,433.32)          
2015 485,000.00        719,768.00          2,904,313.66       (1,699,545.66)       
2016 510,000.00        42,664.53            1,394,733.05       22,702.52              (819,366.00)          
2017 535,000.00        1,168,161.95       241,958.99            (391,202.96)          
2018 560,000.00        108,220.00          1,304,873.16       (636,653.16)          
2019 579,250.00        133,500.00          1,017,623.41       (304,873.41)          
2020 604,250.00        438,647.32          165,602.68           
2021 604,250.00        75,635.00            1,203,610.46       (523,725.46)          
2022 629,250.00        73,800.00            1,548,298.15       (845,248.15)          
2023 680,638.00        22,755.87            703,393.87          -                          

Budgeted 
Deficit for 
10 Years 
(2013 to 

2022) 540,200.00  1,362,800.97 (669,276.06)    

49



Date: 28 July 2023
To: Lynne Barrett, Director of Finance
From: Kelsey Casey, Director of Library Services
RE: FY 24 Adjusted Budget

Dear Lynne,

We are requesting an additional $41,334 be added to the Library’s salaries and wages line
511001 for FY24.

The changes to Munis caused us significant problems when we were inputting our FY24
budget and our progress was erased multiple times. One of our LIB1 Library Technicians
was excluded from the salary and wages line, but they were included in our longevity line
which shows our clear intention that the position would be included in the FY24 budget.

We request an adjusted budget to help right this clerical error.

Thank you.

Sincerely,
Kelsey Casey
Library Director
Plymouth Public Library
508-830-4250 x215

132 South Street ◼ Plymouth, MA 02360 ◼ (508) 830-4250 ◼ Fax: (508) 830-4258
50



Memo 
To:  Advisory & Finance Committee 
  Select Board 

Derek Brindisi, Town Manager 
From:  Lee Hartmann, Dir. Planning & Development 
Date:  July 5, 2023 
Re:  FY 2024 Budget Amendment  
 

Previously the Department of Planning & Development had a yearly consulting line item of 
between $10,000 and $30,000.  Unfortunately, in 2010, due to budget constraints that line item 
was eliminated.  The Department is seeking to re-establish the line item in the amount of 
$25,000.  These funds will be used across all divisions of the Department of Planning and 
Development.  Example projects include: 

• Historic District Expansion Study (currently underway) 
• Housing Production Plan Update (update requited January 2024) 
• Open Space & Recreation Plan (update required in 2025) 
• Places Nominations National Register of Historic 
• Sustainable Development Initiatives 
• Net Zero Climate Change initiatives  
• Master and Village Center Plan Updates 
• Streamline Permitting options 
• Appraisals for potential (non-CPC) property acquisitions  
• Professional Services for drafting technical sections of various bylaws and regulations 

 
 
Thank you. 

Planning & Development 

51



52



ARTICLE 2B: 
 
 
ARTICLE 2B: Supplemental Budget – Enterprise Fund 
To see if the Town will vote to amend the votes taken under Article 7B, 7C, 7D, and 7E of the 2023 
Spring Annual Town Meeting warrant, and, as necessary, to raise and appropriate, transfer from available 
funds, or borrow funds for the purpose of supplementing enterprise departmental expenses, and/or to 
reduce certain departmental expenses or otherwise amend said vote, or take any other action relative 
thereto.   
SELECT BOARD  
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval $656,000 Unanimous (13-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 2B. Approval of this 
article will increase the FY24 Enterprise Fund Operating Budget by $656,000 as detailed in the following 
table: 

Department Original 
Article Budget Line Item Line 

# Description  A&F 
Recommendation  

Sub-Committee G           
Water 7B Other Expenditures 72 Purchase of Chemicals $100,000  
Sewer 7C Other Expenditures 76 Increase in Utilities $100,000  
Sewer 7C Other Expenditures 76 Purchase of Chemicals $156,000  
Sewer 7C Other Expenditures 76 Disposal of Biosolids $100,000  
Sewer 7C Other Expenditures 76 Monitoring Equip Rental $200,000  
Total Article 2B Supplemental Enterprise Budget Recommendation to Town Meeting $656,000  

 

53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



ARTICLE 4: 
 
ARTICLE 4: Capital Recommendations 
To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate, transfer from available funds or borrow a sum of 
money for the construction and/or repair and/or purchase and/or lease and/or replacement of departmental 
buildings and/or equipment and/or capital facilities for various departments of the Town and/or for 
feasibility and other types of studies, and to authorize contracts or lease/purchase agreements for such 
purposes for terms of three or more years, as follows:   
 

ITEM DEPARTMENT PROJECT DESCRIPTION 
A1 Town Manager Downtown Corridor Heat Island Mitigation & Beautification 
A2 IT Security Camera Upgrades 
A3 Fire Replace & Equip Pumping Engine 5 
A4 Harbor Master Town Wharf Extension 
A5 DPW - Admin Administration Building Schematic Design & Appraisal 
A6 DMEA Engineering & Permitting for Rehab of Store Pond 
A7 DMEA Herring Ponds Management Plan Implementation 
A8 DMEA Savery Pond Groundwater Flow Model 
A9 DMEA Design of Dark Orchard All Persons Trail 

A10 DPW - Sewer CMOM Program 
A11 DPW - Sewer Infrastructure Improvements 
A12 DPW - Water Infrastructure Improvements 

or take any other action relative thereto. 
SELECT BOARD  
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval $2,764,849 Unanimous (13-0-0)  
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 4 Capital 
appropriations as listed in the table below:   
 

ITEM PROJECT DESCRIPTION 
 

APPROPRIATION  

A1 
Downtown Corridor Heat Island Mitigation & 
Beautification  $            63,200.00  

A2 Security Camera Upgrades  $            58,550.00  
A3 Replace & Equip Pumping Engine 5  $          925,596.00  
A4 Town Wharf Extension  $          664,500.00  
A5 Administration Building Schematic Design & Appraisal  $            25,000.00  
A6 Engineering & Permitting for Rehab of Store Pond  $          246,300.00  
A7 Herring Ponds Management Plan Implementation  $            32,800.00  
A8 Savery Pond Groundwater Flow Model  $            32,800.00  
A9 Design of Dark Orchard All Persons Trail  $            16,103.00  

A10 CMOM Program  $          500,000.00  
A11 Infrastructure Improvements  $          100,000.00  
A12 Infrastructure Improvements  $          100,000.00  

  TOTAL FOR ARTICLE 4 ITEMS  $       2,764,849.00  

61



 

62



TOWN OF PLYMOUTH CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN REQUEST 
FY24 FALL ANNUAL TOWN MEETING 

Department: Office of the Town Manager Priority #: 

Downtown Corridor Heat Island Mitigation and Beautification 
Project Title and Description: 

Total 
Project Cost: $126,400 

Department/Division Head: 

Check if project is: New Resubmitted Cost estimate was developed: Internally Externally 

For project re-submittals, list prior year(s): 

List any funding sources and amounts already granted: $63,200 (not yet granted from Environmental Affairs Fund)

_ 

Plan and future 
ted amounts. 

Project Justification and Objective: 
 

  The objective of this project is to design a project for the main st. ext. parking lot/ Main St./ Court St. to Samoset corridor. This project will redesign this corridor

 to incorporate green and heat island reducing infrastructure while also promoting the beautification of the corridor. This will likely prescribe a multi years phased approach that will also leverage grant funding.  

For Capital Project Requests: 
Will this project be phased over more than one fiscal year? If yes, enter it on the 5 Year Plan Yes No 
Can this project be phased over more than one fiscal year? Yes No 

For Capital Equipment Requests: 
Check if equipment requested is replacement and enter the year, make & model, VIN and present condition of existing equipment 

What is the expected lifespan of this new/replacement equipment:    

Attach backup information, estimates, or justification to support this request. 

■ 

■ 

Derek Brindisi 

Basis of Estimated Costs (attach additional information if 
available) 

  

Capital: Cost Comments 
Fiscal 
Year: Capital 

Operations & 
Maintenance 

Planning and Design $126,400 FY23 

Labor and Materials FY24 

Administration FY25 

Land Acquisition FY26 

Equipment FY27 

Other 

Contingency 

Total Capital $126,400 

63



 
 

T O W N O F P L Y M O U T H 
OFFICE OF THE TOWN MANAGER 
26 COURT STREET, PLYMOUTH, MA 02360 
PHONE: (508) 747-1620 
WWW.PLYMOUTH-MA.GOV 

 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 
 

 

TO: Capital Improvements Committee, Advisory and Finance, Select Board 
CC: Derek Brindisi- Town Manager, 

Brad Brothers- Assistant Town Manager, 
Lynne Barrett- Director of Finance 

FROM: Mark Reil- Climate Resiliency and Sustainability Planner 
DATE:   8/9/23 
SUBJECT: Downtown Resiliency Project Design- Green and Heat Island Reduction Infrastructure 

 
 

 

Over the last few months, we have been working internally with the DPW, the Town Manager, 
and DMEA to discuss concepts relating to a resiliency project. This project is focused in the 
Downtown area, specifically from the Main Street Extension parking lot, up Main Street, and 
from the southern end of Court Street to the Samoset Street intersection. This area has been 
identified as an urban heat island in our Municipal Vulnerability Preparedness (MVP) report 
that was produced in 2020. The plan specifically identified mitigating stormwater runoff and 
heat islands as a resiliency action, and we must work to address those identified actions to meet 
our obligations to our residents. 

 
In our discussions, we have identified a variety of issues this project would address not only 
environmentally, but also economically, and socially. This project is likely to be complex and 
requires investigation and design by qualified professionals to produce actionable and practical 
solutions. We have engaged with GPI, who have provided a comprehensive scope and fee for 
their services totaling an estimated cost of $126,400. We are seeking funding for half of this 
amount through the environmental affairs fund and the remainder from capital funds. The 
project that is designed will presumably need to be completed in a phased approach and it is 
our intention to apply for up to $3 million in FY25 MVP action grant funds in addition to 
leveraging other available grants. 

 
We recognize that this project has a multitude of benefits beyond the environmental aspects. 
This project would provide beautification to the Downtown business district and enhance the 
historic character of this highly popular area. Additionally, we will have an opportunity to 
improve ADA accessibility and will aim to promote a safer, walkable location and that provides 
for a more comfortable experience in the Downtown. 

 
Attached to this memo you will find the detailed scope and fee provided by GPI along with 
conceptual documents that show how we have been developing this idea. Please note that our 
conceptual ideas are subject to change as design and investigation take place. 

 
 
 

Page 1 of 1 64

http://www.plymouth-ma.gov/


Scope of Services 
Court Street/Main Street – Green Infrastructure Study 

Plymouth, MA 

 

Figure 1. Project limits shown in dashed yellow. 
 

The following scope of services is for the planning and development of implementable concepts for 
climate change resilience following the principles of the Core Principles of the Municipal Vulnerability 
Preparedness (MVP) Program for the following locations: 1) A 3,000-foot portion of Court Street and 
Main Street, and 2) the entirety of the Main Street Extension public parking lot within the limits shown 
in Figure 1. 

 
Task 1.0 Data Collection & Analysis 

Subtask 1.1: Record Files Research for Project Area 

GPI will coordinate with the Town of Plymouth to research and obtain available plans and mapping of 
Court Street, Main Street, and Main Street Extension for use in developing a project base map. These 
may consist of municipal and/or private projects (electronic or paper plans) detailing previous projects 
along the project corridor. 

 
Deliverables: Summary of record files search. 

Subtask 1.2: Base Map Development 

GPI will combine information found under Subtask 1.1 with available GIS, aerial imagery and LIDAR data 
in order to create a project base map that is suitable for conceptual planning study. 

Deliverables: 1”=20’ Base Map 

Subtask 1.3: Review of Grant Requirements and Applicability 

The Town of Plymouth anticipates submitting the project for a Municipal Vulnerability Preparedness 
(MVP) Action Grant. GPI will coordinate with the Town Staff to review the grant requirements – 
including the town’s own MVP municipal goals and objectives then aligning those principles to the MVP 

65



grant program as outlined in the 10 MVP core principles - This would include consultation with the town 
on the matters of equity and opportunity in accordance with MVP mapped demographic areas. 

 
Deliverables: Summary of grant requirements and list of potential improvements. 

Subtask 1.4: Corridor Analysis 

GPI will conduct an on-location review of the project corridor to make observations and collect data 
relevant to the study. Tasks will likely include the following efforts: 

 Measurements and photos as needed to confirm important features (steps, ramps, sidewalk 
widths, etc.) 

 Site analysis for overall features such as: (circulation patterns, drainage sheds, solar aspect, 
wind, etc.) 

 Site analysis for features specific to determine applicable elements of the project area that have 
physical or infrastructure feasible elements that can be incorporated into design that will be 
eligible for MVP criteria and grant funding. 

 Photographs of project limits and relevant surroundings. 
 

Deliverables: Summary of data collection including written inventory and photo log. 
 

Task 2.0 Conceptual Alternative Development 

GPI will work with Town Staff to develop a design concept that fits the context and aesthetics of the 
downtown area, and incorporates priority climate adaptation actions, consistent with the goals of the 
Action Grant. 

Subtask 2.1 Conceptual Prototypes 

Utilizing the base survey, GPI will break up the elements of the site design into approximately 8-12 
miniaturized investigations and develop design concepts for key areas with plan, section, and concept. 
The objective is to develop sketches to address the following goals: 

• Identify potential heat island reduction techniques including shade tree plantings, shade 
structures, green roofs/walls, cooler streets and pavement types (i.e. pavement colors, green 
infrastructure, etc.), 

• Maintain vehicle circulation, parking, and deliveries, 
• Integrate traffic calming measures, 
• Improve pedestrian circulation and accessibility, 
• Incorporate stormwater management through green infrastructure or nature-based practices, 
• Locate electric vehicle charging stations, 
• Identify potential lighting upgrade locations 
• Identify community gathering and education opportunities. 

The design protypes will minimize impacts to private property, existing trees, and resource areas as 
feasible. Alternatives will be submitted to the Town for review and comment. 

Deliverables: Initial concept studies, revised studies, consolidated preferred components. 

66



Subtask 2.2 Client Coordination & Meetings 

Provide virtual or in-person coordination services. GPI will coordinate with Town Staff to facilitate the 
review and refinement of the conceptual prototypes and to provide an orderly exploration of design 
considerations that facilitates a decision-making process to reach a preferred design concept. 

Deliverables: Client coordination and reviews per assumed hours (virtual or in-person). 
 

Subtask 2.3: Concept Alternatives 

The project team will take each of the conceptual protypes developed in Subtask 2.1 with feedback from 
Subtask 2.2 and will develop up to three conceptual alternatives. GPI will work with the town to select a 
preferred concept which may consist of one of the options or a combination of options. 

Deliverables: Three conceptual alternatives & selection of a preferred option. 

Task 3.0 - Preferred Overall Schematic Design 

Subtask 3.1: General Plan Development 

Building on the previous tasks, the preferred concept will be assembled into a final schematic design 
plan. Initial AutoCAD line work will be developed for the following areas in representing conditions that 
we anticipate - but would be the result of the working process. The plan will consist of but not be limited 
to the following: 

o Pedestrian environment improvements, 
o Roadway environment improvements, 
o Parking modifications, 
o Traffic calming measures, 
o Planting and shade canopy framework, 
o Surface drainage & green infrastructure improvements, 
o Lighting upgrades, 
o Drainage and utility modifications, 
o Public engagement and/or artwork, 
o Historic preservation/treatment of special elements. 

An overall plan will be developed with all of these components and perhaps others, which may be 
identified through the planning process.  The draft plan will be a black and white representation in line 
work of all of the elements to be included. This plan will be completed and conveyed to the town staff 
for general review. Once the review of the project components has been completed in the context of 
the entire plan, a colored illustrative version of the plan will be prepared for public presentation. 

Deliverables: Black and white schematic draft plan, color final schematic plan. 

Subtask 3.2: Enlarged Views and 3D Visualizations 

Based upon the overall illustrative site plan, distinct areas will be identified for elaboration with sketches 
or constructed perspectives and other detailed drawings. We assume that there will be four to five areas 
that will require these illustrations to show multiple elements and the surrounding areas. These will be 

67



developed as a series of design sketches and precedent images for key elements of the design including 
traffic calming measures, tree plantings, green infrastructure, community gathering, etc. 

• Selected Enlarged Scale Plans: These studies will explore the quantitative and detail aspects, 
including: 

o Rendered plan areas with supporting details 
o Cross-sections 

• Selected Visualizations: These studies will explore the various visual qualities and styles of the 
design and develop potential themes or motifs, including: 

o 2D & 3D sketches 
o Precedent images 

Deliverables: Cross sections, 2D enlarged details & 3D images. 

Subtask 3.3 Probable Estimate of Cost 

An initial construction cost estimate will be developed for the overall project and the new elements to 
be included as defined by the overall plan. The estimate will be based upon cost experience from 
comparable projects as well as providing prevailing costs in the marketplace. An excel spreadsheet will 
be developed with unit prices and quantities subtotaling to different components of the plan by 
specification divisions. 

Deliverables: Order of magnitude cost broken down by project components. 
 
 

SCOPE EXCLUSIONS 

The following items are excluded from the scope of services: 

 Topographic or boundary survey. 
 Resource delineation or environmental permitting. 
 Final design services. 
 Public engagement workshops/charrettes 

68



 

 
Design Fee Estimate 

 
 

PHASES Project 
Director 

Project 
Manager 

Project 
Eng/LA 

 
Engineer 

 
Designer 

Assistant 
Designer 

 Task 
Budget 

Hourly Rate for each employee x 3.0 $ 240.00 $ 210.00 $ 165.00 $ 135.00 $ 115.00 $ 100.00   
Task 1.0 - Data Collection & Analysis         
1.1 Record Files Research for Project Area 2 8 12     $ 4,140.00 
1.2 Base Map Development 4  16  40   $ 8,200.00 
1.3 Review of Grant Requirements and Applicability 12 24 8     $ 9,240.00 
1.4 Corridor Analysis 2 24 24     $ 9,480.00 

Subtotal Hours 20 56 60  40   176 
Subtotal Costs $ 4,800.00 $ 11,760.00 $ 9,900.00 $ - $ 4,600.00 $ -  $ 31,060.00 

Task 2.0 - Conceptual Alternative Development         
2.1 Conceptual Prototypes 8 24 80 24    $ 23,400.00 
2.2 Client Coordination & Meetings 16 16 8     $ 8,520.00 
2.3 Concept Alternatives 4 12 24 40 60   $ 19,740.00 

Subtotal Hours 28 52 112 64 60   316 
Subtotal Costs $ 6,720.00 $ 10,920.00 $ 18,480.00 $ 8,640.00 $ 6,900.00 $ -  $ 51,660.00 

Task 3.0 - Preferred Overall Schematic Design         
3.1 General Plan Development 2 24   80   $ 14,720.00 
3.2 Enlarged Views and 3D Visualizations 2 12  120    $ 19,200.00 
3.3 Probable Estimate of Cost 2 8 40     $ 8,760.00 

Subtotal Hours 6 44 40 120 80   290 
Subtotal Costs $ 1,440.00 $ 9,240.00 $ 6,600.00 $ 16,200.00 $ 9,200.00 $ -  $ 42,680.00 

TOTAL HOURS 54 152 212 184 180   782 

TOTAL COST OF LABOR $ 12,960.00 $ 31,920.00 $ 34,980.00 $ 24,840.00 $ 20,700.00 $ -  $ 125,400.00 

Expenses and Subconsultant Services         
Mileage, printing, and miscellaneous expenses        $ 1,000.00 
(10 trips @ 120 miles round trip @ .655)        $ - 

        $ - 

        $ - 

        $ - 
Expenses Subtotal $ -       $ 1,000.00 

TOTAL PROJECT        $ 126,400.00 

Project:  Green Infrastructure Study   Proj. #:  NEX-2300129.00 
Location:  Court Street / Main Street   Date:  8/1/2023   

Town, State:  Plymouth, MA   Prepared By:  RH   
 

69



 
 
 

FY25 MVP 
PROPOSAL 

DELIVERING  RESILIENCY 
to 

Downtown Plymouth 
 
 
 
 
 

 PROJECT ELEMENTS  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

STORM WATER MANAGEMENT IMPROVEMENTS 

Implement Green 
Infrastructure 
Reduce Impervious 
Surfaces 
Increased Green Space 
Pervious Brick Sidewalks 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

IMPROVED PUBLIC SAFETY 

Tree Planted Bump Outs 
Traffic Calming 

Drop Off Zones 
Improve Pedestrian Safety 

4 

1 
HEAT ISLAND EFFECT 

Tree Plantings 
Increased green space 
Solar Carport Installation in parking lots 

5 
EDUCATION AND PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT 

Build Social Resiliency 
Partner with Community 
organization for educational 
program 
Obtain project input and buy in 
from public 

HISTORIC CHARACTER ADVANCEMENTS 

3 Pervious Brick Side 
Walks 
Bench Placement 
Lighting Upgrades 
Landscaping 

2 

70



71



72



73



74



75



76



77



TOWN OF PLYMOUTH CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN REQUEST
FY2 TOWN MEETING

Department: Priority #:

Project Title and Description:
Total 

Project Cost:

Department/Division Head:

Check if project is: New Resubmitted Cost estimate was developed:  Internally Externally 

For project re-submittals, list prior year(s):

List any funding sources and amounts already granted: _________________________________________________________  
_________________________________________________________________________________________________________
_________________________________________________________________________________________________________

Basis of Estimated Costs (attach additional information if 
available)

If project has impact on 5 Year Plan and future 
operating budgets, insert estimated amounts.

Capital: Cost Comments
Fiscal 
Year: Capital

Operations &
Maintenance

Planning and Design FY23

Labor and Materials FY24

Administration FY25

Land Acquisition FY26

Equipment FY27

Other

Contingency

Total Capital

Project Justification and Objective:  ___________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________________________________

For Capital Project Requests:
Will this project be phased over more than one fiscal year? If yes, enter it on the 5 Year Plan Yes No 
Can this project be phased over more than one fiscal year? Yes No 

For Capital Equipment Requests:
Check if equipment requested is replacement and enter the year, make & model, VIN and present condition of existing equipment 

What is the expected lifespan of this new/replacement equipment: ________________________________________________

Attach backup information, estimates, or justification to support this request.

Fire Department 1

Replace and Equip Pumping Engine 5 $925,596.00

Neil. J. Foley

$994,818.63

$925,596.00

This request aligns with the Department's Apparatus replacement practices, published national standards, and the 2023

Fire Department and EMS Analysis report recommendations that state fire apparatus should not exceed 15 years front line service. See memo for additional supporting information.

2008 E-One, Typhoon 1250 GPM Pumping Engine VIN# 4ENRAAA8481003908 Condition: Poor

10 - 15 Years Front line possibly additional 5+ Years in Reserve

■

■

78



                     

Date:  August 1, 2023 

 

To: Select Board 

 Advisory and Finance Committee 

 Capital Improvement Committee 

 

Cc: Lynne Barrett, Finance Director 

Derek Brindisi, Town Manager 

Brad Brothers, Asst. Town Manager  

 

From: Neil Foley, Chief of Department  

 

Re: Fire Department Request to Replace and Equip 2008 Pumping Engine $925,596.00 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

This Fall Town Meeting, the Department requests $925,596.00 to replace Engine 5, a 

2008 Pumping Engine purchased at the same time as Engine 2, which was funded for 

replacement last Fall. Engine 5 is an E-One Typhoon Pumping Engine equipped with a 750-

gallon water tank, a 30-gallon foam tank, and a 1,250-gallon per minute fire pump. This 

Apparatus has over 91,000 odometer miles and 8,539 engine hours, equivalent to 358,638 road 

miles. Massachusetts Registration MF 215A.   

 

Engine 5 has been in our Capital Plan for replacement this next spring. I am asking to 

move it to the October Town Meeting for two reasons. The first is due to a significant redesign 

of one of the two most popular diesel engines used in fire apparatus, causing a potential 

shortage of availability; thankfully, we do not use that engine in our specifications. As a result, 

an opportunity may become available for Plymouth to "Jump the Line" and take delivery of the 

new Engine 5 in 18 months. This would be significant for the Department operationally, 

considering the current built time estimate of 24 to 30 months. The second benefit to moving 

this capital purchase to this Fall is cost. Before the pandemic, fire apparatus typically saw an 

average annual increase of 4 %. In the last several years, the industry is experiencing a 9 to 11% 

increase. By locking in the order this Fall, we can avoid subsequent price increases, potentially 

saving over $70,000.00 if projections remain consistent.   

 

This new pumping engine will be equipped with all current safety devices and meet all 

NFPA Standards. Updates will increase the safety of firefighters and the public we serve. 

Additional benefits with a new Engine 5 will be a decreased turning radius increasing Engine 

5's maneuverability on the narrow dirt roads in the Manomet Village area. The New Engine will 

Town of Plymouth 

Fire Department 
114 Sandwich Street 

Plymouth, Massachusetts 02360 
508-830-4213 

Fax 508-830-4174 

 

79



⚫  Page 2  August 15, 2023 

carry an additional 250 gallons of tank water—essential for a community where about forty 

percent of the town does not have fire hydrants.  

 

While it is the personnel of the PFD that provide emergency services within the 

community, the Department's fleet of response vehicles is essential to its operational success. 

Engine 5 has been the "frontline" Engine for Manomet for the last 14 years, responding to over 

1,200 incidents annually. The high call volume and corrosion of vehicle components due to 

winter road treatments used in the northeast have caused significant frame and mechanical 

failures. As of the date of this memo, Engine 5's repair costs have exceeded $15,000.00 since 

January and is currently the most expensive of our Pumping Engines to maintain, with Engine 2 

a close second (See Chart). Our Chief Master Mechanic has rated Engine 5 (Poor) but feels we 

may be able to get additional years as a "Reserve" however, if no action is taken major repairs 

(fire pump and engine rebuild) will continue to create a disproportionate expenditure of funds 

and shop hours until replaced.  
 

 

 

 

 
* Maintenance costs calculated YTD does not include preventitive maintenance  

**E8 has been in service for E1 while out for a substantial rehabilitation 

 

 

  

This replacement request aligns with the Department's Apparatus replacement practices, 

published national standards, and the 2023 Fire Department and EMS Analysis Report. These 

standards state that Apparatus should not exceed 15 years of service on the front line. Once an 

apparatus reaches this age, one alternative is for the Apparatus to undergo a Level 1 

refurbishing in accordance with NFPA 1912, Standard for Fire Apparatus 

Refurbishing (current standard), or the Apparatus is replaced if maintenance records and wear 

and tear warrant replacement. Engine 5 underwent partial rehabilitation in 2018. 
 

80

https://www.plymouth-ma.gov/DocumentCenter/View/4007/Fire-Department-and-EMS-Analysis-Final-Report-January-2023-PDF


TOWN OF PLYMOUTH CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN REQUEST
FY2 TOWN MEETING

Department: Priority #:

Project Title and Description:
Total 

Project Cost:

Department/Division Head:

Check if project is: New Resubmitted Cost estimate was developed:  Internally Externally 

For project re-submittals, list prior year(s):

List any funding sources and amounts already granted: _________________________________________________________  
_________________________________________________________________________________________________________
_________________________________________________________________________________________________________

Basis of Estimated Costs (attach additional information if 
available)

If project has impact on 5 Year Plan and future 
operating budgets, insert estimated amounts.

Capital: Cost Comments
Fiscal 
Year: Capital

Operations &
Maintenance

Planning and Design FY23

Labor and Materials FY24

Administration FY25

Land Acquisition FY26

Equipment FY27

Other

Contingency

Total Capital

Project Justification and Objective:  ___________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________________________________

For Capital Project Requests:
Will this project be phased over more than one fiscal year? If yes, enter it on the 5 Year Plan Yes No 
Can this project be phased over more than one fiscal year? Yes No 

For Capital Equipment Requests:
Check if equipment requested is replacement and enter the year, make & model, VIN and present condition of existing equipment 

What is the expected lifespan of this new/replacement equipment: ________________________________________________

Attach backup information, estimates, or justification to support this request.

Harbormaster - Police 1
Town Wharf Extension $664,500

Harbormaster - Chad Hunter

No funding has been allocated toward this project. There is the possibility 
to utilize surplus funding from the boat ramp project towards this project if available.

$553,750

$110,750 Reccomended by GEI for marine construction

$664,500
Please see attached memo. We would like to respectfully request $664,500 to extend the Town Wharf 

approximately 75 feet to allow for additional opportunities and uses of Town Wharf. This pier extension of 75 feet will extend the working length of the pier from 220 feet to 295 feet in length.

N/A

25+ years

■

■

81



 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 
TO:  LYNNE BARRETT, DIRECTOR OF FINANCE  
 
FROM:  CHAD HUNTER, HARBORMASTER 
 
SUBJECT: TOWN WHARF EXTENSION 
 
DATE:  AUGUST 7, 2023 
 

 
Director Barrett, 
 
We would like to respectfully request $664,500 to extend the Town Wharf approximately 75 feet. This 
pier extension will effectively extend the working length of the pier from 220 feet to 295 feet in length 
and allow for additional opportunities and capabilities within Plymouth Harbor. 
 
The extension designed by GEI (plan and estimate attached) will add a pile-supported 65-foot concrete 
floating dock and gangway to the North end of Town Wharf. The extension project will add much 
needed dockage space that can be utilized for visiting tall ships, commercial dockage, transient boaters, 
and short-term cruise ship berthing.  
 
During the construction of the new “T-wharf” in 2017, we had a curb cut installed at the end of the new 
pier to provide for future expansion and gangway attachment. This forward thinking has provided us an 
opportunity to extend the pier with no modifications.  
 
The timing of the request is based on two goals: 

 
1. We hope to complete this project by spring to take advantage of the 2024 boating season. 
2. With the Boat Ramp under construction this winter, we may be able to save on mobilization 

costs as both projects utilize a large crane barge and pile driving equipment.  
 
We hope to put the project out to bid in September with an award contingent upon Town Meeting 
approval to allow for enough time to procure the floats and install before summer 2024.   
 
Respectfully submitted, 
Chad Hunter – Plymouth Harbormaster 

TOWN OF PLYMOUTH 
HARBORMASTER 

185 WATER STREET PLYMOUTH, MA   
(508) 830-4182 / HARBORMASTER@PLYMOUTH-MA.GOV 

 

82



EL. +0.0 MLW

EL. -15.0

66'-0"

14'-4"

10'-0"
166'-7"

JOSEPH, CALVIN  B:\Working\PLYMOUTH MA, TOWN OF\2302586 Wharf Float Expansion\06_DESIGN\SITE BASEPLAN.dwg  -  7/27/2023

Fig. 1

T-WHARF FLOAT EXPANSION
PLYMOUTH, MA

TOWN OF PLYMOUTH
PLYMOUTH, MA

AMERICAN CRUISE LINE
MOORING LAYOUT

JUNE 2023Project 2302586
Consultants

0 30 60

SCALE, FEET

NEW 65' X 20' FLOAT
WITH 24" Ø PILES

AMERICAN CRUISE
LINE VESSEL

FEDERAL TURNING BASIN

CLEAT A

CLEAT B

BOLLARD C

CLEAT D
BOLLARD E

CLEAT F

BOLLARD G

CLEAT H

CLEAT I

BOLLARD J

LINE 1

LINE 2

LINE 3
LINE 6

LINE 7
LINE 8

LINE 9

PLAN
VESSEL MOORING

ELEVATION
VESSEL MOORING

CLEAT K
CLEAT L

CLEAT M
CLEAT N

FEDERAL TURNING BASIN

EXISTING T-WHARF

PROPOSED 60'-0" X 20'-0"
FLOATING DOCK

AMERICAN CRUISE
LINE VESSEL @ MLW

CLEAT (TYP)
BOLLARD (TYP)

AMERICAN CRUISE
LINE VESSEL @ HTL

END OF FEDERAL TURNING
BASIN. ELEVATION VARIES.

100 YEAR FLOOD
HTL
MHW
NAVD88
NGVD 29 
MLW 

+17.43
+11.70
+9.75
+5.43
+4.57

0.0

DRAFT FOR REVIEW

83



EL. +0.0 MLW

EL. -15.0

51'-10"

10'-0"

51'-10"

166'-7"

JOSEPH, CALVIN  B:\Working\PLYMOUTH MA, TOWN OF\2302586 Wharf Float Expansion\06_DESIGN\SITE BASEPLAN.dwg  -  7/27/2023

Fig. 2

T-WHARF FLOAT EXPANSION
PLYMOUTH, MA

TOWN OF PLYMOUTH
PLYMOUTH, MA

AMERICAN CRUISE LINE
MOORING LAYOUT

JUNE 2023Project 2302586
Consultants

0 30 60

SCALE, FEET

100 YEAR FLOOD
HTL
MHW
NAVD88
NGVD 29 
MLW 

+17.43
+11.70
+9.75
+5.43
+4.57

0.0

NEW 65' X 20' FLOAT
WITH 24" Ø PILES

AMERICAN CRUISE
LINE VESSEL

FEDERAL TURNING BASIN

CLEAT A

CLEAT B

BOLLARD C

CLEAT D
BOLLARD E

CLEAT F

BOLLARD G

CLEAT H

CLEAT I

BOLLARD J

LINE 1
LINE 2

LINE 3
LINE 4

LINE 5

LINE 6

LINE 7
LINE 8LINE 9

PLAN
VESSEL MOORING

CLEAT K
CLEAT L

CLEAT M
CLEAT N

ELEVATION
VESSEL MOORING FEDERAL TURNING BASIN

EXISTING T-WHARF

PROPOSED 60'-0" X 20'-0"
FLOATING DOCK

AMERICAN CRUISE
LINE VESSEL @ MLW

CLEAT (TYP)

BOLLARD (TYP)

AMERICAN CRUISE
LINE VESSEL @ HTL

END OF FEDERAL TURNING
BASIN. ELEVATION VARIES.

DRAFT FOR REVIEW

84



TOWN OF PLYMOUTH CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN REQUEST
FY2 TOWN MEETING

Department: Priority #:

Project Title and Description:
Total 

Project Cost:

Department/Division Head:

Check if project is: New Resubmitted Cost estimate was developed:  Internally Externally 

For project re-submittals, list prior year(s):

List any funding sources and amounts already granted: _________________________________________________________  
_________________________________________________________________________________________________________
_________________________________________________________________________________________________________

Basis of Estimated Costs (attach additional information if 
available)

If project has impact on 5 Year Plan and future 
operating budgets, insert estimated amounts.

Capital: Cost Comments
Fiscal 
Year: Capital

Operations &
Maintenance

Planning and Design FY23

Labor and Materials FY24

Administration FY25

Land Acquisition FY26

Equipment FY27

Other

Contingency

Total Capital

Project Justification and Objective:  ___________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________________________________

For Capital Project Requests:
Will this project be phased over more than one fiscal year? If yes, enter it on the 5 Year Plan Yes No 
Can this project be phased over more than one fiscal year? Yes No 

For Capital Equipment Requests:
Check if equipment requested is replacement and enter the year, make & model, VIN and present condition of existing equipment 

What is the expected lifespan of this new/replacement equipment: ________________________________________________

Attach backup information, estimates, or justification to support this request.

85



  
 

westonandsampson.com  

 
 

100 Foxborough Blvd., Suite 250, Foxborough, MA 02035 
Tel: 508.698.3034 

 
 
 
August 3, 2023 
 
 
Sheila Sgarzi, PE 
Acting DPW Director 
Town of Plymouth 
159 Camelot Drive 
Plymouth, MA 02360 
 
 
SSubject: Preliminary Schematic Design – Scope & Fee 
 Renovation of 22 Mary B Lane, Plymouth 
 
Dear Sheila: 
 
Regarding the Town’s potential purchase of the property at 22 Mary B Lane in Plymouth and renovations there at, 
we have prepared the following Scope of Services and Fee for preliminary schematic design and preparation of 
graphics/visual aids in support of a warrant article at the Spring 2024 Town Meeting. 
 
We propose the following Scope of Services: 
 

• Review of available documentation (e.g., floor plans, Building Department records, etc.); 
• Site visit, including measurement/verification of existing interior configuration; 
• Prepare 3-dimensional model of existing building (i.e., Revit software); 
• Coordination with Plymouth DPW regarding the Town’s specific needs for the space, 

including discussion of personnel proposed to be located at 22 Mary B Lane and 
confirmation of the desired space needs for the building; 

• Test “fit” to available space; 
• Initial Code assessment; 
• Conceptual “build-out” plan as needed; 
• Overview report with drawing(s) and narrative; and 
• Presentation renderings/graphics (for Spring 2024 Town Meeting). 

 
We proposed to complete the Scope of Services listed above for an amount of $11,000. 
 
Let me know if you have any questions or require any additional information. 
 
 
Sincerely, 
 
WESTON & SAMPSON ENGINEERS, INC. 
 
 
 
Anthony J Wespiser, PE 
Senior Project Manager 
 

A th J W i PE

86



TOWN OF PLYMOUTH CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN REQUEST
FY2 TOWN MEETING

Department: Priority #:

Project Title and Description:
Total 

Project Cost:

Department/Division Head:

Check if project is: New Resubmitted Cost estimate was developed:  Internally Externally 

For project re-submittals, list prior year(s):

List any funding sources and amounts already granted: _________________________________________________________  
_________________________________________________________________________________________________________
_________________________________________________________________________________________________________

Basis of Estimated Costs (attach additional information if 
available)

If project has impact on 5 Year Plan and future 
operating budgets, insert estimated amounts.

Capital: Cost Comments
Fiscal 
Year: Capital

Operations &
Maintenance

Planning and Design FY23

Labor and Materials FY24

Administration FY25

Land Acquisition FY26

Equipment FY27

Other

Contingency

Total Capital

Project Justification and Objective:  ___________________________________________________________________________

For Capital Project Requests:
Will this project be phased over more than one fiscal year? If yes, enter it on the 5 Year Plan Yes No 
Can this project be phased over more than one fiscal year? Yes No 

For Capital Equipment Requests:
Check if equipment requested is replacement and enter the year, make & model, VIN and present condition of existing equipment 

What is the expected lifespan of this new/replacement equipment: ________________________________________________

Attach backup information, estimates, or justification to support this request.

Marine and Environmental Affairs 1
Engineering and Permitting for Rehabilitation of Store Pond $246,300

David Gould

50% of costs ($123,150) to come fromEnvironmental Affairs Fund

$246,300

$246,300

This project would provide the engineering, geotechnical services and permitting work to undertake
improvements to the Store Pond Dam and replace the culvert under Court Street that discharges to Cordage
Park. This work would bring the structure into compliance with the MA Office of Dam Safety regulations.

■

■

87



SLR International Corporation 

 

99 Realty Drive, Cheshire, Connecticut, 06410 

 

 1  
 

Scope of Services 
 

Store Pond Dam 
National ID No. MA02462 

Plymouth, Massachusetts 
 

SLR #141.11982.P0011 
 

Project Understanding 
SLR International Corporation (SLR) is pleased to present our proposal to prepare engineering 
and design services for Store Pond dam. SLR recently prepared engineering design drawings 
and provided construction observation for the repairs to Sawmill (also known as Russell) Pond 
dam, which is located upstream of Store Pond on the same unnamed watercourse. 
Store (also known as Spooner) Pond dam (MAID#02462) is located to the north of Spooner 
Street and northeast of Sawmill Pond in North Plymouth. Flow out of Sawmill Pond dam flows 
slightly northeasterly along Bourne Street before turning north in an underground conduit that 
daylights on the north side of Spooner Street and flows approximately 75 feet into Store Pond. 
The earth embankment dam is coincident with Court Street (Route 3A) and is located 
approximately 2,000 feet upstream of the outfall at the coast located between Plymouth Harbor 
and Kingston Bay. The outlet to Sawmill Pond flows under Court Street in a culvert before 
flowing into Cordage Pond before discharging into Cape Cod Bay. Tighe & Bond, Inc. prepared 
a Phase I inspection/evaluation report for Store Pond dam dated December 5, 2017. SLR also 
performed a Phase I inspection/evaluation report dated December 19, 2022. The dam is 
classified as a “Small” size dam and a Significant Hazard (Class II) Potential dam. The overall 
condition of Store Pond was assessed as “Satisfactory” in the same Phase I reports. SLR also 
prepared an Emergency Action Plan for Store Pond dated March 19, 2020, which was 
submitted and is on file with the Office of Dam Safety (ODS). 
SLR is pleased to present our proposal to provide engineering and related design services to 
further assess the condition, recommend improvements, and prepare final rehabilitation design 
plans to Store Pond dam. It is our understanding that the following services are required: 

 A Phase II inspection and investigation, pursuant to the following outline: 
o Review of existing information 
o Performance of subsurface explorations 
o Performance of a topographic survey and wetlands delineation 
o Performance of stability and seepage analyses 
o Performance of a detailed hydrologic and hydraulic analysis (H&H) 
o Development of alternatives with conceptual designs 
o Preparation of a Phase II report to be submitted to ODS 

 Final Design – Based upon the results of the Phase II inspection, final design of the 
following elements is anticipated: 
o Place riprap along the upstream face of the embankment. 

88



 
Scope of Services 
Store Pond Dam – Plymouth, Massachusetts 

 
August 4, 2023 

 

 2  
 

o Construct a cutoff or wall to prevent unraveling of the surface during an overtopping 
event. 

o Construct a new overflow outlet structure capable of passing the Spillway Design 
Storm. 

o Construct a new culvert under Court Street to replace the current culvert, which is 
likely undersized and a combination of a stone box culvert and a pipe. 

A Phase II inspection and investigation will be performed to evaluate the structural integrity and 
spillway adequacy of the dam and to develop/implement a plan to bring the dam into 
compliance with dam safety regulations. The Phase II submittal will provide a proposed time line 
for final design, permitting, and construction of the selected repairs.  
SLR proposes to perform the following scope of work: 

Scope of Services 
Task 1 – Phase II Inspection and Investigation  
Using the ODS Phase II Inspection and Investigation outline, SLR will perform the following 
Phase II services: 
1.1 Review and summarize the existing inspection report information. 
1.2 Utilize the recently completed Phase I Surface Condition Inspection Report dated 

December 19, 2022, to document any observed changes. 
1.3 Prepare a focused subsurface exploration plan and then execute the plan that will 

include the advancement of three test borings within the dam.  
Explorations will be advanced using a truck-mounted drill rig and standard hollow-stem 
auger (HSA) test boring drilling techniques. Standard Penetration Tests (SPTs) will be 
performed in general accordance with American Society of Testing and Materials 
(ASTM) D 1586 in each test boring, with split-spoon samples recovered at 5-foot 
intervals or at each change in soil stratigraphy, whichever is more frequent. The SPT 
consists of driving a 1-3/8-inch-inside-diameter split-spoon sampler with a 140-pound 
hammer falling 30 inches. The blows for each 6 inches of penetration are recorded for a 
total of 18 or 24 inches. Rock coring or coring through obstructions is not included in our 
current proposal. 
Additional sampling using larger-diameter split-spoon samplers with liners as needed will 
also be performed to obtain the in-situ density of select subsurface materials. This 
information will be used to reconstitute bulk samples in the laboratory to the approximate 
in-situ densities so that direct shear testing can be performed on the reconstituted 
samples to obtain shear strength parameters for slope stability analysis. 
Boring depths of about 20± feet below the top of the embankment are planned to 
coincide with about 10± feet of penetration below the bottom of the dam.  
Up to six retrieved soil samples will be obtained for laboratory testing that will include 
gradation tests per ASTM D422/D1140. Additional tests will include moisture, density, 
and direct shear testing. Depending on the material types recovered, other tests such as 
Atterberg limits and organic content may also be included. Test results will aid in 
classifying the embankment and foundation soils with respect to estimating various 
engineering parameters. Permeability parameters will be based on material gradation-
based correlations.    

  

89



 
Scope of Services 
Store Pond Dam – Plymouth, Massachusetts 

 
August 4, 2023 

 

 3  
 

Explorations will be performed under the observation of an SLR geologist or 
geotechnical engineer. Soil samples from the test borings will be classified in the field by 
SLR in general accordance with the Burmister Soil Classification System. A written 
drilling log and well log will be completed by SLR and will identify the overburden 
embankment and foundation soils. 

1.4 Perform a wetlands delineation of the project area to include upstream and downstream 
areas. The wetland delineation will be performed by a professional wetland scientist. The 
survey will be completed in accordance with the 1987 United States Army Corps of 
Engineers (USACE) Wetland Delineation Manual, Technical Report Y-87-1. The 
delineation will be based on the location of hydrophytic vegetation, hydric soils, and 
hydrologic conditions, primary or secondary as indicative of a jurisdictional wetland. The 
area to be delineated will be immediately around the dam and abutment areas and will 
not extend more than 200 feet upstream or downstream of these structures. Wetlands 
flagging will be pink-and-black-striped surveyor tape with the date of the delineation, flag 
number, and delineator indicated on each flag. A locus map of the delineated wetlands 
will be provided for guidance in locating the wetland flags and documenting their location 
during the topographic survey.  
In addition, a Wetland Technical Memorandum will be prepared identifying the type of 
each wetland delineated, as well as a Wetland Functions and Values assessment, using 
the USACE, New England District The Highway Methodology Workbook, as revised 
1999. The Functions and Values Assessment will be provided for use in the Wetlands 
Permit Application.   
Concurrent with this task, SLR will run a U.S. Fish & Wildlife Services IPaC website 
model to identify the project's location as potential habitat for any federally listed 
threatened species, such as the northern long-eared bat, that may require additional and 
specialized surveys. 

1.5 Prepare a topographic survey and locate the dam embankments, abutments, and 
upstream and downstream areas. The survey will include documenting the alignment 
and invert elevations of the outlet structure components. SLR understands that the earth 
embankment is coincident with Court Street, which has a sag vertical curve along the 
roadway horizontal alignment. Therefore, the crest is not a uniform elevation at the crest. 
The existing spillway configuration consists of a stop-log-controlled drop inlet with an 
upstream vertical trash rack. The drop inlet structure conveys flows into a stone masonry 
culvert that transitions into a 36-inch-diameter concrete outfall pipe and discharges 
upstream of Cordage Pond. The condition and configuration of the transition from stone 
culvert to round pipe under the roadway is unknown. 
An existing conditions plan will be prepared that will serve as the basis for the various 
engineering analyses from which conceptual design alternatives and ultimately final 
design will be formulated. 

1.6 Perform stability and seepage analyses based on the Task 1.3 subsurface explorations 
test results and the topographic survey. The seepage analyses will be performed using 
SLIDE2 by RocScience, which uses a finite element model of steady state seepage 
conditions, Alternatively, flow net theory may be used to construct equipotential flow 
paths and head drops through the embankment and foundation materials. Stability 
analyses of the earth embankments will be performed using the computer software 
program SLIDE2, which is an interactive equilibrium slope stability analysis of various 
failure geometries, including circular, block, or random as appropriate. 

  

90



 
Scope of Services 
Store Pond Dam – Plymouth, Massachusetts 

 
August 4, 2023 

 

 4  
 

Based on the seepage and stability analytical results, conceptual methods for controlling 
seepage and increasing stability as necessary will be developed for later use in the final 
design of project modifications. This will include the need for filter drains to prevent 
internal erosion and piping or other mechanisms to reduce head pressure within the 
embankment soils. The conditions with the seepage control measures in place will be 
reanalyzed to verify adequate safety and seepage control performance under various 
design conditions, including static, pseudostatic, and rapid drawdown.  

1.7 Perform Hydrologic and Hydraulic analyses to assess existing spillway capacity and to 
determine modification alternatives that would be necessary to increase spillway 
capacity to accommodate the Spillway Design Flood (SDF). 
We anticipate working closely with the Town of Plymouth (Town) and the ODS while 
developing the components of the detailed H&H analyses to gain initial feedback prior to 
moving forward with subsequent tasks and to ensure that we are meeting the 
expectations of the Town of Plymouth and the ODS throughout the project. 
SLR will develop a detailed hydrologic study to include analysis of the Store Pond dam 
watershed. The hydrologic input data will be based on land use/land cover or 
considerations effecting hydrology. Rainfall depths available through the Northeast 
Regional Climate Center (NRCC) as well as depths published by the National Oceanic 
and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) in Atlas 14 will be used to compute inflow and 
outflow hydrographs. We anticipate using a Type-III rainfall distribution with a 24- hour 
duration to develop hydrographs for the 100-year storm event. The detailed hydrologic 
analysis will be conducted using the HydroCAD modeling software. 
Subsequently, SLR will conduct a hydraulic analysis to determine the outlet capacity of 
the existing spillway configuration of the Store Pond dam. If the outlet capacity of the 
existing spillway is found to be deficient, conceptual design of up to three alternatives 
will be evaluated to modify the spillway and dam to increase the spillway capacity until 
ODS regulations are met. 
SLR will prepare a summary of the detailed H&H analyses to be included in the overall 
Phase II report. The H&H section of the report will provide details regarding the analyses 
performed and assumptions made to conduct the analyses and will discuss the data and 
methods used to develop the detailed models, the conceptual design of spillway 
improvements to meet ODS regulations, and a summary of results. Detailed results and 
input data will be provided in the Appendix.  

1.8 Based on the stability, seepage, and H&H analyses, SLR will develop and present up to 
three conceptual designs, including associated estimated design, permitting, and 
construction costs to achieve compliance with Chapter 253, Section 44-48 and 302 CMR 
10.00 Dam Safety Regulations.  

1.9 A dam assessment report will be prepared to include the various analyses and 
evaluations that will include the following components: 

 Topographic survey 

 Wetlands survey results 

 H&H analyses 

 Conceptual modifications to the dam/spillway necessary to pass the SDF 
  

91



 
Scope of Services 
Store Pond Dam – Plymouth, Massachusetts 

 
August 4, 2023 

 

 5  
 

 Seepage and stability analyses with conceptual elements as necessary to control 
seepage and/or improve stability, depending upon the proposed dam/spillway 
modifications 

 Development of opinions of probable costs for recommended improvements 
Task 2 – Final Design and Permitting 
At this time, SLR assumes that replacement of the culvert downstream of the dam will not be 
required to meet the USACE stream crossing standards because the watercourse is likely not 
considered navigable by the USACE and, as such, would not be subject to their permitting 
requirements. Similarly, a Massachusetts Department of Environmental Protection (MADEP) 
Chapter 91 waterways license would not be triggered because of the navigability issues of the 
watercourse. Based on SLR’s review of the MEPA threshold triggers, the contemplated 
rehabilitation measures to the dam and replacement of the culvert do not appear to trigger the 
need for a MEPA EENF.   
2.1 SLR will contact the USACE and MADEP regarding navigable waterway jurisdiction to 

confirm the assumptions noted above.  
2.2 Massachusetts Historical Commission Notification – SLR will prepare and submit a 

Massachusetts Historical Commission Project Notification Form for the project based on 
the data we have previously obtained and the proposed improvements to the dam. 

2.3  Massachusetts Environmental and Historic Preservation (EHP) Screening Form – In 
order to request a Massachusetts EHP review, it is necessary to first complete and 
submit a Department of Homeland Security (DHS) and Federal Emergency Management 
Agency (FEMA) Environmental and Historic Preservation Screening Form. These forms 
will be prepared based on the data we have previously obtained and the proposed 
improvements to the dam. 

2.4  Massachusetts Endangered Species Review – SLR will contact Massachusetts Natural 
Heritage & Endangered Species Program (NHESP) personnel with respect to 
determining if estimated or priority habitat for listed species exists on or near the project 
site. We will work with NHESP to mitigate any conditions whereby listed species may be 
impacted by the proposed rehabilitation activities. 

2.5  Regulatory Permitting Assistance – Permit Application Preparation – Assist the Town in 
preparing application forms and supporting documentation. The following permits are 
anticipated, and a permit process and schedule is presented below:  
 Certificate of Appropriateness – Plymouth Historic District Commission – Prepare 

and submit an application (including necessary accompanying materials) to the 
Plymouth Historic District Commission. For this permit application, the design plan 
format will be modified as required to meet the commission's plan submittal 
guidelines. It is assumed that Town staff will attend any Historic Commission 
meetings. This task excludes attendance by SLR staff at any meetings. 

 Section 404 Permit – United States Army Corps of Engineers (USACE) – Prepare 
and submit a Self-Verification Notification Form (SVNF) for General Permit (GP) No. 
2 Repair, Replacement, and Maintenance of Authorized Structures and Fills with 
required supporting materials to the New England District USACE office in Concord, 
Massachusetts. 

 Jurisdictional Determination, Chapter 253 Permit Part A – A Chapter 253 Permit Part 
A is required to determine if the proposed improvements will fall within the jurisdiction 
of Massachusetts General Law (MGL) Chapter 253. At this time, it is considered 

92



 
Scope of Services 
Store Pond Dam – Plymouth, Massachusetts 

 
August 4, 2023 

 

 6  
 

likely that the proposed improvements will be considered jurisdictional, thus requiring 
that a Chapter 253 Permit Part B permit (full permit application and design report) will 
be required. 

 Wetlands Protection Act (WPA) Notice of Intent (NOI) – Massachusetts Department 
of Environmental Protection (DEP) and Plymouth Conservation Commission – 
Prepare and submit a WPA NOI (including necessary accompanying materials) to 
the Plymouth Conservation Commission and Massachusetts DEP. This task includes 
abutter notification and production and distribution of the required number of copies 
of the NOI to the Plymouth Conservation Commission and DEP. It is assumed that 
Town staff will attend any Conservation Commission site visits or public hearings. 
This task excludes attendance by SLR staff at any meetings. 

Please note that the permits listed above are based on the limited design information 
and assumptions to date. If during the design development it is found that dredging of 
more than 100 cubic yards of land under water, that the watercourse is deemed 
navigable or permanent filling of greater than 1,000 square feet of federal watercourses 
and/or wetlands is required, then additional permits will be required from both federal 
and state agencies. These permits may include MEPA EENF, Massachusetts DEP 401 
Water Quality Certificate, Chapter 91 Waterways license, and USACE Pre-Construction 
Notification GP 18. If these permits are required, the preparation of said permits will be 
completed under a separate negotiated contract.   
Permit Process and Order of Schedule 
The following provides the order in which SLR and the Town will submit the necessary 
permit applications.  

1. Plymouth Historic District Commission Application – 1 month 
2. USACE Section 404 – SVNF GP 2 Permit Application (submit concurrently with 

Chapter 253 ODS) – 2 to 3 months  
3. Massachusetts DEP and Plymouth Con Com NOI (will be submitted following 

USACE approval) – 2 months  
The permit schedule presented above assumes that several of the permit applications 
will be submitted concurrently and is subject to change based on regulatory agency 
comments and permit review schedule. For this project, it is anticipated that obtaining 
the permits will take approximately 4 to 6 months. 
Please note that this scope of services assumes that the contractor will be responsible 
for preparing and submitting a National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System 
Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan, Construction Dewatering Permit, and any other 
construction-related permits that may be required. 

2.6  Semi-Final Design (90%) of Improvements to the Dam – Final design of the proposed 
improvements will likely include upstream embankment riprap armor protection, repairs 
or replacement of the low-level outlet and culvert under Court Streett, and/or other 
improvements to the dam will be performed. It is anticipated that the final design 
drawings will consist of the following: 

 Title sheet 
 Beginning and end of project and project limit lines 
 Existing conditions, including titles of adjacent roadways and watercourses; location 

of utilities, drainage facilities, and associated appurtenances; designated wetlands; 
and property lines and related information compiled from existing maps and records 

93



 
Scope of Services 
Store Pond Dam – Plymouth, Massachusetts 

 
August 4, 2023 

 

 7  
 

 Proposed improvements, including plan view, sections, and details as well as 
construction control points 

 Proposed grading 
 Proposed plan, cross section, and elevation of the culvert 
 Proposed staging and maintenance and protection of traffic plan or detour plan 
 Utility relocations 
 Typical cross sections 
 Proposed planting/restoration plans 
 Proposed water control during construction 
 Standard design details 
 Special design details 
 Proposed soil erosion and sedimentation controls 
 Sequence of construction 

Technical notes will be incorporated on each plan sheet as necessary. One set of draft 
drawings will be submitted to you for review and approval. Upon discussion of any 
comments you may have and incorporating any revisions, SLR will then finalize the 
plans. 

2.7  Technical Specifications – SLR will prepare a set of technical specifications suitable to 
describe the elements of the project and for solicitation of bids to qualified contractors.  

2.8  Final Design (100%) – Prepare and submit Final Design (100%) plans and technical 
specifications. The final design will include final design drawings and engineers opinion 
of probable construction cost. The plans will be signed and sealed by a professional 
engineer who is licensed in the Commonwealth of Massachusetts. It is understood that 
the gap between 90% and 100% design submissions should be limited to the 
incorporation of the final comments and should not require any additional design 
development. 

2.9 Meetings – It is anticipated that six meetings will be required for the various permits at 
the various regulatory offices. SLR will prepare and present the listed permit applications 
on your behalf when requested. 

Task 3 – Construction Bid-Phase Services 
3.1 Bid Documents and Specifications – Develop a single bid package with technical 

specifications. Prepare supporting information for the front-end specifications (bid form, 
conditions of the contract, and forms of agreement). It is assumed that the Town will 
provide sample front-end documents to incorporate into the typical format. 

3.2 Bidding Assistance – Provide bid-phase assistance, which will include the following: 

 Distribute solicitation to bid via electronic formats, including newspaper bid 
advertisement. 

 Prepare for and attend a prebid conference/site walk with prospective bidders to 
review sequence, methods, and other variables crucial to the attainment of the 
project goals. Prepare and distribute meeting minutes. Notice the prebid meeting 
through the Town’s typical notice publications. 

 Respond to inquiries from potential bidders and issue addenda as necessary. Copy 
Town and MassDOT on all correspondence and communications. 

  

94



 
Scope of Services 
Store Pond Dam – Plymouth, Massachusetts 

 
August 4, 2023 

 

 8  
 

 Develop a bid tabulation. 

 Communicate with the Town, MassDOT, and project partners to discuss bids. 

 Assist the Town in completing final contracting 

Professional Fees 
The above work is proposed to be completed for the following fees, all of which are lump sum 
except for direct expenses, which would be invoiced as incurred. 
Task 1.0 – Phase II Inspection and Investigation ........................................................... $115,600 
Task 2.0 – Final Design ................................................................................................. $100,500 
Task 3.0 – Construction Bid-Phase Services ................................................................... $14,900 
Direct Expenses ............................................................................................................... $15,300 
Total .............................................................................................................................. $246,300 

Exclusions and Limitations 
Please note that in submitting this proposal we cannot guarantee that the proposed project will 
receive all necessary permit approvals. 
The following work is not included in this scope of services: 
1. Design of roadway improvements 
2. FEMA coordination, permitting, or certification 
3. Environmental/chemical testing of disturbed soils or sediments 
4. Design changes or additional alternatives assessment beyond that described in the scope of 

services 
5. Payment of regulatory permit fees 
6. Attendance at additional meetings beyond those indicated above 
7. Construction-phase services, inspections, or testing 
8. Preparation of record drawings after construction 
9. It is assumed that the Town will provide necessary police or traffic controls for geotechnical 

borings or other work within Court Street. 
10. It is assumed that the Town will remove guiderail or fencing to provide access to the dam or 

to perform geotechnical borings. 
Such additional services can be provided upon request via supplemental agreement with SLR 
once agreed to. 
 
11982.p0011.jl1923.prop.docx 

95



TOWN OF PLYMOUTH CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN REQUEST
FY2 TOWN MEETING

Department: Priority #:

Project Title and Description:
Total 

Project Cost:

Department/Division Head:

Check if project is: New Resubmitted Cost estimate was developed:  Internally Externally 

For project re-submittals, list prior year(s):

List any funding sources and amounts already granted: _________________________________________________________  
_________________________________________________________________________________________________________
_________________________________________________________________________________________________________

Basis of Estimated Costs (attach additional information if 
available)

If project has impact on 5 Year Plan and future 
operating budgets, insert estimated amounts.

Capital: Cost Comments
Fiscal 
Year: Capital

Operations &
Maintenance

Planning and Design FY23

Labor and Materials FY24

Administration FY25

Land Acquisition FY26

Equipment FY27

Other

Contingency

Total Capital

Project Justification and Objective:  ___________________________________________________________________________

For Capital Project Requests:
Will this project be phased over more than one fiscal year? If yes, enter it on the 5 Year Plan Yes No 
Can this project be phased over more than one fiscal year? Yes No 

For Capital Equipment Requests:
Check if equipment requested is replacement and enter the year, make & model, VIN and present condition of existing equipment 

What is the expected lifespan of this new/replacement equipment: ________________________________________________

Attach backup information, estimates, or justification to support this request.

Marine and Environmental Affairs 3
Herring Ponds Management Plan Implementation $32,800

David Gould

Environmental Affairs Fund

$32,800

$32,800

One of the key findings in the Management Plan was that streamflow from Little Herring Pond (LHP) to Great Herring Pond (GHP)
was the largest source of phosphorus to GHP.2 In order to continue to move toward long-term management, Town DMEA staff have
asked CSP/SMAST and TMDL Solutions to prepare this scope to collect on g oing key targeted data, evaluate an in-stream PRB
potential phosphorus reduction option, and develop an annual update as the town considers other management options

N/A

■

■

96



David Gould, Department Head 
Department of Marine and Environmental Affairs 
Town of Plymouth 
26 Court Street 
Plymouth, MA  02360 
  
Dear David: 

The Herring Ponds Watershed Association (HPWA) has worked closely with your department and with 
consultant Ed Eichner to develop a Watershed Management Plan that can potentially reduce watershed 
pollution and eliminate toxic cyanobacteria blooms from the Herring Ponds Watershed.  This is not just a 
“quality of life” issue – it is also a public health issue since the 2020 bloom sent several dogs to the 
veterinarian and one resident to the hospital. Indeed, it is a growing and serious town-wide issue. 

We understand that the DMEA is submitting a warrant Article for the upcoming Fall Town Meeting, and 
that this proposal seeks funds needed for the Town and for HPWA to begin baseline studies needed to 
support specific recommendations of the HPWA Management Plan.  Specifically, it will provide funds to 
explore the potential of a Permeable Reactive Barrier (PRB) to remove phosphorus pollutants from our 
water. Excess phosphorus is associated with cyanobacteria blooms whose toxins threaten the health of 
our Association residents (and potentially all other Town residents). The DMEA proposal seeks money to 
collect baseline data needed to explore the possible utility/benefits of a PRB and pay for permits, design, 
and construction. 

The Directors of the HPWA believe that the presence of cyanobacteria blooms in our lakes and ponds is 
a growing, serious issue for Plymouth, we are eager to work with the Town to seek remedies.  
Moreover, we are prepared to contribute a $5,000 match to help in this effort. 

Thank you for your consideration and help with this issue. 

For the Herring Pond Watershed Association, 

  

Don Williams  
President 

97



1 
 

 
Scope of Work  

 
Technical Support of the Town of Plymouth 

Great Herring Pond and Little Herring Pond Monitoring 
 

August 9, 2023 
 
Overview 
During 2022/2023 and working together with the Town Department of Marine & Environmental 
Affairs (DMEA), the Coastal Systems Program from the School for Marine Science and 
Technology at UMass-Dartmouth (CSP/SMAST) and TMDL Solutions LLC prepared a Great 
Herring Pond and Little Herring Pond Management Plan and Diagnostic Assessment.1  The 
diagnostic assessment portion of the Management Plan relied in large part on data collect by 
CSP/SMAST staff, including water column and stream flow readings.  Management 
recommendations suggested that the Town consider evaluating management options, while 
continuing water quality monitoring.  One of the key findings in the Management Plan was that 
streamflow from Little Herring Pond (LHP) to Great Herring Pond (GHP) was the largest source 
of phosphorus to GHP.2  In order to continue to move toward long-term management, Town 
DMEA staff have asked CSP/SMAST and TMDL Solutions to prepare this scope to collect on-
going key targeted data, evaluate an in-stream PRB potential phosphorus reduction option, and 
develop an annual update as the town considers other management options.  Scope tasks are:  
 
Task 1:  Streamflow and WQ Measurements:  LHP outflow & GHP outflow  
CSP/SMAST staff will collect monthly instantaneous flow readings and water quality samples at 
the GHP and LHP outflows year-round for 12 months.  Town staff, in coordination with 
CSP/SMAST staff, will install and maintain Town-owned continuous water level monitoring 
devices at the sampling locations.  Duplicate samples will be collected randomly for a minimum 
of 10% of the total samples.  All collected samples will be assayed for standard PALS parameters 
(TP, TN, pH, alkalinity, chlorophyll a/pheophytin) plus ortho-P at the Coastal Systems Analytical 
Facility at SMAST.   
 
TASK 1 Cost:  $16,184 
Deliverable:  Summary water quality results in an Excel spreadsheet provided to the Town 
with Project Technical Memorandum (Task 3).   
 
Task 2:  Stream PRB Testing in Carter’s River:  Design, Permitting, Installation, Monitoring  
CSP/SMAST and TMDL Solutions staff will coordinate with Town staff to design, permit, install, 
and monitor an experimental, temporary in-stream PRB to remove phosphorus (P) at one location 

 
1

2  

Tel 508.999.8193 
Fax 508.999.8197 

706 South Rodney French Blvd. 
New Bedford 
Massachusetts 02744-1221 

School for  
Marine Science 
and Technology 

University of 
Massachusetts 
Dartmouth 

98



2 
 

in Carter’s River between LHP and GHP.  Project staff will design a temporary in-stream PRB 
with P removal materials that will allow herring passage.  Project staff will support a Town 
application to the Conservation Commission for the PRB installation.  Pending any Conservation 
Commission conditions, the PRB will be installed in July and August.  Water quality and flow 
readings will be monitored upstream and downstream, near field and far field, weekly for the two 
months.  Duplicate samples will be collected randomly for a minimum of 10% of the total samples.  
All collected samples will be assayed for standard PALS parameters plus ortho-P at the Coastal 
Systems Analytical Facility at SMAST.   
 
TASK 2 Cost:  $15,524 
Deliverables:   

1) Preparation of Notice of Intent for Town submittal to Conservation Commission, 
including 1 meeting with Conservation Agent and 1 meeting with Commission. 

2) Design of in-stream P removal PRB, including PRB materials and provisions to allow 
herring passage (discussions with MassDMF are anticipated and outcomes will be 
included in NOI submittal) 

3) Summary water quality and flow monitoring results in an Excel spreadsheet provided 
with Project Technical Memorandum (Task 3).  

 
Task 3:  Project Reporting:  Technical Memorandum 
CSP/SMAST and TMDL Solutions staff will prepare a final Technical Memorandum reviewing 
and summarizing data collected in Tasks 1 and 2 and comparing these data to information 
summarized in the GHP and LHP Diagnostic Assessment and Management Plan.  The Technical 
Memo will also include recommendations for future monitoring and management.  No presentation 
of the Technical Memorandum is included.           
 
TASK 3 Cost:  $6,091 
Deliverable:  Technical Memorandum (final) summarizing Task 1 and Task 2 findings, as 
well as recommendations for future monitoring and management activities.   
 
TOTAL PROJECT COSTS:  $37,800 
 
PROJECTED SCHEDULE: 
Task 1 monitoring can begin at any time during the year, but Task 2 will need to occur in July and 
August to match potential worst case conditions and water quality management priority timing.  
The Technical Memorandum will be delivered to the Town by TMDL Solutions and CSP/SMAST 
four months following the collection of the final monthly readings and sampling in Task 1.   
 
EXPECTED FUNDING/BILLING: 
This is a joint project between the Coastal Systems Program from the School for Marine Science 
and Technology at UMass-Dartmouth and TMDL Solutions LLC. 

99



TOWN OF PLYMOUTH CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN REQUEST
FY2 TOWN MEETING

Department: Priority #:

Project Title and Description:
Total 

Project Cost:

Department/Division Head:

Check if project is: New Resubmitted Cost estimate was developed:  Internally Externally 

For project re-submittals, list prior year(s):

List any funding sources and amounts already granted: _________________________________________________________  
_________________________________________________________________________________________________________
_________________________________________________________________________________________________________

Basis of Estimated Costs (attach additional information if 
available)

If project has impact on 5 Year Plan and future 
operating budgets, insert estimated amounts.

Capital: Cost Comments
Fiscal 
Year: Capital

Operations &
Maintenance

Planning and Design FY23

Labor and Materials FY24

Administration FY25

Land Acquisition FY26

Equipment FY27

Other

Contingency

Total Capital

Project Justification and Objective:  ___________________________________________________________________________

For Capital Project Requests:
Will this project be phased over more than one fiscal year? If yes, enter it on the 5 Year Plan Yes No 
Can this project be phased over more than one fiscal year? Yes No 

For Capital Equipment Requests:
Check if equipment requested is replacement and enter the year, make & model, VIN and present condition of existing equipment 

What is the expected lifespan of this new/replacement equipment: ________________________________________________

Attach backup information, estimates, or justification to support this request.

Marine and Environmental Affairs 2
Savery Pond Groundwater Flow Model $32,800

David Gould

Environmental Affairs Fund

$32,800

$32,800

Employ UMASS Amherst's Plymouth groundwater flow model (recently developed as part of the Plymouth saltwater 
intrusion study) to simulate surface-water/groundwater interactions in the Savery Pond System. The goal of this effort 
would be to develop a tool to allow the predictive investigation of alternative management scenarios and their effect on 
pond and groundwater levels.

■

■

100



and

101



Application of the Plymouth Groundwater Flow Model 
to Improve Understanding of Hydrologic Interaction 
Between Groundwater and Savery Pond and Assess 
Water Resource Management Strategies 
 
Revised August 1, 2023 
 
Dr. David Boutt, Professor, University of Massachusetts-Amherst 
 
Detailed Savery Pond Scope - 1: 
 
Objective: Employ UMASS Amherst’s Plymouth groundwater flow model (recently developed 
as part of the Plymouth saltwater intrusion study) to simulate surface-water/groundwater 
interactions in the Savery Pond System. The goal of this effort would be to develop a tool to 
allow the predictive investigation of alternative management scenarios and their effect on pond 
and groundwater levels. A calibrated model would update elements of any watershed plans, 
such as estimated groundwater flushing (i.e. dilution of nutrient loading and impacts on pond 
temperature) and “zone of contribution” of groundwater to ponds. Similar methodology 
developed for the Savery Pond modeling study could be applied to other ponds of interest in the 
Town of Plymouth  
 
Deliverables:  
A technical report describing objectives, methods, and results including digital files from the 
calibrated model and predictive scenarios and related metadata. 
 
Scope: 

1. Review existing information about Savery Pond groundwater, surface water, and water 
quality including: 

a) Hydrologic data compiled by Savery Pond Conservancy (SPC), including 
surveyed groundwater elevations, outlet stream elevation, time-series streamflow 
measurements and time-series pond level measurements 

b) Water-quality data compiled by SPC and Town of Plymouth Department of 
Marine and Environmental Affairs (DMEA) to better understand nutrient loading 
issues 

c) Information from neighboring Town wells (construction, geologic logs, pumping 
history, predicted future withdrawals) 

d) Hydrologic interpretation presented in SPC technical reports, including water 
levels & streamflow” (2019), “East Bog” characterization (2020), and bathymetric 
survey (2017) 

e) Savery Pond Watershed Plan (TMDL Solutions, 2022) and other relevant 
documents 

2. In-person tour/kickoff meeting and Scope Refinement 
a) Pond tour presented by SPC and DMEA to observe key hydrologic features  
b) Kickoff meeting with DMEA and SPC to: 

102



i. Ensure that all available data have been identified 
ii. Understand stakeholder concerns 
iii. Discuss realistic predictive modeling scenarios  

c) Scope revision as needed 
3. Refine the model grid locally to obtain increased resolution 

a) Increase resolution of grid 
b) Update model representations of pond and streams using U.S. Geological 

Survey “MODFLOW” modeling packages, such as “streamflow routing” and 
“lake” packages 

c) Update modeled local aquifer occurrence and properties  
4. Calibration to documented conditions 

a) Adjust model parameters using PEST to improve model fit to local conditions and 
define sensitivity of model results to reasonable ranges of model parameters 

5. Predictive model scenarios 
a) Investigate influence of nearby pumping on pond flushing and stream outflow 
b) Evaluate how lowering the outlet elevation of the stream would affect pond 

flushing and stream outflow (short term and long term) 
c) Preliminary exploration on how changes in groundwater flushing of the pond 

could affect the nutrient (phosphorus) balance and pond temperatures 
6. Technical memorandum  

a) Draft technical memorandum 
b) Web meeting to receive comments 
c) Document finalization  

7. Project Management 
a) Contracting and invoicing 
b) Model progress check-in web meetings (2) 
c) Provision of digital deliverables with metadata 

 
Costs for Savery Pond Scope: 

A. Direct costs ($34,800) 
 Postdoctoral Groundwater Modeler: $27,000 
 Research Technician: $5,000 
 Model License: $2,000 
 Travel to field site: $800 

 
Direct costs to be split by DMEA ($32,800) and SPC ($2,000) 
 

B. In-Kind Contributions ($6,500) 
 Dr. Boutt: $3,500 
 SPC (data compilation and applied model simulations performed by licensed 

hydrogeologist [Peter Schwartzman]): $3,000 
 
 

103



TOWN OF PLYMOUTH CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN REQUEST
FY2 TOWN MEETING

Department: Priority #:

Project Title and Description:
Total 

Project Cost:

Department/Division Head:

Check if project is: New Resubmitted Cost estimate was developed:  Internally Externally 

For project re-submittals, list prior year(s):

List any funding sources and amounts already granted: _________________________________________________________  
_________________________________________________________________________________________________________
_________________________________________________________________________________________________________

Basis of Estimated Costs (attach additional information if 
available)

If project has impact on 5 Year Plan and future 
operating budgets, insert estimated amounts.

Capital: Cost Comments
Fiscal 
Year: Capital

Operations &
Maintenance

Planning and Design FY23

Labor and Materials FY24

Administration FY25

Land Acquisition FY26

Equipment FY27

Other

Contingency

Total Capital

Project Justification and Objective:  ___________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________________________________

For Capital Project Requests:
Will this project be phased over more than one fiscal year? If yes, enter it on the 5 Year Plan Yes No 
Can this project be phased over more than one fiscal year? Yes No 

For Capital Equipment Requests:
Check if equipment requested is replacement and enter the year, make & model, VIN and present condition of existing equipment 

What is the expected lifespan of this new/replacement equipment: ________________________________________________

Attach backup information, estimates, or justification to support this request.

Marine and Environmental Affairs 4
Design of Dark Orchard All Persons Trail $16,103

David Gould

Environmental Affairs Fund

$16,103

$16,103
The project is to design and permit an all persons trail in Jenney Park. This allows for easy access, 

parking and proximity to all types of trail users. It would be the first of its kind trail on town land and connect to existing ADA paths and sidewalks. 

■

■

104



TTimber & Stone, LLC    4764 Center Road, East Montpelier, VT  05651     802-522-9856     TimberandStonellc.com 

January 23, 2023 

Nathan J. Cristofori, PWS 
Natural Resources Specialist 
Division of Natural Resources 
Town of Plymouth 
26 Court Street 
Plymouth, MA 02360 

Nate, 

Thank you for considering Timber & Stone, LLC’s proposal for the design of the Dark Orchard Preserve 
Trail in Plymouth, MA.  This project involves many technical design elements that pair well with our 
construction talents.  We would welcome the chance to work alongside your department to be sure the 
final design is both sustainable to the environment while also being experiential for the public. 

As you may know, Timber & Stone, LLC is a trail planning, design, and construction business based in 
East Montpelier, VT.  Over the years, we have successfully provided trail design and construction 
expertise to land management agencies located throughout the Northeast and Central US.  Our recent 
accessible trail design and construction projects have included a trail system for The Nature 
Conservancy located in Monkton, VT, an accessible trail and viewing platform located within 
Smugglers Notch State Park, VT and an accessible boardwalk and pathway for the Town of Meredith, 
NH.    

This design project will involve pinpointing the alignment of the trail and boardwalk, installing test piles 
to determine proper depth and torque for the boardwalk foundations, calculating material quantities, and 
developing a thorough report for use with fundraising and permit applications.  Construction costs, 
schematic designs of all structures, and a detailed description of the trail’s character will also be 
included.  Should your department require structural engineering that is stamped, we can collaborate 
with an engineer on those details, but their fees and our consultation would be an additional expense. 

Nate, thank you for your serious consideration of Timber & Stone, LLC’s proposal for the design of the 
Dark Orchard Preserve Trail.  We are highly motivated to include this work within our 2023 Trail 
Season.   

Please contact me with any questions related to this introductory letter or the attached material.  

Onward, 

Josh Ryan 
Trail Designer / Builder 

Onward,

Josh Ryan
Trail Designer / Bu

105



 

TTimber & Stone, LLC    4764 Center Road East Montpelier, VT, 05651   802-522-9856   TimberandStonellc.com 

 
Dark Orchard Trail Assessment and Design – Plymouth, MA 

Task 1: Project Kick-off and Initial Site Assessment 

Scope: Attend (1) Project Kick-Off meeting in Plymouth, MA and perform site assessment.  Finalize trail 
alignment, inventory and measure trail structures, and photo document trail alignment. 

Cost Summary: 
Item Description Unit Cost Per Unit Total 

Meeting and Fieldwork – Level I Trail Designer 10 Hours $     150.00 $ 1,500.00 
Roundtrip Travel – Level I Trail Designer  8  Hours $       85.00 $    680.00 
Meeting and Fieldwork – Level II Trail Designer 10 Hours $     125.00 $ 1,250.00 
Roundtrip Travel – Level II Trail Designer 8 Hours $       85.00 $    680.00 
Mileage – 2 Vehicles 900 Miles         $           .58 $    522.00 
Overnight Accommodations 1 Night $     350.00 $    350.00 
Memo and Correspondence 4  Hours $     150.00 $    600.00 
  Task 1 Total = $ 5,582.00 

Task 2: Test Pile Installation and Assessment 

Scope: Install 2 test piles for helical pile foundations.  Record torque values and coordinate with structural 
engineer for suggested torque values and depths. 

Cost Summary: 
Item Description Unit Cost Per Unit Total 

Fieldwork - Level I Trail Designer 12 Hours $     150.00 $  1,800.00 
Roundtrip Travel – Level I Trail Designer  8  Hours $       85.00 $     680.00 
Fieldwork - Level II Trail Designer 12 Hours $     125.00   $  1,500.00 
Roundtrip Travel – Level II Trail Designer 8 Hours $       85.00 $     680.00 
Equipment Delivery Mileage  450 Miles $         1.50 $     675.00 
Mileage – 1 Vehicle 450 Miles $           .58 $     261.00 
Equipment Rental   $     575.00 
Structural Engineer Fees   $  1,500.00 
  Task 2 Total = $  7,671.00 

106



 

TTimber & Stone, LLC    4764 Center Road East Montpelier, VT, 05651   802-522-9856   TimberandStonellc.com 

Task 3: Trail Report Assembly and Delivery 

Scope: Development of construction specification for all components of trail construction, assembly of trail 
photo pages and trail logs, final coordination of trail report and digital delivery to client. 

Cost Summary: 
Item Description Unit Cost Per Unit Total 

Trail Report Assembly - Level I Trail Designer 16 Hours $     150.00 $  2,400.00 
Memo and Correspondence 3 Hours $     150.00 $     450.00 
  Task 3 Total = $  2,850.00 

Total Project Cost = $ 16,103.00 * 

*Time estimates serve as a minimum level of participation by Timber & Stone, LLC.  Additional 
cost of consultation will revert to hourly rate as it relates to each task. 

107



 

TTimber & Stone, LLC    4764 Center Road East Montpelier, VT, 05651   802-522-9856   TimberandStonellc.com 

TIMBER & STONE, LLC  
Firm Overview 

Since 2004, Vermont based Timber & Stone, LLC has provided technical advice and construction 
expertise to land managers seeking to build or improve recreational trails. Conservation Minded 
Construction is the adage that guides our work. 

Our goal—sustainably built, multi-use trails that provide users with a safe and enjoyable outdoor 
experience. We work with a variety of clients and project sponsors—from municipalities to private 
landowners—on projects throughout the Northeast. 

Timber & Stone, LLC is dedicated to providing clients with professional, customized trail design and 
quality, conservation-minded construction.  Whether working independently or alongside volunteers, 
Timber & Stone, LLC is committed to making the trail construction process, from initial consultation to 
the final ribbon cutting, a rewarding experience for the entire community. 

WHAT WE BELIEVE 

Trails provide people with opportunities to recreate, educate, and contemplate.  

They are an essential component of our culture. Trails offer a safe and sustainable way to access wild 
areas. They are also a vital part of building vibrant community; offering a recreational outlet to the 
public. With thoughtful, informed consideration paid to design and construction, trails enhance the 
intrinsic value of natural areas to the human community. 

WHAT WE DO 

Trail Design. Construction. Education. 

For the last fourteen years, Timber & Stone, LLC has assisted clients—from municipalities to private 
landowners—in transforming their trail aspirations into reality. Our goal is to build safe, appropriately 
designed trails and pathways in a sustainable and efficient manner; trails that balance recreational 
needs while preserving the character and sanctity of the natural landscape. 

Simply put, we build trails that stand the test of time. 

Founded and based in Central Vermont, Timber & Stone, LLC has completed projects throughout the 
Northeast. We are available to work as a contracted crew or alongside volunteers, students, and 
stewards. With a keen eye to safety, we empower groups of volunteers by building skills and 
camaraderie while effectively managing the worksite to attain a high quality product. 

108



Barnes Camp Accessible Boardwalk (2017)
The Long Trail, Stowe, VT 

Overview: 
-600 foot elevated wetland boardwalk on a helical pile foundation 
system
-Multiple viewing platforms installed along this scenic section of 
the Long Trail

Contact:  
Tasha Wallis, Executive Director
Lamoille County Planning Commission
tasha@lcpcvt.org or (802) 888-4548

Camp Smith Accessible Trail (2016)
Little River State Park, Waterbury, VT 

Overview: 
-1/2 Mile accessible trail system with interpretive overlooks for 
public engagement
-Meanders through a historically significant former Civilian 
Conservation Corps encampment

Contact: 
Sue Bulmer, Northeast Parks Regional Manager
Vermont Department of Forest, Parks & Recreation
susan.bulmer@vermont.gov or (802) 476-0181

Bomoseen State Park Accessible Boardwalk (2016)
Bomoseen, VT

Overview:
-200 foot boardwalk supported by helical pile foundations and 
located within a sensitive wetland environment
-Decking and railing constructed of naturally rot resistant Black 
Locust and White Oak

Contact: 
Frank Spaulding, Parks Project Coordinator
Vermont Department of Forest, Parks & Recreation
frank.spaulding@vermont.gov or (802) 522-0798

Project Portfolio: Universally Accessible Trail Design and Construction

109



Reservoir Accessible Trail (2010, 2015)
Waterbury Center State Park, Waterbury, VT

Overview: 
-Constructed 1/4 mile accessible trail that allows access and 
viewing of the Waterbury Reservoir
-Installed connector paths allowing access to boat launch, 
swimming area, and picnic tables

Contact:
John Medose, Northeast Parks Facility Manager
Vermont Department of Forests, Parks & Recreation
john.medose@vermont.gov or (802) 426-3050

Eshqua Bog Accessible Trail and Boardwalk (2014-2015)
Eshqua Bog Natural Area, Hartland, VT 

Overview: 
-Design and construction of a 460 foot accessible boardwalk 
supported by helical pile foundations
-Multiple viewing platforms allows for photography and 
appreciation of rare wetland flora

Contact:
Lynn McNamara, Director of Stewardship 
The Nature Conservancy in Vermont
lmcnamara@TNC.org or (802) 229-4425

Shaftsbury State Park Accessible Trail (2015, 2017)
Shaftsbury, VT 

Overview:
-Design and construction of 100’ accessible boardwalk supported 
by helical pile foundations
-Upgrade of existing boardwalk to comply with accessible trail 
guidelines

Contact: 
Lisa Thorton, Stewardship Forester
Vermont Department of Forests, Parks, & Recreation
lisa.thorton@vermont.gov or (802) 777-7480

Mount A Accessible Trail (2014-2016)
Mount Agamenticus Conservation Area, York, ME 

Overview:
-Design and construction of a one mile accessible trail that 
navigates granite ledges and rock outcroppings
-Installed multiple boardwalks, bridges, and a 30’ circular 
observational platform

Contact: 
Robin Kerr, Conservation Coordinator
robin@agamenticus.org or (207) 361-1102

110



Entrance Bridge (2015/2016)
Birds of Vermont Museum, Huntington, VT

Overview:
-Design and construction of 100’ accessible elevated boardwalk 
and bridge supported by helical pile foundations
-This custom built structure serves as main entry point to museum 
facilities

Contact:
Erin Talmage, Executive Director
Birds of Vermont Museum
museum@birdsofvermont.org or (802) 434-2167

Front Bay Park (2012)
Wolfeboro, NH

Overview: 
-Design and construction of a one mile accessible 
trail system that borders Lake Winnipesaukee
-Design, construction, and installation of an 
accessible timber framed gazebo

Contact: 
Rob Houseman, Former Wolfeboro Town Planner
robert.houseman@hanovernh.org or (603) 640-3212

Long Beach Boardwalk (2013)
Barnstable, MA

Overview:
-Construction of 350’ accessible boardwalk that serves as 
public access to Long Beach
-Installed innovative foundation in beach ecosystem
Contact: 
Rebecca Nickerson, Project Manager
Town of Barnstable
508-790-6316

Longwood Gardens Trail System (2008)
Kennett Square, PA

Overview:
-Served as member of specialized construction crew that 
designed and installed this accessible treehouse and 
elevated ramp system

Contact: 
Eyrich Stauffer, Lead Design/Builder
Stauffer Woodworking
eyrich@staufferwoodworking.com or (802) 272-9535

111



Project Portfolio: Trail Assessment, Planning and Design 

Overview: For nearly a decade, Timber & Stone, LLC has prepared 
comprehensive trail design plans and reports for dozens of organizations 
and municipalities for properties throughout the Northeast.

Each of the document titles below indicates the completion of extensive 
field work. Foot-by-foot analysis of a trail is required in order to generate 
thorough construction and/or maintenance specifications for each site.

Enders Falls Trail Design
Prepared for: Connecticut Department of Energy and Environmental Protection
Granby, CT (2018)

Raven Ridge Natural Area Accessible Boardwalk and Trail Design 
Prepared for: The Nature Conservancy
Hinesburg, VT (2017)

Norwalk River Valley Trail Layout and Design 
Prepared for: Friends of the Norwalk River Valley Trail (NRVT)
Ridgefield, CT Section (2018), Norwalk, CT Section (2017), 
Redding, CT Section (2016) and Wilton, CT Section (2013)

Rock Point Trail Assessment and Design 
Prepared for: The Rock Point Center
Burlington, VT (2017)

Pine Island Cemetery Trail Design 
Prepared for: Norwalk Redevelopment Agency
Norwalk, CT (2017)

Ossipee Pine Barrens Accessible Trail Design 
Prepared for: The Nature Conservancy
Ossippee, NH (2017)

Lubberland Creek Accessible Trail Design 
Prepared for: The Nature Conservancy
Newmarket, NH (2017)

Marshall Conservation Area Trail Master Plan 
Prepared for: Town of Conway, NH (2016)

Hawkins Brook Nature Trail Accessible Trail and Boardwalk Design 
Prepared for: Town of Meredith, NH (2016)

“The trail layout and design document
Timber & Stone, LLC prepared was
thorough; sufficiently so, that is has 
given funders the confidence to make 
substantial contributions and was used to 
successively support permit applications.” 
-Pat Sesto, Chairperson
Norwalk River Valley Trail

112



North Branch Cascades Trail Assessment and Design 
Prepared for: The Vermont River Conservancy
Worcester/Elmore, VT (2016)

Mills Riverside Park Trail Assessment Plan 
Prepared for: Jericho/Underhill Park District
Jericho, VT (2016) 

Black Mountain Trail Assessment and Design 
Prepared for: The Nature Conservancy
Dummerston, VT (2015) 

Wiessner Woods Trail Management Report 
Prepared for: Stowe Land Trust
Stowe, VT (2015)

Birds of Vermont Museum Accessible Trail 
Prepared for: Birds of Vermont Museum
Huntington, VT (2014)

Shoreline Greenway Trail Maintenance Plan 
Branford, CT (2014)

Eshqua Natural Area Accessible Trail Design 
Prepared for: The Nature Conservancy
Hartland, VT (2013)

Burlington Multi-Use Trail Design 
Prepared for: Burlington Parks and Recreation
Burlington, VT (2013)

Sustainability Academy Multi-Use Trail 
Prepared for: Burlington Sustainability Academy
Burlington, VT (2012)

Front Bay Park Accessible Trail Design 
Prepared for: Town of Wolfeboro
Wolfeboro, NH (2011)

Maple Street Park Multi-Use Trail Design 
Prepared for: Essex Junction Recreation and Parks
Essex Junction, VT (2011)

Indian Brook Reservoir Trail Maintenance and Management Plan 
Prepared for: Town of Essex
Essex, VT (2010)

“Timber & Stone, LLC has been helping 
us to make our trail networks more
durable, accessible, and enjoyable for the
past decade. Their work is high quality
and well designed. It reflects a clear
understanding of what makes for a
positive and memorable recreational 
experience for the range of user groups 
and abilities that frequent our trails. ” 
-Kristen Sharpless, 
Conservation Program Manager
Stowe Land Trust

113



From: Town of Plymouth Open Space Committee Sept 5, 2023

To: Capital Improvements Committee

Select Board

Advisory and Finance Committee

Committee of Precinct Chairs

To All Concerned,

This is a letter of support for the proposal submitted by the Department of
Marine and Environmental Affairs to the Fall 2023 Town Meeting to begin
the design and permitting process for:

A new trail around Jenney Pond which would enable the walkers to explore
the back of Jenney Pond in an area historically named “Dark Orchard,”
and, by connecting along Newfield Street and over the wooden foot bridge,
make a nearly full circuit of the Pond. The trail will have some features of
an “All Persons Trail,” meaning that it would be accessible to the general
public and partially accessible to people having disabilities. There are a
number of unique features of this route, including planned boardwalks
passing through vegetated wetlands, by an active spring, offering water
views, and a closer experience of the birds and other animals living in the
pond. People of limited mobility, small children, the elderly, the vision
impaired would all be well served by this trail for All Persons.

This planned trail presents yet another opportunity for healthful recreation
and beautiful vistas in the heart of the downtown.

The Open Space Committee urges that all concerned join in supporting this
exciting project.

Diane Peck

Vice Chair OSC

114



 

August 30, 2023 

 

To Whom It May Concern: 

 

I am submitting this letter in support of Marine and Environmental Affairs FY24 Fall Annual Town 
Meeting Capital Improvement Request, “Design of Dark Orchard All Persons Trail.”  The project funding, 
in the amount of $16,103 is to design and permit an All Persons Trail in Jenney Park.  

 The All Persons Trail is the first of its kind on town land in Plymouth and is a progressive step towards 
inclusion and equity in allowing ease of access with All Persons Features for all residents and visitors to 
enjoy the beauty of this trail and its connectivity to ADA paths and sidewalks. 

As the Director of Elder Affairs and Chair of the Select Board appointed Senior Task Force, I 
wholeheartedly endorse this groundbreaking project.  The Senior Task Force is actively seeking a formal, 
state endorsed Age and Dementia Friendly Designation for the Town of Plymouth. A healthy Age and 
Dementia Friendly Community provides “An inclusive and accessible community environment that 
optimizes opportunities for health, participation and security, promotes respect and inclusion for all ages, 
enables people of all ages and abilities to participate in activities, fosters meaningful connections in the 
community, and provides opportunities for meaningful engagement in accessible environments for those 
living with Dementia and their caregivers.” 

An All Persons Trail is designed to provide an inclusive outdoor experience for all ages, including those 
with walkers, canes, wheelchairs, and strollers.  The All Persons Trail is a universally accessible trail that 
aims to break down barriers to the outdoors.  Features could incorporate a multitude of seating areas for 
rest and enjoyment of surroundings, a wide, flat obstacle free path, and secure handrails to assist those 
needing mobility support while enjoying nature and the natural beauty of Plymouth.   

Forty percent of Plymouth residents are aged 55 plus, and an All Persons Trail would be a perfect integral 
project that is thoughtful in design and incorporates the tenets of an Age and Dementia Friendly 
Plymouth Community.  I hope you will consider supporting this important request at Fall Town Meeting. 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

Michelle Bratti 

Director of Elder Affairs/Center for Active Living 

Town of Plymouth 

 

 

 

           Michelle Bratti

115



116



117



118



TOWN OF PLYMOUTH CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN REQUEST
FY2 TOWN MEETING

Department: Priority #:

Project Title and Description:
Total 

Project Cost:

Department/Division Head:

Check if project is: New Resubmitted Cost estimate was developed:  Internally Externally 

For project re-submittals, list prior year(s):

List any funding sources and amounts already granted: _________________________________________________________  
_________________________________________________________________________________________________________
_________________________________________________________________________________________________________

Basis of Estimated Costs (attach additional information if 
available)

If project has impact on 5 Year Plan and future 
operating budgets, insert estimated amounts.

Capital: Cost Comments
Fiscal 
Year: Capital

Operations &
Maintenance

Planning and Design FY23

Labor and Materials FY24

Administration FY25

Land Acquisition FY26

Equipment FY27

Other

Contingency

Total Capital

Project Justification and Objective:  ___________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________________________________

For Capital Project Requests:
Will this project be phased over more than one fiscal year? If yes, enter it on the 5 Year Plan Yes No 
Can this project be phased over more than one fiscal year? Yes No 

For Capital Equipment Requests:
Check if equipment requested is replacement and enter the year, make & model, VIN and present condition of existing equipment 

What is the expected lifespan of this new/replacement equipment: ________________________________________________

Attach backup information, estimates, or justification to support this request.

Sewer Division 2
Infrastructure Improvements $200,000

Doug Pinard

$200,000

200,000
This appropriation of funds will give the Town of Plymouth Sewer Division the ability to pay invoices for contractor(s) for

emergency services related to 24-hour, 7-days per week, on-call emergency services to repair and or replace sewer infrastructure in the Town of Plymouth.

■

■

119



120



TOWN OF PLYMOUTH CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN REQUEST FORM 

FY24 ANNUAL FALL TOWN MEETING REQUEST FORM 

 

Department:   WATER DIVISION  One 

Project Title and Description: 

WATER INFRASTRUCTURE 

IMPROVEMENTS 

Total  

Project Cost: $100,000.00 

 

Department/Division Head:  

 

Cost estimate was developed:  Internally      Externally   

 

 

Basis of Estimated Costs (attach additional information if 

available)  

If project has impact on 5 Year Plan and future 

operating budgets, insert estimated amounts. 

Capital: Cost Comments 

Fiscal 

Year: Capital O & M 

Planning and Design 
 

  

FY23 
 

  

Labor and Materials 
$100,000.00 

  

FY24 
 

  

Administration 
 

  

FY25 
 

  

Land Acquisition 
 

  

FY26 
 

  

Equipment 
 

  

FY27 
 

  

Other 
 

 

Contingency 
 

 

Total Capital 
$100,000.00 

 

 

Possible sources and amounts of funding, if known: _______________________________________________________________ 

 

Project Justification and Objective: __ This appropriation of funds will give the Town of Plymouth Water Division the ability to 

pay invoices for contractor/s for emergency services related to 24-hour, 7-days per week, on-call emergency services to repair and or 

replace, water infrastructure in the Town of Plymouth. 

___________________________________________________________________________________________________________  

 

For Capital Project Requests: 

Will this project be phased over more than one fiscal year? If yes, enter it on the next 5 Year Plan Yes         No   

Can this project be phased over more than one fiscal year?     Yes         No   

 

For Capital Equipment Requests: 

   Check if equipment requested is replacement and enter the year, make & model, VIN and present condition of existing equipment  

              

 

        

Attach additional information, estimates, or justification.  

Peter Gordon 

 

121



122



ARTICLE 5: 
 
ARTICLE 5: Bylaw Amendment.  
To see if the Town will vote to amend its General Bylaw, Chapter 137, “PROPERTY MAINTENANCE,” as 
provided below with strikethrough language to be deleted and underlined language to be added: 

 

Chapter 137 

PROPERTY MAINTENANCE 

Blight/Nuisances on Property 

 

§ 137-1. Premises where building has been torn down.  

[HISTORY: Adopted by the Annual Town Meeting of the Town of Plymouth 4-16-1974 by Art. 58 as Art. 
5, Sec. 5.13 of the 1974 Bylaws. Amendments noted where applicable.]  

§ 137-1. Premises where building has been torn down.  

The Selectmen shall require the owner of the premises from which any building has been removed or torn down 
to have said premises put in good, presentable and safe condition and require said owner to erect a suitable 
barrier, all to be done to their satisfaction within 30 days after notice, in writing, to said owner. 

§ 137-1. Purpose and Intent 

It is the purpose and intent of this section to minimize nuisances in the municipality. Nuisances, such as 
dilapidated buildings, structures including fences, graffiti, overgrowth, debris, trash, stagnant pools of water, 
property having defective weather protection and vacant or abandoned buildings, cause and contribute to blight 
within neighborhoods and commercial areas of the municipality and adversely affect the property values for 
adjacent and surrounding property. Such nuisances on property also impair the public health and safety. This 
bylaw is intended to further the objectives of and to act in concert with any existing state or local laws.  

§ 137-2. Definitions 

The following words and phrases, when used in this bylaw, shall have the following meanings: 

 Enforcement Authority- the Director of Inspectional Services or his or her designee, Health 
 Director or his or her designee, Fire Chief or his or her designee 

 Graffiti- the intentional painting, marking, scratching, coloring, tagging or other defacement of  any 
property without the consent of the owner.  

 Nuisance- a failure to satisfy any one or more of the property standards set forth in §137-3. 

 Owner- any person who owns, manages, or controls any property and shall be sufficiently   
 identified by the name and address appearing in the records of the municipal assessor.  

123



 Person- any individual, voluntary association of individuals, business, entity, organization   
 whether incorporated or not.  

 Property- any land, building, structure of real property, including any fixtures attached thereto,   
 or any personal property located within the Town of Plymouth.  

§ 137-3. Property Standards 

All property, whether occupied or vacant, shall be maintained in good repair and a safe and sanitary condition as 
provided herein, so as to not cause or contribute to the creation of a hazardous or blighted area or to affect 
adversely the public health and safety or property value of adjacent or surrounding property. All property in the 
Town of Plymouth shall be maintained in the accordance with the following property standards:  

(a) Overgrowth- All property shall be maintained free of vegetation that is or may reasonably become 
infested with rodents, vermin, or other animals, conceal pools of stagnant water, or create a fire safety 
hazard as determined by the fire official. All property shall be kept free of overgrown, decayed, dead, 
or hazardous trees, shrubs, or any other vegetation that possess a hazard to the health and safety of 
any person in the vicinity of the property, including any persons traveling on any portion of any 
public way, or any surrounding property. This section does not apply to any vegetation growth 
associated with agricultural use.  

(b) Structures- All structures, including any buildings, fences, storage sheds, or any element thereof 
shall be maintained in a structurally sound condition and in good repair as determined by the 
enforcement authority, including proper weather protection and waterproofing, and shall be 
maintained in a condition so as to not cause or contribute to creation of a fire safety hazard as 
determined by the fire official. All property with siding and roof covering shall be maintained in a 
weather resistant and watertight condition as determined by the enforcement authority. Any building 
or structure sustaining damage due to a fire, natural disaster, or any other incident and determined by 
the enforcement authority to be a nuisance may cause the nuisance to be removed as provided in 
MGL c. 139 at the owner’s expense or as provided in § 137-4. 

(c) Accumulation of Trash, Rubbish or Debris- All property shall be maintained in a clean and 
sanitary manner and free from the accumulation of litter, rubbish, trash, or other debris, except in 
closed receptacles intended for such use. 

(d) Pools of Stagnant Water- All property shall be maintained to prohibit the formation of stagnant 
pools of water, which may adversely affect the public health by attracting and harboring mosquitoes 
and other insects.  

(e) Graffiti- All private property shall be maintained free from graffiti as defined in § 137-2. This section 
shall not apply to municipal property, property owned and operated by a state or federal agency.  

(f) Other: Determinations made by an Enforcement Officer or his/her designated agents, that the 
building, structure, or parcel of land is in a condition which poses a serious nuisance or serious threat 
to safety, health, and or/wellbeing of the Town of Plymouth. 

§ 137-4. Removal of Nuisance 

It shall be unlawful for the owner of any property in the Town of Plymouth to violate any one or number of the 
property standards contained in § 137-3 and any such property in violation shall be deemed to be a public 
nuisance. The enforcement authority shall declare the property a public nuisance and order the property owner to 

124



remove the nuisance within ten (10) days after service of the notice of the violation. Such notice shall be served in 
accordance with G.L. c. 111, § 124. The notice shall contain the following information: 

(1) The street address and description of the property sufficient for identification of the property. 
(2) A statement that the property has been declared a public nuisance because of the presence of a 

nuisance on the property.  
(3) A concise description of the conditions on the property that has led to the determination that the 

property is a public nuisance.  
(4) A statement that the nuisance shall be removed from the property within ten days from service of the 

notice and that if the owner fails to remove the nuisance within the time frame specified that the 
owner will be in violation of this bylaw and subject to the penalties described therein.  

 
§ 137-5. Violations 
 
If the owner fails to remove such nuisance within the timeframe provided in § 137-4, the enforcement authority 
may enter the property and remove or cause to be removed the nuisance and the owner shall be liable for any 
expense incurred by the town for such removal. If the owner refuses or neglects to pay any costs incurred by the 
town, the municipality may take any action to recover the sum expended as allowed by law including but not 
limited to a municipal lien of the property. 
This section may also be enforced by civil process, criminal process or by non-criminal disposition as provided in 
General Laws, chapter 40 § 21D. Each day on which a violation exists shall be deemed to be a separate offense 
and any person in violation of this section shall be subject to the following fines: 
 
  First violation:                                                              $ 50.00 
  Second violation:                                                         $100.00 
  Third violation:      $200.00 
  Fourth and each subsequent violation:   $300.00 
 
In addition to the penalties set forth above, the enforcement authority may seek an injunction from a court of 
competent jurisdiction to restrain any violation of this section. 
 
This section shall not apply to municipal property, property owned and operated by a state or federal agency. 
or take any other action relative thereto.   
INSPECTIONAL SERVICES 
 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval (10-1-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 5. Approval of this article will 
authorize the Town to adopt property standards for overgrowth, structures, accumulation of trash, rubbish, or 
debris, pools of stagnant water, graffiti and other determinations which pose a serious nuisance or serious threat to 
safety, health and/or well-being of the Town of Plymouth, authorize the Town to issue violations for failure to 
comply with the standards within 10 days of issuance of a violation, and to authorize the Town to remove the 
nuisance at the owners expense, or take any other action, to recover the sum expended as allowed by law 
including but not limited to a municipal lien of the property.  
 

125



126



 

 

MEMORANDUM 
 
 
TO:  Brad Brothers, Assistant Town Manager 
 
FROM : Nicholas Mayo, Building Commissioner 
 
DATE:  August 1, 2023 
 
RE:  Nuisance Bylaw- Article 5 
 
 
 The goal of this article is to reduce nuisances within the municipality. The nuisance bylaw 

will help support other jurisdictions such as the state building code, sanitary code, and fire 
code as well as assist with property blight and nuisance in a more effective and direct 
manner. Nuisances within neighborhoods and commercial areas of the municipality 
adversely affect the property values for adjacent and surrounding property and can impair 
the public health and safety of Plymouth residents.  

 
 
 
 

Town of Plymouth 
Department of Inspectional Services 

26 Court Street 
Plymouth, Massachusetts 02360 

508-747-1620 
Fax 508-830-4028 

 

127



128



ARTICLE 6: 
 
 
ARTICLE 6: Bylaw Amendment 
To see if the Town will vote to amend its General Bylaw, Chapter 166 by striking its entirety, as on file 
with the Town Clerk, or take any other action relative thereto. 
INSPECTIONAL SERVICES 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval Unanimous (11-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 6. Approval of this 
article will rescind the Town of Plymouth General By-law Chapter 166 Swimming Pools in its entirety. 
Town Counsel has determined that the 9th Edition of the Building Code supersedes the current bylaw, as it 
is written, and is more stringent with its requirements pertaining to swimming pools and spas thereby 
supporting the Article 6 Bylaw Amendment. 
 

129



130



 

 

MEMORANDUM 
 
 
TO:  Brad Brothers, Assistant Town Manager 
 
FROM: Nicholas Mayo, Building Commissioner 
 
DATE:  August 8, 2023 
 
RE:  Swimming Pool Bylaw- Article 6 
 
 
 
Please see the following language and attached back up for upcoming fall town meeting.  
 
To see if the Town will vote to rescind the Town of Plymouth General By-law Chapter 166 
Swimming Pools in its entirety or take any other action relative thereto.  
 
This bylaw is under the jurisdiction of the current state building code as referenced in the 
backup material.  
 
 
 
 

Town of Plymouth 
Department of Inspectional Services 

26 Court Street 
Plymouth, Massachusetts 02360 

508-747-1620 
Fax 508-830-4028 

 

131



 
 
        July 18, 2023 
 
Nick Mayo 
Director of Inspectional Services 
Plymouth Town Hall 
26 Court Street 
Plymouth, MA 02360 
 
Re: Plymouth Swimming Pool Bylaw Chapter 166 
 
 
Dear Nick, 
 
 Upon review of the Plymouth Swimming Pool Bylaw (Chapter 166 of the Plymouth 
Bylaws) and comparison with the 9th Edition of the Building Code, the Building Code is more 
comprehensive and more stringent with its requirements pertaining to swimming pools and spas. 
 

By way of example, the Town of Plymouth bylaw only addresses one definition whereas 
the building code contains numerous definitions regarding swimming pools and spas. There are 
many areas where specific requirements for spaces and limits on openings are delineated in the 
9th Edition of the Building Code but not in the existing bylaw. Further, the barrier requirements 
in the building code are specifically detailed and numerous in amount. The building code also 
deals with suction requirements, entrapment protection and specific access to above ground 
pools via ladders and the bylaw does not.  
 

The building code supersedes the current bylaw as it is written. If there is anything 
further that you need pertaining to this bylaw, please do not hesitate to reach out. 

 
 
       Regards, 
 
 
 
       Kathleen McKay 
 
 

 

132



ARTICLE 8: 

ARTICLE 8:  Master Plan Funding 
To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate, transfer from available funds, or borrow $430,000 
to conduct an update of Plymouth’s Comprehensive Master Plan, or take any other action thereto. 
PLANNING BOARD 

RECOMMENDATION: Approval $430,000 Unanimous (14-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 8. Approval of this 
article will authorize the Planning Board to contract consultant services to establish a master plan that 
addresses issues unique to Plymouth and includes implementation strategies for Town goals that are both 
measurable and trackable. 

133



134



Memo 
To:  Advisory & Finance Committee 
  Select Board 
From:  Planning Board 
Date:  July 6, 2023 
Re:  Plymouth Master Plan  
 
The Planning Board is pleased to present to Town Meeting this request to fund the next 
Plymouth Master Plan. 
 
The Plymouth Master Plan is intended to serve as guidance for Town leaders in enacting and 
implementing policies that reflect the goals and priorities of the entire community, not just a 
select few serving on Town boards or committees.  The current Plymouth Master Plan was 
adopted in 2006. While the sentiments and aspirations of that document are still relevant, its 
conclusions are based on outdated information, and it is missing critical mandatory sections.  
Recognizing the need address these areas, the Planning Board, in conjunction with the 
Master Plan Task Group, has developed a scope of services for the next Plymouth Master 
Plan, tentatively titled “Charting Plymouth’s Future Together” (see attached).   
 
The Master Plan Task Group interviewed numerous stakeholders, reviewed previous 
planning efforts, and studied a number of master plans from other communities.  Based on 
this work, and the invaluable professional guidance from Town staff and the Old Colony 
Planning Council, the Master Plan Task Group drafted the scope of services for the next 
Plymouth Master Plan.  It is important to note that unlike previous master plans, this scope 
of services requires a Plymouth Master Plan that addresses issues unique to our Town and 
includes implementation strategies for Town goals that are both measurable and trackable. 
 
The estimated cost of this effort is $500,000.  Thanks to Senator Susan Moran and our state 
delegation, the Commonwealth has already committed $70,000 to Plymouth.  Therefore, 
the Planning Board is respectfully asking for $430,000 from Town Meeting to complete 
the Master Plan. Once Town funding is in place, we will continue to explore additional 
grant opportunities to further reduce the cost to the Town. 
 
The process to complete the next Plymouth Master Plan will take between 1 ½ and 2 years.  
The update will have 10-year horizon, so as to be actionable without being overly 
speculative.  
 
In closing, the Planning Board looks forward to working with the entire community to 
establish a master plan with a vision for Plymouth’s future. 
 
Thank you. 

Planning Board 

135



Page 1 of 9 
 

CHARTING OUR FUTURE TOGETHER 
Town of Plymouth’s Comprehensive Master Plan 2025‐2035 

June 22, 2023 
 
OVERVIEW 

 
The Town of Plymouth (Town) seeks a qualified consultant or team of consultants (Consultant) 
to provide professional services supporƟng the development of a town‐wide, long‐range, 
comprehensive plan (Master Plan). CharƟng Our Future Together is the name established for 
this planning iniƟaƟve, emphasizing a collaboraƟve effort to collecƟvely move the community 
further toward a sustainable, healthy, inclusive, and prosperous future. 
 
INTRODUCTION TO PLYMOUTH 

 
Plymouth, known as “America’s Hometown,” holds a place of great prominence in American 
history and culture. The community is the oldest conƟnuously occupied English‐speaking 
seƩlement in the United States and has a rich Wampanoag tribal history. Conveniently located 
about 40 miles southeast of Boston, Plymouth is the largest municipality in MassachuseƩs by 
land area (about 100 square miles) and the second largest town by populaƟon (about 61,000 in 
2020).  The Town includes four Environmental JusƟce Block Groups. 
 
The Town’s natural beauty is one of its most appealing features, drawing visitors from near and 
far to explore its beaches, parks, and other scenic areas. This coastal community has many 
disƟnct geographical features, including one of only three Coastal Pine Barrens leŌ in the world, 
ecologically significant barrier beaches, and over 365 ponds.  As such, the Town is parƟcularly 
concerned with extreme climate‐related hazards, including coastal erosion and flooding. 
 
Once known primarily as a place of historical and archeological significance, Plymouth has 
become a year‐round desƟnaƟon for shopping, dining, and entertainment.  Plymouth Harbor, 
along with other waterfronts, remains an important economic hub for boaƟng, fishing, and 
tourism as well as an important natural resource supporƟng a diversity of plant and animal life. 
The Town has evolved into an all‐ages and all‐interests desƟnaƟon for local, naƟonal, and 
internaƟonal visitors alike. 
 
Plymouth has a strong Town Manager‐Select Board form of government. The legislaƟve branch 
consists of RepresentaƟve Town MeeƟng and the execuƟve branch is composed of the Select 
Board and Planning Board. AddiƟonally, the Town relies on a variety of ciƟzen‐led boards and 
commiƩees that help provide community input and guidance. Even with tradiƟonally low voter 
turnout, the town system is characterized by a high level of ciƟzen parƟcipaƟon, with regular 
town meeƟngs and public hearings providing opportuniƟes for residents to have a voice in local 
government.  In addiƟon, the community has a strong civil society with acƟve community 
organizaƟons, volunteer groups, and non‐profit organizaƟons working to address a variety of 
local issues and promote social, cultural, and economic well‐being.   
 

136



Page 2 of 9 
 

Plymouth conƟnues to be one of the fastest growing communiƟes in the Commonwealth. 
Historically, agriculture was a significant source of employment for Plymouth, especially the 
cranberry industry.  The 1960s and 70s saw the beginning growth of industrial and commercial 
bases, which remain stable today. The Pilgrim Nuclear Power StaƟon (currently being 
decommissioned), Plymouth's Industrial Park, and Camelot Industrial Park all developed during 
this Ɵme.  However, as cranberry prices have dropped that industry has declined, and many 
acres of formerly farmed land are being developed.  
 
Plymouth sƟll has significant amounts of open space, drawing in residents and developers.   
PopulaƟon projecƟons show conƟnued residenƟal growth in the coming decades. Increasing 
housing values (faster than inflaƟon) and new housing construcƟon at higher price points are 
displacing modest income households and accommodaƟng wealthier households. Plymouth is 
also seeing significant increases in its older populaƟon (age 55+), even outpacing the trend seen 
state and naƟonwide. Plymouth remains predominantly White (about 93%) but, like the 
surrounding region, is experiencing a modest increase in its LaƟno populaƟon. 
 
PLYMOUTH PLANNING 

 
Throughout the years, Plymouth has undertaken many planning efforts including topic focus 
plans at different levels (Appendix 1). Since adopƟng its first Community Master Plan in 1980, 
the Town has focused most of its planning efforts at Village Center level, which are unique areas 
of development, but share common features. The Village Center areas of Plymouth today 
include North Plymouth, Plymouth Center, West Plymouth, Manomet, and Cedarville.  Plymouth 
now needs to account for other emerging areas of residenƟal growth such as Pinehills and 
Redbrook, plus expansion of residenƟal development in the historically rural areas of Federal 
Furnace, Bourne Road, and Ellisville. AddiƟonally, it needs to factor in mulƟfamily growth which, 
in recent years, has been spurred by state mandates. 
 
The Town’s most recent master plan, Growing Smarter in Plymouth’s FiŌh Century, was 
approved in 2006 to cover the period through 2024. Therein, the Town sought to elaborate on 
the same two‐fold goal originally set by the 1980 Master Plan: 
 

 To achieve a balance of natural resource preservaƟon, residenƟal growth, economic 
development, and financial stability through the judicious use of land use controls that 
respect development rights, and 
 

 To ensure that future growth is responsive to a carefully considered assessment of the 
Town’s funcƟonal areas, including village centers, growth areas, rural areas, and 
environmentally sensiƟve areas 

 
 
 
 

137



Page 3 of 9 
 

CURRENT MASTER PLAN PROJECT GOALS AND OBJECTIVES 

 
The overall goal of this master planning process remains to balance the social, economic, and 
environmental needs and wants of the community of Plymouth while considering emerging 
concerns and changing condiƟons.  
 
The Master Plan must be completed in accordance with the requirements of M.G.L. Chapter 41 
SecƟon 81D; however, the Town emphasizes that it is seeking to create a final plan which is 
accessible, informaƟve, concise, and implementable, with a clear 10‐year vision forward for this 
community. 
  

 Consultants are discouraged from submiƫng boilerplate proposals for master plans that 
do not meet the expectaƟons set out herein. 
 

It is expected that the Master Plan will build upon exisƟng relevant plans, many of which are 
listed in Appendix 1. The Master Plan should highlight consistencies and inconsistencies 
between these other plans and the final Master Plan and make recommendaƟons on resolving 
any inconsistencies. 
 

 Consultants should produce extensive chapters only when necessary. The Town favors 
concise chapters for topics that other planning documents already cover in‐depth. For 
topics needing more planning, the Master Plan will serve as the overarching vision that 
will guide idenƟfied future planning needs. 

 
The Master Plan must be implementable, and the Town expects a strong secƟon addressing 
how the plan should be used, by whom, when, etc. To be implementable, recommendaƟons 
must be SMART (Specific, Measurable, Achievable, Relevant, and Time‐Bound). 
 

 Where appropriate, Consultants should make use of visuals in the Master Plan to 
communicate complex messages and strategies effecƟvely and efficiently. 

 
Public ParƟcipaƟon and Community Engagement 
 
This master planning process is expected to improve Town communicaƟon with residents and is 
seen by the Town and its Master Plan CommiƩee as an important opportunity to engage the 
community in meaningful conversaƟons about the future direcƟon of Plymouth. ‘Community’ 
encompasses residents, employers and employees, schools and other insƟtuƟons, community 
groups and non‐profit organizaƟons, regional enƟƟes, appointed and elected public officials, 
town staff, and others. True engagement of the community through open, transparent, inclusive 
processes as well as strong facilitaƟon that leads to the arƟculaƟon of a shared vision for the 
community are expected. The Town hopes such a process will lead to conƟnued civic 
parƟcipaƟon in implementaƟon, break down any silos in the community, and further build 
community trust.  To that end: 
 

138



Page 4 of 9 
 

 Consultants should make use of various good pracƟces resources to develop their 
engagement plan for this project; for example, the Metropolitan Area Planning Council’s 
(MAPC) community engagement resources1 and the Commonwealth’s MVP Toolkits2.  
 

 Consultants should consider how best to ensure equitable parƟcipaƟon so everyone may 
parƟcipate in the process regardless of access to transportaƟon, income level, disability, 
racial inequity, health status, or age. OŌen missing at the table in Plymouth are parents 
of school‐aged children and those aged 18 to 35, for example. The Town expects 
proposals to include engagement strategies that meet people where they are, not 
expecƟng them to only come to consultants. 
 

 Consultants should propose the best ways to encourage parƟcipaƟon, which could 
include incenƟves for community liaisons, providing transportaƟon to meeƟngs, 
translaƟng materials, etc. The Town is especially interested in proposals that include 
partnerships, subcontracts, and/or other arrangements with local acƟve community 
organizaƟons, volunteer groups, and non‐profit organizaƟons to meaningfully engage a 
diversity of residents in the master planning process. A non‐exhausƟve list of groups and 
organizaƟons in town is provided in Appendix 2. 
 

Consultants should not limit themselves to surveys and public presentaƟons. CollaboraƟve, 
parƟcipatory methods are encouraged when appropriate, especially when used to dive deeper 
into some of the key areas of interest noted further below. 
 

 The Town is especially interested in build‐out analyses combined with scenario‐planning 
as a method to explore and evaluate different possible future scenarios for land use in 
the community, and consequent potenƟal social, economic, and environmental impacts. 
 

 Technology is also encouraged when appropriate – soŌware and tools such as Bang the 
Table, MapƟonnaire, text surveys, and other technological opƟons should be considered. 
Social media and web‐based outreach will be important, but Consultants should not rely 
on online tools only. 

 
 Consultants should be clear in their proposals how findings from community 

engagement iniƟaƟves will be reviewed, prioriƟzed, and incorporated into the Master 
Plan. 

 
While each Plymouth resident holds a unique vision for their own future, there are common 
desires and concerns for the community that have been repeatedly expressed through various 
public meeƟngs and planning iniƟaƟves. In addiƟon to the required master plan topics, 
addiƟonal themes idenƟfied by the community shall be incorporated within the Master Plan: 

 
1 hƩps://www.mapc.org/our‐work/services‐for‐ciƟes‐towns/community‐engagement/#resources, accessed April 
20, 2023 
2 hƩps://resilientma.mass.gov/mvp/, accessed April 15, 2023 

139



Page 5 of 9 
 

 
 Land use decisions.  For every square foot of land in Plymouth, there are at least a 

handful of compeƟng needs and interests. What is the right balance for Plymouth when 
it comes to land conservaƟon, residenƟal development, and commercial/industrial 
development? Significant land use decisions will be made over the next decade, 
including possible reuse of decommissioned nuclear power plant land, the future of the 
cranberry industry and associated land holdings, and the strategy for Plymouth industrial 
lands. What can Plymouth do to maintain and increase control over land use decisions 
and/or guide development in line with the Master Plan vision? 
 

 Environmental protecƟon and climate resilience. The community is concerned about the 
impact of climate change such as coastal erosion and flooding as well as broader 
environmental protecƟon issues such as deterioraƟng water quality in the community’s 
iconic ponds, maintaining a sustainable supply of drinking water and protecƟng the Sole 
Source Aquifer, the impacts of earth removal, and more. Consultants are encouraged to 
address these issues in a standalone chapter, but environmental protecƟon and climate 
resilience should be fundamentally incorporated throughout the Master Plan. 

 
 Community character. Plymouth’s diverse natural and built landscapes include historic 

sites and neighborhoods, village seƩlements, waterfront harbors, rural landscapes, 
forests, pine barrens, coastline, ponds, streams, wetlands, and cranberry bogs. These 
landscapes define Plymouth’s character – how can they best be preserved? 

 
 Inclusivity. With changing demographics and housing development skewed toward 

wealthier incomes, how can Plymouth conƟnue to be an inclusive community serving 
the needs of all of Plymouth's diverse residents? 

 
 Property taxes. What impact will the acƟons recommended in the Master Plan have on 

property taxes that are already of concern to residents? How can costs be balanced with 
the vision, needs, and wants of the community? 

 
EXISTING REPORTS AND STUDIES ALREADY UNDERWAY 

 
Since adopƟon of its master plan, Growing Smarter in Plymouth’s FiŌh Century, in 2006, the 
Town has conƟnued to conduct planning efforts across a range of topics, such as addressing 
municipal climate‐related vulnerabiliƟes, housing, open space, redevelopment, water resources, 
and more. Some of these plans are current and should be incorporated into the Master Plan, 
but others may be outdated – needing to be addressed in more depth through the master 
planning process. 
 
Plymouth is currently updaƟng their Housing ProducƟon Plan and planning for compliance with 
the MulƟ‐Family Zoning Requirement for MBTA CommuniƟes. The Town would like to dive more 

140



Page 6 of 9 
 

in‐depth and holisƟcally into housing through the master planning process, parƟcularly with 
respect to land use decision‐making. 
 
The Town is also striving to address age and demenƟa concerns. AARP Age‐friendly 
CommuniƟes designaƟon has been achieved and an AcƟon Plan is currently being developed. It 
is expected that the Master Plan will include these themes throughout as well, aligning and 
complemenƟng the parallel work being done. 
 
The Town has several Village Center plans, as described in secƟons above. The master planning 
process should consider these as representaƟve of the goals of those regions of Town, but at 
the same Ɵme consider whether village‐based planning conƟnues to be an effecƟve approach 
for the community as a whole. 
 
The most recent significant update to the zoning bylaws was completed in 2019, aŌer several 
years of planning, community input, and review. This update was aimed at addressing some of 
the needs and issues in the community, including affordable housing, economic development, 
and environmental sustainability. Similarly, the most recent update to the subdivision control 
bylaw was completed in 2017, aimed at modernizing the subdivision process, improving the 
consistency and clarity of the bylaw, and aligning it with current state regulaƟons. The master 
planning process should review these updates and idenƟfy any acƟons necessary to further 
refine or expand these bylaws considering master plan process findings. 
 
SCOPE OF WORK 

 
The Town anƟcipates the master planning process to take up to two years from hiring of 
consultants to adopƟon of final Master Plan. Work is expected to begin early in 2024. The 
Consultant will submit a project schedule suitable to producing the expected deliverables. 
 
The Consultant will work under the guidance and day‐to‐day supervision of the Town’s Director 
of Planning and Development and will maintain regular communicaƟons with the Director. The 
Department of Planning and Development will support coordinaƟon of meeƟngs as needed, 
including posƟng public meeƟngs and aƩending as needed. Municipal staff will be closely 
involved, but the Consultant will be expected to devote the Ɵme needed to conduct research, 
write documents, produce materials, conduct outreach, and parƟcipate in meeƟngs as needed 
with town staff, boards, commiƩees, and the public. Due to staffing constraints, municipal staff 
will not be able to devote significant Ɵme to supporƟng, for example, public parƟcipaƟon 
beyond scheduling support; the Consultant should plan accordingly to ensure sufficient capacity 
to undertake all aspects of this extensive project. Consultants should consider in their proposals 
how best to incenƟvize and use volunteers from the community to support outreach efforts. 
 
The Town has formed a Master Plan CommiƩee that will conƟnue to meet monthly throughout 
the duraƟon of the master planning process. The Consultant is expected to aƩend these 
meeƟngs to provide progress updates and receive addiƟonal guidance as the project develops. 

141



Page 7 of 9 
 

The Director of Planning and Development will organize these public meeƟngs, which will be 
held either in‐person, virtually, and/or in hybrid format. 
 
The master planning process has been conceptually structured into two integral processes with 
three stages, as follows: 
 

  Process A 
Technical Work 

Process B 
Public ParƟcipaƟon 

Stage 1:  
Where We’re At 

1A: Review of exisƟng 
condiƟons 

1B: Development of public 
parƟcipaƟon plan 

Stage 2:  
Where We Want to Be 

2A: Development of plan 
elements 

2B: Development of community 
vision statement and goals; 
extensive public parƟcipaƟon 
process 

Stage 3:  
CharƟng Our Future 

3A: Development of 
implementaƟon plan 

3B: ConƟnued public 
parƟcipaƟon process; plan 
adopƟon 

 
1A: Review of ExisƟng CondiƟons 
 
The Town envisions that the project will kick‐off with research to establish exisƟng condiƟons 
and analyses of demographic and other community trends through review of exisƟng planning 
studies, interviews with municipal staff, and meeƟngs with the Master Plan CommiƩee. This will 
enable the Consultant to familiarize themselves with the community, idenƟfy common themes 
and contradicƟons, and begin to consider opƟons for the ulƟmate Master Plan document 
structure. 
 
1B: Development of Public ParƟcipaƟon Plan 
 
Alongside 1A, the Consultant is expected to develop an engaging web presence for the project 
that will evolve as the master plan process progresses. The Consultant should recommend in 
their proposals whether a website is best done through the Town’s official website or via a 
separate website. In either case, content will be developed and maintained by the Consultant 
throughout the duraƟon of the project. 
 
In addiƟon, in close consultaƟon with Town staff and the Master Plan CommiƩee, the 
Consultant will develop a Public ParƟcipaƟon Plan for implementaƟon during the master 
planning process. As part of this work, outreach materials, such as flyers and brochures, are 
expected to be developed with consistent branding. The Consultant is expected to develop the 
brand for CharƟng Our Future Together. 
 
 
 
 

142



Page 8 of 9 
 

2A: Development of Plan Elements 
 
Consultants are encouraged to propose a Master Plan structure they believe makes most sense 
for Plymouth. This may be the tradiƟonal, theme‐based chapter format or an alternaƟve beƩer 
suited to Plymouth’s needs. Although it may be tempƟng to have many chapters specific to 
topics in silo (e.g., Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion), Consultants are encouraged to include 
overarching topics across the whole master plan. A holisƟc, concise, usable plan is the aim. 
 
At minimum, the Master Plan must meet requirements in M.G.L. Ch. 41, §81D and align with 
the guidance included in this RFP. The Master Plan CommiƩee is expecƟng Environmental 
ProtecƟon and Resilience to have its own secƟon in the plan as well as be integrated throughout 
the whole plan. Other topics, which may be idenƟfied through the public parƟcipaƟon process, 
may necessitate their own secƟons as well.  
 
The final plan must include a summary that is able to stand alone as a high‐level, easy‐to‐read, 
visually engaging ExecuƟve Summary. 
 
2B: Development of Community Vision Statement and Goals, and Extensive Public 
ParƟcipaƟon Process 
 
While developing plan elements, the Consultant should be implemenƟng the Public 
ParƟcipaƟon Plan to develop a common vision and community goals for Plymouth. The vision 
should reflect the desired future state of Plymouth in broad and aspiraƟonal terms. The goals 
should idenƟfy outcomes sought by community members and stakeholders and serve as 
guidance for community planning and development efforts. The vision and goals statement 
should be available as a standalone document in addiƟon to being incorporated into the Master 
Plan. 
 
3A: Development of ImplementaƟon Plan 
 
Once the Vision and Goals Statement and Plan Elements have been draŌed, the Consultant will 
produce an ImplementaƟon Plan that should be able to be ‘pulled out’ from the Master Plan 
and used as a quick reference for acƟon. It should include the following: 
 

 List all SMART (Specific, Measurable, Achievable, Relevant, and Time‐Bound) acƟons 
necessary to achieve Master Plan goals and objecƟves. 
 

 Specifically idenƟfy criƟcal sites and topics needing future detailed study or planning and 
note what those studies or plans should aim to achieve, prioriƟzed in a logical, easy‐to‐
understand way, and include a schedule with target dates for implementaƟon. 

 
 IdenƟfy town officials and departments, or others, responsible for implementaƟon of 

acƟons. 
 

143



Page 9 of 9 
 

 IdenƟfy resource needs and opportuniƟes for the implementaƟon of acƟons, linking to 
the Town’s long‐range capital plans and operaƟng budgets when appropriate. 

 
For high priority acƟons, the Consultant shall provide examples of documents, ordinances, etc. 
as well as idenƟfy resources such as toolkits that may support implementaƟon. 
 
3B: ConƟnued Public ParƟcipaƟon and Plan AdopƟon 
 
The public parƟcipaƟon process shall include acƟviƟes and public engagement through 
adopƟon of the final Master Plan by the Planning Board and acceptance by the Select Board and 
Town MeeƟng. 
 
Deliverables 
 
1. Website 
2. Public ParƟcipaƟon Plan 
3. Vision and Goals Statement 
4. ExecuƟve Summary 
5. Master Plan 
6. ImplementaƟon Plan 
 
All documents shall be provided electronically to the Town in editable format as well as 
searchable PDF formats. This includes all Deliverables as well as materials used for public 
parƟcipaƟon, including slides, posters, maps, etc. Geographic data underlying all maps shall also 
be provided in an electronic format compaƟble with the Town’s soŌware. Any example bylaws, 
regulaƟons, and/or policies as may be recommended in the Master Plan should also be 
provided. Twenty‐five bound copies of the final adopted Master Plan shall be provided at the 
end of the project. 

 

144



ARTICLE 9A: 

ARTICLE 9A: CPC Housing- Habitat for Humanity 
To see if the Town will vote to appropriate from Fiscal Year 2024 Community Preservation Act estimated 
revenues, Community Preservation reserves or other available funds the sum of $100,000.00 as a grant to 
the Habitat for Humanity of Greater Plymouth for the purposes of constructing a single family home 
pursuant to G.L. c. 44B, §12 and G.L. c. 184, §§ 31-33 with deed restricted affordable housing on the 
property located at 47 Indian Avenue, Plymouth, Massachusetts, Lot 233, Plot 000, Assessors Map 048-
054-233-000 and further to authorize the Select Board to enter into a grant agreement with the Habitat for 
Humanity of Greater Plymouth for such purposes, and to accept the affordable housing restriction, or take 
any other action relative thereto. 
COMMUNITY PRESERVATION COMMITTEE 

RECOMMENDATION: Approval $100,000 Unanimous (13-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 9A. Approval of this 
article will authorize a grant to Habitat for Humanity of Greater Plymouth for the purpose of constructing 
a single-family home at 47 Indian Avenue, with an affordable housing deed restriction. 

145



146



 

 
 

MEMO 
 
TO: Town Meeting, Board of Selectmen, and the Advisory & Finance Committee 
From: The Community Preservation Committee 
Date:    Friday August 4, 2023 
Re: ANNUAL FTM 2023: CPA Article 9A Habitat for Humanity Affordable Housing 
_______________________________________________________________________ 
 
ARTICLE 9A: To see if the Town will vote to appropriate from FY2024 Community Preservation Fund 
revenues or transfer from Community Preservation available funds or reserves, the sum of $100,000, to 
grant to Habitat for Humanity for of Greater Plymouth for the purposes of constructing a signal family 
home with a deed restricted affordable housing on the property located at 47 Indian Ave Plymouth 
Massachusetts, lot 233, Plot 000, assessors map 048-054-233-000 and further to authorize the Select Board 
to accept an affordable housing restriction pursuant to G.L. c. 44B, Section 12 and G.L. c. 184, Sections 
31-33 at 47 Indian Ave, Plymouth Massachusetts or take any other action relative thereto. 
COMMUNITY PRESERVATION COMMITTEE 
 
 
CPC RECOMMENDATION: Approval (unanimous) 
The Community Preservation Committee voted unanimously Article 9A at its meeting held Thursday 
August 3, 2023 
 
SUMMARY & INTENT:  
The Community Preservation Committee recommended article 9A for Fall Town Meeting 2023 for the 
construction of 1 units of affordable housing located at 47 Indian Ave, which has been turned over to 
Habitat for Humanity.  Habitat for Humanity is partnering with other funding sources to create the deed 
restricted signal family affordable home. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

TOWN OF PLYMOUTH 
COMMUNITY PRESERVATION 
COMMITTEE 

147



148



149



150



151



152



153



154



155



156



157



158



159



160



161



162



163



164



165



166



167



168



169



170



171



172



ARTICLE 9B: 

ARTICLE 9B: CPC Housing- Plymouth Housing Authority 
To see if the Town will vote to amend the vote taken under Article 9D of the 2019 Fall Annual Town 
Meeting by increasing the amount appropriated thereunder from Fiscal Year 2024 Community 
Preservation Act estimated revenues, Community Preservation reserves or other available funds the sum 
of $381,525.00 as a grant to the Plymouth Housing Authority for the purpose of acquiring an affordable 
housing restriction pursuant to G.L. c. 44B, §12 and G.L. c. 184, §§ 31-33 for three units of rental 
housing on property located in the former Oak Street School on Oak Street Plymouth, MA 02360, with 
any balance of funds left over after the renovation to revert back to the Community Preservation Fund, 
and further to authorize the Select Board to accept the affordable housing restriction, or take any other 
action relative thereto. 
COMMUNITY PRESERVATION COMMITTEE 

RECOMMENDATION: Approval $381,525 Unanimous (13-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 9B. Approval of this 
Article will authorize a grant to the Plymouth Housing Authority for the purpose of remodeling 3, 
affordable housing restricted, units located in the former Oak Street School on Oak Street. 

173



174



 

 
 

MEMO 
 
TO: Town Meeting, Board of Selectmen, and the Advisory & Finance Committee 
From: The Community Preservation Committee 
Date:    Friday August 4, 2023 
Re: FTM 2023: CPA Article 9B Affordable Housing: Plymouth Housing Authority 
_______________________________________________________________________ 
 
ARTICLE 9B: To see if the Town will vote to amend the vote taken under Article 9D of 
the Fall 2019 Annual Town Meeting by increasing the amount appropriated thereunder 
from FY2024 Community Preservation Fund revenues or transfer from Community 
Preservation available funds or reserves, the sum of $381,525, to grant to the Plymouth 
Housing Authority for the purpose of acquiring an affordable housing restriction pursuant 
to G.L. c. 44B Section 12 and G.L. c. 184 Sections 31-33 for 3 units of rental housing on 
property located in the former Oak Street School on Oak Street Plymouth, MA 02360, 
any balance of funds left over after the renovation would revert back to the Community 
Preservation Fund and further to authorize the Select Board to accept the affordable 
housing restriction, or take any other action relative thereto. 
COMMUNITY PRESERVATION COMMITTEE 
 
 
CPC RECOMMENDATION: Approval (unanimous) 
The Community Preservation Committee voted unanimously Article 9B at its meeting 
held Thursday, August 3, 2023. 
 
SUMMARY & INTENT:  
The Community Preservation Committee is recommending Article 9B to Fall Town 
Meeting 2023 to utilize CPA Affordable Housing Funds to grant to the Plymouth 
Housing Authority (PHA) for the remodeling the Oak Street into 3 restricted affordable 
housing rental units.  This is partnership with PHA, which would create much-needed 
affordable housing units in Town Down Plymouth.  The Plymouth Housing Authority 
will be required to qualify all tenants for each unit, maintain and manages the property. 
The units would be designs for seniors with special mobility requirements.  
 

TOWN OF PLYMOUTH 
COMMUNITY PRESERVATION 
COMMITTEE 

175



176



177



178



179



180



181



182



183



184



ARTICLE 9C: 

ARTICLE 9C: CPC Historical- Old Russell Library 
To see if the Town will vote to appropriate from Fiscal Year 2024 Community Preservation Act estimated 
revenues, Community Preservation reserves or other available funds the sum of $443,942.00 as a grant to 
The Plymouth Guild Inc., d/b/a Plymouth Center for the Arts for the restoration and rehabilitation and 
preservation of the historic Russell Library located at 11 North Street, including construction, repainting 
of the brick and mortar façade, roof and windows restoration including incidental and related expenses, 
and to authorize the Select Board to enter into a grant agreement with The Plymouth Guild Inc., for such 
purposes, which grant agreement shall include but not be limited to the requirement that the Town of 
Plymouth be provided with an historic preservation restriction in said property in accordance with  G.L. c. 
44B, §12 and meeting the requirements of G.L. c. 184, §§ 31-33 and to authorize the Select Board to 
accept such restriction, with such restriction being held under the care, custody and control of the Historic 
Commission or take any other action relative thereto. 
COMMUNITY PRESERVATION COMMITTEE 

RECOMMENDATION: Approval $443,942 Unanimous (13-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 9C. Approval of this 
Article will authorize a grant to the Plymouth Guild Inc. for the restoration, rehabilitation and 
preservation of the historic Russell Library located at 11 North Street. 

185



186



 

 
 

MEMO 
 
TO: Town Meeting, Board of Selectmen, and the Advisory & Finance Committee 
From: The Community Preservation Committee 
Date:    Friday Aug 4, 2023 
Re: ANNUAL FALL TM 2023: CPA Article 9C 
_______________________________________________________________________ 
 
ARTICLE 9C: To see if the Town will vote to appropriate from FY2024 Community 
Preservation Fund revenues or transfer from Community Preservation available funds or 
reserves, the sum of $443,942, to grant to The Plymouth Guild, Inc., d/b/a Plymouth 
Center for the Arts for the restoration, rehabilitation and preservation of the historic 
Russell Library located at 11 North Street, including construction, repointing of the brick 
and mortar façade, roof and windows restoration including incidental and related 
expenses, and to authorize the Select Board to enter into a grant agreement with The 
Plymouth Guild, Inc., for such purposes, which agreement shall include but not be 
limited to the requirement that the Town of Plymouth be provided with an historic 
preservation restriction in said properties in accordance with the G.L. c.44B, Section 12 
and meeting the requirements of G.L. c. 184, Sections 31-33, and to authorize the Board 
of Selectmen to accept such restriction, with such restriction to be held under the care, 
custody and control of the Historic Commission, or take any other action relative thereto. 
COMMUNITY PRESERVATION COMMITTEE 
 
CPC RECOMMENDATION: Approval (unanimous)  
The Community Preservation Committee voted unanimously of Article 9C at its meeting 
held Thursday August 3, 2023 
 
SUMMARY & INTENT:    
The intent of Article 9C is to use the Community Preservation Fund undesignated fund 
balance for the restoration, rehabilitation and preservation of the Center for the Arts the 
old Russell Library.  The agreement will be contingent upon an agreement to allow 
access for special Town of Plymouth use of the building free, which will require a request 
from the Board of Selectman an subject to availability. Also subject to free admission to 
the residents of Plymouth through Jan 2025.   
 
 

 TOWN OF PLYMOUTH 
COMMUNITY PRESERVATION 
COMMITTEE 

187



188



189



190



191



192



193



194



195



196



197



198



199



200



201



202



203



204



205



206



207



208



209



210



ARTICLE 9D: 

ARTICLE 9D: CPC Historical- Pilgrim Hall  
To see if the Town will vote to appropriate from Fiscal Year 2024 Community Preservation Act estimated 
revenues, Community Preservation reserves or other available funds or borrow the sum of $3,200,000, or 
any other sum, as a grant to Pilgrim Hall Museum for the preservation, rehabilitation and restoration of 
the Pilgrim Hall Museum located at 75 Court Street including all incidental and related costs, and further 
to authorize the Select Board to enter into a grant agreement with Pilgrim Hall Museum, for such 
purposes, which grant agreement shall include but not be limited to the requirement that the Town of 
Plymouth be provided with an historic preservation restriction in said property in accordance with  G.L. c. 
44B, §12 and meeting the requirements of G.L. c. 184, §§ 31-33 and to authorize the Select Board to 
accept such restriction, with such restriction being held under the care, custody and control of the Historic 
Commission, or take any other action relative thereto. 
COMMUNITY PRESERVATION COMMITTEE 

RECOMMENDATION: Approval $3,200,000 (9-4-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 9D. Approval of this 
Article will authorize the Town to borrow said funds to grant to the Pilgrim Hall Museum for the 
restoration, rehabilitation, and preservation of the Pilgrim Hall Museum located at 75 Court Street. 

211



212



 

 
 

MEMO 
 
TO: Town Meeting, Board of Selectmen, and the Advisory & Finance Committee 
From: The Community Preservation Committee 
Date:    Friday August 4, 2023 
Re: ANNUAL FALL TM 2023: CPA Article 9D 
_______________________________________________________________________ 
 
ARTICLE 9D: To see if the Town will vote to appropriate from FY2024 Community 
Preservation Fund revenues, transfer from Community Preservation available funds or 
reserves, or borrow the sum of $3,200,000, to grant to Pilgrim Hall Museum for the 
preservation, rehabilitation and restoration of the Pilgrim Hall Museum located at 75 
Court Street, including all incidental and related costs, and further to authorize the Select 
Board to enter into a grant agreement with the Pilgrim Hall Museum, for such purposes, 
which grant agreement shall include but not be limited to the requirement that the Town 
of Plymouth be provided with an historic preservation restriction in said properties in 
accordance with the G.L. c.44B, Section 12 and meeting the requirements of G.L. c. 184, 
Sections 31-33, and to authorize the Board of Selectmen to accept such restriction, with 
such restriction to be held under the care, custody and control of the Historic 
Commission, or take any other action relative thereto. 
COMMUNITY PRESERVATION  
 
 
CPC RECOMMENDATION: Approval (unanimous)  
The Community Preservation Committee voted 8 in favor 1 opposed of Article 9D at its 
meeting held Thursday August 3, 2023 
 
SUMMARY & INTENT:    
The intent of Article 9D is to use the Community Preservation Fund undesignated fund 
balance for the restoration, rehabilitation and preservation of Pilgrim Hall Museum. 
Pilgrim Hall Museum is the oldest Museum in North America and is Plymouth ‘s greatest 
repository of historical collections and archives. The restoration will help expand the 
potential and vitality of a nationally visible anchor institution, and will create economic 
and educational benefits for our community.  The Library is a unique gathering space for 
public programs, presentations, meetings and events. 
 
 

 TOWN OF PLYMOUTH 
COMMUNITY PRESERVATION 
COMMITTEE 

213



214



215



216



217



218



219



220



221



222



223



224



ARTICLE 9E: 

ARTICLE 9E: CPC Open Space- Land off Rocky Pond Road 
To see if the Town will vote to authorize the Select Board to acquire by purchase, gift, eminent domain or 
otherwise, for open space and recreational purposes pursuant to G. L. c.44B and to accept the deed to the 
Town of Plymouth, of a fee simple interest or of land located off 36 Rear Rocky Pond Road in the Town 
of Plymouth comprised of 50 acres, more or less, shown on Assessors Map 91, Lot 4B and including 
Assessor’s Parcel 091-000-004B-000, and further that said land be held under the care, custody and 
control of the Conservation Commission; and as funding therefor to appropriate $175,000 for the 
acquisition and other costs associated therewith from Fiscal Year 2024 Community Preservation Act 
estimated revenues, Community Preservation reserves or other available funds and further to authorize the 
Select Board to grant a conservation restriction in said property in accordance with G. L. c. 44B, §12 
meeting the requirements of G.L. c.184, §§31-33; and to authorize appropriate Town officials to enter into 
all agreements and execute any and all instruments as may be necessary on behalf of the Town to effect 
said purchase; or take any other action relative thereto. 
COMMUNITY PRESERVATION COMMITTEE 

RECOMMENDATION: Approval $175,000 Unanimous (13-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 9E. Approval of this 
Article will authorize the Town to purchase 50.2 acres of land located at 36 R Rocky Pond Road for Open 
Space, and to grant a conservation restriction on said property. 

225



226



 

 
 

MEMO 
TO: Town Meeting, Board of Selectmen, and the Advisory & Finance Committee 
From: The Community Preservation Committee 
Date:    Friday Aug 3, 2023 
Re: FALL SPECIAL TM 2023: CPA Article 9E 
_______________________________________________________________________ 
 
ARTICLE 9E: To see if the Town will vote to authorize the Select Board to acquire by 
purchase, gift, eminent domain or otherwise, for open space and recreational purposes 
pursuant to G.L. c.44B and to accept the deed to the Town of Plymouth of a fee simple 
interest in land located off 36 Rear Rocky Pond Road Plymouth in the Town of Plymouth 
composed of 50.2 acres more or less being shown on Assessors Map 91 lot 4B, parcel ID 
091-000-004B-000, said land to be held under the care, custody and control of the 
Conservation Commission; and further, to appropriate the sum of  $175,000 to undertake 
such acquisition; and to meet this appropriation raise this amount  from FY2024 
Community Preservation Fund revenues , or transfer from Community Preservation  
available funds or reserves; and further to authorize the Select Board to grant a 
conservation restriction in said property in accordance with G.L.c.44B, Section 12 
meeting the requirements of G.L. c. 184, Sections 31-33; and to authorize appropriate 
Town officials to enter into all agreements and execute any and all instruments as may be 
necessary on behalf of the Town to effect said purchase, or take any other action relative 
thereto. 
COMMUNITY PRESERVATION COMMITTEE 
 
CPC RECOMMENDATION: Approval (unanimous) 
The Community Preservation Committee voted unanimously to support Article 9E at its 
meeting held Thursday July 27, 2023 
 
SUMMARY & INTENT:  
The Community Preservation Committee is recommending the purchase of property off 
Rocky Pond Road.  The property is located at 36 Rear Rocky Pond Road The property 
has been use as cranberry bogs. The resources will return to wetlands to further protect 
the water resource in the area. The property surrounds Grassy Pond. The property 
contains a diverse mix of wooded upland and defunct cranberry bogs. It is within 
multiple areas designated as ecologically significant, including: a Coastal Plain Pond, 
Vernal Pool, Core Habitat, Rare Species, Aquatic Core Buffer area and directly adjacent 
to Priority Habitats of Rare Species and Wildlife. 
 

TOWN OF PLYMOUTH 
COMMUNITY PRESERVATION 
COMMITTEE 

227



228



229



230



231



232



233



234



235



236



ARTICLE 9F: 

ARTICLE 9F: CPC Open Space- Land Rocky Hill Road 
To see if the Town will vote to authorize the Select Board to acquire by purchase, gift, eminent domain or 
otherwise, for open space and recreational purposes pursuant to G. L. c.44B and to accept the deed to the 
Town of Plymouth, of a fee simple interest or of land located at 280 Rocky Hill Road in the Town of 
Plymouth comprised of 23.6 acres, more or less, shown on Assessors Map 43, Lot 18-C, and including 
Assessor’s Parcel 043-000-018C-000, and further that said land be held under the care, custody and 
control of the Conservation Commission; and as funding therefor to appropriate $1,210,000 for the 
acquisition and other costs associated therewith from Fiscal Year 2024 Community Preservation Act 
estimated revenues, Community Preservation reserves or other available funds, and further to authorize 
the Select Board to grant a conservation restriction in said property in accordance with G. L. c. 44B, §12 
meeting the requirements of G.L. c.184, §§31-33; and to authorize appropriate Town officials to enter 
into all agreements and execute any and all instruments as may be necessary on behalf of the Town to 
effect said purchase; or take any other action relative thereto. 
COMMUNITY PRESERVATION COMMITTEE 

RECOMMENDATION: Approval $1,210,000 (12-1-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 9F. Approval of this 
Article will authorize the Town to purchase 23 acres of land located at 280 Rocky Hill Road for Open 
Space, and to grant a conservation restriction on said property. 

237



238



 

MEMO 
 
TO: Town Meeting, Board of Selectmen, and the Advisory & Finance Committee 
From: The Community Preservation Committee 
Date:    Friday August 4, 2023 
Re: FALL TM 2023: CPA Article 9F 
_______________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
ARTICLE 9F: To see if the Town will vote to authorize the Select Board to acquire by 
purchase, gift, eminent domain or otherwise, for open space and recreational purposes 
pursuant to G.L. c.44B and to accept the deed to the Town of Plymouth of a fee simple 
interest in land located at 280 Rocky Hill Road in the Town of Plymouth composed of 
23.6 acres more or less being shown on Assessors Map 43 lot 18-C, parcel ID 043-000-
018C-000, said land to be held under the care, custody and control of the Conservation 
Commission; and further, to appropriate the sum of $1,210,000  to undertake such 
acquisition; and to meet this appropriation raise this amount from FY2024 Community 
Preservation  Fund revenues ,  or transfer from Community Preservation  available funds 
or reserves; and further to authorize the Select Board to grant a conservation restriction in 
said property in accordance with G.L.c.44B, Section 12 meeting the requirements of G.L. 
c. 184, Sections 31-33; and to authorize appropriate Town officials to enter into all 
agreements and execute any and all instruments as may be necessary on behalf of the 
Town to effect said purchase, or take any other action relative thereto. 
COMMUNITY PRESERVATION COMMITTEE 
 
CPC RECOMMENDATION: Approval (unanimous) 
The Community Preservation Committee voted unanimously to support Article 9F at its 
meeting held Thursday August 3, 2023 
 
SUMMARY & INTENT:  
The property contains a diverse mix of wooded upland, three district areas of terrestrial 
wetland, and extensive frontage on Cape Cod Bay. It is within multiple areas designated 
as ecologically significant, including: Coastal Natural Community Systems, coastal 
Forest, Maritime Forest, Maritime Shrub land, Coastal Bank, Beach Dune, Core Habitat, 
Vernal Pools, wetlands, Critical Landscape, Tern Foraging Habitat and Offshore Bio Map 
Elements, High Yield Aquifer Area, and lines above the Plymouth-Carver Sole Source 
Aquifer a resource that is the source of Plymouth’s drinking water. The property 
possesses approximately 738 of frontage on Rock Hill Road and over 900 feet of frontage 
on Plymouth Bay. 

TOWN OF PLYMOUTH 
COMMUNITY PRESERVATION 
COMMITTEE 

239



240



241



242



243



244



245



246



247



248



249



250



251



252



253



254



ARTICLE 9G: 

ARTICLE 9G: CPC Recreational- Hedges Pond Demolition 
To see if the Town will vote to appropriate from Fiscal Year 2024 Community Preservation Act estimated 
revenues, Community Preservation reserves or other available funds the sum of $157,500 for the 
demolition of buildings at Hedges Pond Recreational and Preserve off Long Pond Road including all 
incidental and related costs, to preserve recreation and open space; or take any other action relative 
thereto. 
COMMUNITY PRESERVATION COMMITTEE  

RECOMMENDATION: Approval $157,500 Unanimous (13-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 9G. Approval of this 
Article will authorize the Town to demolish and properly dispose of 7 buildings located at Hedges Pond 
Recreation Area, which pose both physical and environmental risks to the public, due to the presence of 
lead paint. 

255



256



 

 
 

MEMO 
 
TO: Town Meeting, Board of Selectmen, and the Advisory & Finance Committee 
From: The Community Preservation Committee 
Date:    Friday August 4, 2023 
Re: ANNUAL FALL TM 2023: CPA Article 9G 
_______________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
ARTICLE 9G: To see if the Town will vote to appropriate from FY2024 Community 
Preservation Fund revenues or transfer from Community Preservation available funds or 
reserves, the sum of $157,500 for the demolition of buildings at Hedges Pond 
Recreational and Preserve off Long Pond Rd including all incidental and related costs, to 
preserve recreation and open space; or take any other action relative thereto. 
COMMUNITY PRESERVATION  
 
CPC RECOMMENDATION: Approval (unanimous)  
The Community Preservation Committee voted 7 in favor 2 opposed of Article 9G at its 
meeting held Thursday August 3, 2023 
 
SUMMARY & INTENT:    
The intent of Article 9G is to use the Community Preservation for the demolition of 
cabins at Hedges Pond. The buildings have shown the presence of lead paint. 
 
 
 

 TOWN OF PLYMOUTH 
COMMUNITY PRESERVATION 
COMMITTEE 

257



258



259



260



261



262



263



264



265



266



267



268



269



270



ARTICLE 9H: 

ARTICLE 9H: CPC- Reduce Stephens Field Borrowing   
To see if the Town will vote to revise the funding sources and thereby amend the vote taken under Article 
16B of the 2015 Spring Annual Town Meeting for the restoration and rehabilitation of Stephens Field, as 
previously amended, by reducing the amount to be borrowed by a sum of money and appropriating a sum 
of money from Fiscal Year 2024 Community Preservation Act estimated revenues, Community 
Preservation reserves or other available funds for such purposes, or take any other action relative thereto 
COMMUNITY PRESERVATION COMMITTEE 

RECOMMENDATION: Approval $1,487,154 Unanimous (13-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 9H. Approval of this 
Article will authorize the Finance Director to use available Fiscal Year 2024 Community Preservation Act 
funds to reduce the final borrowing commitment for the restoration and rehabilitation of Stephens Field.  

271



272



 

 
 

MEMO 
 
TO: Town Meeting, Board of Selectmen, and the Advisory & Finance Committee 
From: The Community Preservation Committee 
Date:    Friday August 4, 2023 
Re: Fall ATM 2023: CPA Article 9H: Stephens Field Borrowing Reduction 
_______________________________________________________________________ 
 
ARTICLE 9H: To see if the Town will vote to revise the funding sources and thereby amend the vote 
taken under Article 16B Spring 2015 Town Meetings for the restoration and rehabilitation of Stephens 
Field as previously amended, by reducing the amount to be borrowed by a sum of money and appropriating 
a sum of money from Fiscal Year 2024 Community Preservation Act revenues or transfer from Community 
Preservation available funds or reserves for such purposes, or take any other action relative thereto. 
COMMUNITY PRESERVATION COMMITTEE 
 
CPC RECOMMENDATION: Approval (unanimous) 
The Community Preservation Committee voted unanimously to support Article 9H at its meeting held 
Thursday August 3, 2023. 
 
SUMMARY & INTENT:  
The Community Preservation Committee is recommending 9H.  This will allow the Finance Department to 
use available CPA funds ($1,487,154) before the final borrowing commitment for the renovations 
anticipated at Stephens Field. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

TOWN OF PLYMOUTH 
COMMUNITY PRESERVATION 
COMMITTEE 

273



274



ARTICLE 9I: 

ARTICLE 9I: CPC- FY24 Budget 
To see if the Town will vote to hear and act on the report of the Community Preservation Committee on 
the Fiscal Year 2024 Community Preservation Budget and to appropriate from the Community 
Preservation Fund Fiscal Year 2024 a sum of money to meet the administrative expenses and all other 
necessary and proper expenses of the Community Preservation Committee for Fiscal Year 2024, future 
appropriation amounts as recommended by the Community Preservation Committee: a sum of money for 
the acquisition, creation, and preservation of land for open space, and including restoration and 
rehabilitation of land for recreational use, a sum of money for acquisition, preservation, restoration and 
rehabilitation of historic resources, and a sum of money for the acquisition, creation, preservation and 
support of community housing, or take any other action relative thereto. 
COMMUNITY PRESERVATION COMMITTEE 

RECOMMENDATION: Approval Unanimous (13-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 9I. Approval of this 
Article will allow the Community Preservation Committee to allocate 10% of the estimated annual 
revenues of the Community Preservation Fund (CPA) for future spending in community housing. 
Additionally, 4% of the estimated annual revenues of the CPA will be set aside for funding administrative 
and operational expenses and an amount will be set aside for interest expense on debt. The balance of the 
annual CPA revenue will be held as a reserve balance which can be used for any CPA purpose at future 
Town Meetings. 

275



276



 

 
 

MEMO 
TO: Town Meeting, Board of Selectmen, and the Advisory & Finance Committee 
From: The Community Preservation Committee 
Date:    Friday August, 2023  
Re: FALL ATM 2023: CPA Article 9i: 2024 Budget/Account set-aside. 
_______________________________________________________________________ 
ARTICLE 9i: To see if the Town will vote to hear and act on the report of the 
Community Preservation Committee on the Fiscal Year 2024 Community Preservation 
Budget and to appropriate from the Community Preservation Fund Fiscal Year 2024 
estimated annual revenues a sum of money to meet the administrative expenses and all 
other necessary and proper expenses of the Community Preservation Committee for 
Fiscal Year 2024, and to set aside sums for future appropriation for the following 
purposes as recommended by the Community Preservation Committee: a sum of money 
for the acquisition, creation, and preservation of land for open space, including 
restoration and rehabilitation of land for recreational use; a sum of money for acquisition, 
preservation, restoration and rehabilitation of historic resources; and a sum of money for 
the acquisition, creation, preservation and support of community housing, or take any 
other action relative thereto. 
COMMUNITY PRESERVATION COMMITTEE 
 
CPC RECOMMENDATION: Approval (unanimous) 
The Community Preservation Committee voted unanimously in favor Article 9i at its 
meeting held Thursday August 3, 2023. 
 
SUMMARY & INTENT:  
The Community Preservation Committee recommends that 10% of the Fiscal Year 2024 
estimated annual Community Preservation Fund revenues be set aside for each of the 
following purposes: a) community housing, b) historic resources and c) open space, 
including land for recreational use; and further, that up to  5% can be use but the CPC is 
requesting 4% of the annual revenues in the Community Preservation Act Fund be 
appropriated for the purpose of funding the administrative and operating expenses of the 
Community Preservation Committee in Fiscal Year 2024 including legal and appraisal 
work, as well as signage, improvements for safe access, emergency historical protection 
for active applications and approved CPA projects.  It should be noted that any unused 
portion of funds appropriated for the administrative purposes of the Committee reverts to 
the CPA unallocated balance at the end of each fiscal year. 

TOWN OF PLYMOUTH 
COMMUNITY PRESERVATION 
COMMITTEE 

277



Fund Balances:

Balances 

6/30/2023 - CP2 

Fiscal 2024 

Estimated 

Revenues 

Remaining for 

Projects Articles FATM 2023 

FATM 

Reserves / Set 

Asides

Balances 

Remaining

Reserved for Open Space -                     -                  

Reserved for Community Housing 734,449.00         

 9A Habitat for 

Humanity - Housing (100,000.00)      403,907.00       656,831.00      

 9B PHA - Oak St 

Housing (381,525.00)      

Reserved for Historic Resources -                     -                  

2024 Estimated Annual Revenues 3,473,596.00  

 9C - Plymouth Guild - 

PCA - Historic Russell 

Library (443,942.00)      -                   -                  

 9E - Rocky Pond Rd - 

Open Space (175,000.00)      

 9F - Rocky Hill Road - 

Open Space (1,210,000.00)   

 9G - Hedges Pond 

Recreation Area - 

Recreation (157,500.00)      

 9H - Stephens Field - 

Recreation (1,487,154.00)   

Budgeted Reserve  Not Needed -                   

Unreserved - for any Purpose

Undesignated Fund Balance       1,373,299.64 1,373,299.64   

Grand Total 2,107,748.64      (3,955,121.00)   403,907.00       2,030,130.64   

Community Preservation Fund - Available Funds & Spending Recommendation

8/29/2023
Lynne A. Barrett

278



279



280



ARTICLE 10: 
 
 
 
ARTICLE 10: Land Donation 
To see if Town will vote to authorize the Select Board to acquire by gift, purchase or otherwise, and upon 
such terms and conditions as the Select Board deems appropriate, to accept a deed to the property located 
on Bourne Road being a portion of Lot A-16, in Plymouth, Massachusetts, for general municipal 
purposes, consisting of approximately 2.33 acres for general municipal purposes as shown on a plan of 
land on file with the Town Clerk, entitled Makepeace - Bourne Road - Proposed Fire Station, Prepared 
For: The Town of Plymouth, Prepared by: Scott Ludwig, Dated: July 8, 2023. Said land or interest to be 
managed by the Select Board, or take any other action relative thereto. 
SELECT BOARD 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval Unanimous (11-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 10. Approval of this 
Article will authorize the Town to accept the gift of land (2.35 acres) from A.D. Makepeace, located in 
the area of 220 Bourne Road for the purpose of a new Bourne Road Fire Station. 
 

281



282



283



284



1
00

0
1
00

2
00

M
ak

ep
ea

ce
 -

 B
ou

rn
e 

R
oa

d 
- 

P
ro

po
se

d 
F

ire
 S

ta
tio

n

P
la

n 
of

 L
an

d
in

P
ly

m
ou

th
, M

as
sa

ch
us

et
ts

P
re

pa
re

d 
F

or
: T

he
 T

ow
n 

of
 P

ly
m

ou
th

Sc
al

e:
 1

"=
10

0'
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  D
at

e:
Ju

ly
 8

, 2
02

3
P

re
pa

re
d 

 B
y:

 P
ly

m
ou

th
 D

ep
ar

tm
en

t o
f P

ub
lic

 W
or

ks
 - 

E
ng

in
ee

rin
g 

D
iv

is
io

n
Sc

ot
t T

. L
ud

w
ig

 R
.P

.L
.S

.  
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 T
ow

n 
Su

rv
ey

or

N
O

T
E

:
T

he
 p

ur
po

se
 o

f t
hi

s 
pl

an

L
oc

us
 M

ap
 - 

1"
=

30
0'

SH
E

E
T

 1
 O

F 
1

D
R

A
W

N
 B

Y
:

C
H

E
C

K
E

D
 B

Y
:

A
P

P
R

O
V

E
D

 B
Y

:

285



286



ARTICLE 11: 
 
 
ARTICLE 11: EV Charging Fund 
To see if the Town will vote pursuant to G.L. c.44, §53E ½ to establish a new revolving fund, to be 
known as EV Charging; and further, to amend General Bylaws Chapter 143: Departmental Revolving 
Funds, particularly §143-5, by inserting the underlined text in a new row at the end of the Table of 
authorized revolving funds, as follows, and, further, to establish a fiscal year expenditure limit of 
$200,000 for such fund, to be applicable from fiscal year to fiscal year unless amended by Town Meeting 
prior to July 1 in any fiscal year: 
 
 

A 
Revolving 

Fund 

B 
Department, Board, 

Committee, Agency or 
Officer Authorized to 
spend from the Fund 

C 
Fees, Charges or 
other Receipts 

Credited to Fund 

D 
Program or Activity 

Expenses Payable from 
Fund 

E 
Fiscal Years 

EV Charging 
 

Climate Resiliency 
and Sustainability 

Planner 

Any fees collected 
for use of the EV 

chargers 

This fund shall be used for 
electricity charges, 

equipment, and recurring 
network software costs 

Fiscal Year 
2024 and 

subsequent 
years 

or take any other action relative thereto. 
SELECT BOARD 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval $200,000 Unanimous (11-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 11. Approval of this 
Article will establish a new revolving fund, EV Charging, authorize the Town to charge a fee for 
the use of the public access EV Charging staions across the community, authorize the Town to 
use the fees collected to pay the costs associated with the electricity charges, equipment 
maintenance and recurring network software costs, and authorize the Town to set the FY24 
Spending Cap for $200,000. 
 

287



288



Page 1 of 2 

 

 

MEMORANDUM 
 
 

TO: Select Board  

CC: Derek Brindisi- Town Manager,  

       Brad Brothers- Assistant Town Manager,    

       Lynne Barrett- Director of Finance 

FROM: Mark Reil- Climate Resiliency and Sustainability Planner 

DATE:  8/8/23 

SUBJECT: Amending the General Bylaws to Create an EV Charging Revolving Account  

  (Article #11 and #12) 
 

 

 Since 2014, the Town of Plymouth has gradually added public access electric vehicle 

chargers across the community. This is a valuable service not only to residents, but also to the 

thousands of visitors that come to Plymouth each year. With exponential growth in electric 

vehicle drivers, we have seen a great increase in the use of our charging network. Historically, 

the Town has provided this service at no cost to the users. As of July 2023, the Town has started 

to charge for electricity use at cost plus a 20% premium. Additionally, there is a fee of $10/ 

hour for vehicles that remain parked at the charging station for more than 30 minutes after their 

vehicle has stopped charging.  

 

In the first partial month of establishing these fees, we collected over $2,000 from July 7th 

through the 30th. With this new revenue stream, there is a need for the creation of a revolving 

account to retain these fees. The fees collected will be utilized to pay the associated electricity 

bills as well as the required software subscriptions for monitoring. The collected fees are 

anticipated to cover future hardware maintenance and the expansion of the existing network as 

demand for public access charging increases. The recommended threshold for this revolving 

account is $200,000. This amount would be the estimated cost of replacing double the existing 

network hardware.  

 

The Town will continue to utilize all available State and Federal grant dollars, but having 

available funds through this revolving account will ensure that the program can sustain itself 

without having a direct impact to the Town budget. 

 

Please see attached chart on page 2 shows the rapid growth in use of our EV charging network 

in Plymouth. May, June and July of 2023 were the top 3 record use months since the 

establishment of the network.  

T O W N   O F   P L Y M O U T H 
OFFICE OF THE TOWN MANAGER  

26 COURT STREET, PLYMOUTH, MA  02360 

PHONE: (508) 747-1620 

WWW.PLYMOUTH-MA.GOV 

289



Page 2 of 2 

 

 

290



ARTICLE 13: 

ARTICLE 13: Conveyance of Tax Title Property to Parks & Forestry 
To see if the Town will vote to transfer the care, custody, management, and control of the parcels listed 
below from the Town Treasurer for tax title purposes to Parks & Forestry for open space and recreational 
purposes, and further to authorize Parks & Forestry to execute any and all instruments as may be 
necessary to effectuate the vote taken hereunder, as follows:  

Parcel ID Location Legal Reference Recording Date 
100-000-029-000 Billington Street Bk: 15751, Pg: 309 Dec 23, 1997 
100-000-051-000 Billington Sea Bk: 7580, Pg: 202 March 30, 1987 
100-000-052-000 Billington Sea Bk: 7580, Pg: 202 March 30, 1987 
100-000-053-000 Billington Sea Bk: 7580, Pg: 202 March 30, 1987 

or take any other action relative thereto. 
OPEN SPACE COMMITTEE 

RECOMMENDATION: Approval (9-4-1) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 13. Approval of this 
article will transfer the listed parcels from the Town Treasurer to Parks & Forestry for open space and 
recreational purposes. The parcels were taken by the Town through a tax lien proceeding.  

291



292



Memo 
To:  Brad Brothers, Assistant Town Manager 
From:  Plymouth Open Space Committee 
Date:  July 12, 2023 
Re:  2023 Fall Town Meeting – Article 13 

 
Please reserve the following article for the upcoming 2023 Fall Town Meeting: 
To see if the Town will vote to transfer the care, custody, management, and control of the 
parcels listed below as on file with the Town Clerk, from the Town Treasurer for tax title 
purposes to Parks & Forestry for open space and recreational purposes, and further to 
authorize Parks & Forestry to execute any and all instruments as may be necessary to 
effectuate the vote taken hereunder or take any other action relative thereto. 
 

Parcel ID Location Legal Reference Recording Date 
100-000-029-000 Billington Street Bk: 15751, Pg: 309 Dec 23, 1997 
100-000-051-000 Billington Sea Bk: 7580, Pg: 202 March 30, 1987 
100-000-052-000 Billington Sea Bk: 7580, Pg: 202 March 30, 1987 
100-000-053-000 Billington Sea Bk: 7580, Pg: 202 March 30, 1987 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
\\Gis-thall\gis\PlymouthGIS\Planning\Projects\Tax Title Properties\2023 Parcels\Morton Park TT Lots\Archives 

Department of Planning 
and Development 

293



LOUT PO ND
ROAD

THUMPER'SWAY

B

R A L
EY

ROA DBILLINGTON STREET

TH
O

R E AU

ROAD

JACKSON'S

LA
NE

BRANCH'S
POINT ROAD

BRALEY
ROAD

MARCDRIVE

WESTERLY
ROAD

SL
EE

PY
HOLL

OW
DR

IVE

PILGRIM HIGHWAY

ROUTE 3

BU
RG

ES
S

RO
AD

PILGRIM HIGHWAY ROUTE 3BRALEY ROAD
LIT

TL
E

PO
ND

RO
AD

SUMMER STREET

MO
RT

ON
PA

RK
RO

AD

MORTONPARK ROAD

LITTLE POND

DEEP WATER

LOUT POND

BILLINGTON
SEA

100-000-052-000

100-000-029-000

100-000-053-000

100-000-051-000

This product is for informational purposes and is not suitable for 
legal, engineering, or surveying purposes. The Town of Plymouth
makes no warranty, representation, or guarantee of any kind
regarding either any maps or other information provided herein or
the sources of such maps or other information. The Town of
Plymouth assumes no liability for any errors, omissions, or 
inaccuracies in the information provided regardless of the cause of
such or for any decision made, action taken, or action not taken by
the user in reliance upon any maps or information provided herein. 

Legend
Morton_Park
Morton Park TT Lots

.0 1,000 2,000500 FeetMorton Park Tax Title Properties
May 1, 2023

2.6 acres

2.9 acres

0.2 acres

2.9 acres

294



LOUT PO ND
ROAD

THUMPER'SWAY

B

R A L
EY

ROA DBILLINGTON STREET

TH
O

R E AU

ROAD

JACKSON'S

LA
NE

BRANCH'S
POINT ROAD

BRALEY
ROAD

MARCDRIVE

WESTERLY
ROAD

SL
EE

PY
HOLL

OW
DR

IVE

PILGRIM HIGHWAY

ROUTE 3

BU
RG

ES
S

RO
AD

PILGRIM HIGHWAY ROUTE 3BRALEY ROAD
LIT

TL
E

PO
ND

RO
AD

SUMMER STREET

MO
RT

ON
PA

RK
RO

AD

MORTONPARK ROAD

LITTLE POND

DEEP WATER

LOUT POND

BILLINGTON
SEA

100-000-052-000

100-000-029-000

100-000-053-000

100-000-051-000

This product is for informational purposes and is not suitable for 
legal, engineering, or surveying purposes. The Town of Plymouth
makes no warranty, representation, or guarantee of any kind
regarding either any maps or other information provided herein or
the sources of such maps or other information. The Town of
Plymouth assumes no liability for any errors, omissions, or 
inaccuracies in the information provided regardless of the cause of
such or for any decision made, action taken, or action not taken by
the user in reliance upon any maps or information provided herein. 

Legend
Morton Park TT Lots
Area 3 - Contributing Areas  to Significant Recreational Water Bodies

.0 1,000 2,000500 Feet
Morton Park Tax Title Properties
FTM 2023
Aquifer Protection

2.6 acres

2.9 acres

0.2 acres

2.9 acres

295



|   Printable Record Card  |   Previous Assessment  |   Condo Info  |   Sales   |   Zoning  |   Comments  |   WebPro 
Card 1 of 1

Location   BILLINGTON SEA Property Account Number  16649 Parcel ID  100-000-051-000
Old Parcel ID  9100 -G01 -100*0117*

Current Property Mailing Address
Owner PLYMOUTH TOWN OF City PLYMOUTH

  State MA
Address 26 COURT ST Zip 02360

  Zoning RR

Current Property Sales Information
Sale Date 3/30/1987 Legal Reference 7580-202
Sale Price 0 Grantor(Seller) Folger

Current Property Assessment
   Card 1 Value

Year 2023 Building Value 0
   Xtra Features Value 0

Land Area 2.259 acres Land Value 263,800
   Total Value 263,800

Narrative Description
This property contains 2.259 acres of land mainly classified as Vacant TT with a(n) N/A style building, built about , having N/A exterior and N/A roof cover, with 0
unit(s), 0 total room(s), 0 total bedroom(s), 0 total bath(s), 0 total half bath(s), 0 total 3/4 bath(s).

Legal Description

Property Images

296

http://www.patriotproperties.com/
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/default.htm
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/search.asp
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/summary.asp
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/interior.asp
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/exterior.asp
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/sales.asp
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/maps.asp
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/about.asp
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/RecordCard.asp
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/g_previous.asp
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/g_condo.asp
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/g_sales.asp
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/g_zoning.asp
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/g_comments.asp


|   Printable Record Card  |   Previous Assessment  |   Condo Info  |   Sales   |   Zoning  |   Comments  |   WebPro 
Card 1 of 1

Location   BILLINGTON ST Property Account Number  65137 Parcel ID  100-000-029-000
Old Parcel ID  9100 -G01 -100*0040*

Current Property Mailing Address
Owner PLYMOUTH TOWN OF City PLYMOUTH

  State MA
Address 26 COURT ST Zip 02360

  Zoning RR

Current Property Sales Information
Sale Date 1/1/1997 Legal Reference 1575-309
Sale Price 0 Grantor(Seller) 

Current Property Assessment
   Card 1 Value

Year 2023 Building Value 0
   Xtra Features Value 0

Land Area 2.770 acres Land Value 9,800
   Total Value 9,800

Narrative Description
This property contains 2.770 acres of land mainly classified as Vacant TT with a(n) N/A style building, built about , having N/A exterior and N/A roof cover, with 0
unit(s), 0 total room(s), 0 total bedroom(s), 0 total bath(s), 0 total half bath(s), 0 total 3/4 bath(s).

Legal Description

Property Images

297

http://www.patriotproperties.com/
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/default.htm
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/search.asp
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/summary.asp
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/interior.asp
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/exterior.asp
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/sales.asp
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/maps.asp
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/about.asp
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/RecordCard.asp
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/g_previous.asp
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/g_condo.asp
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/g_sales.asp
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/g_zoning.asp
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/g_comments.asp


|   Printable Record Card  |   Previous Assessment  |   Condo Info  |   Sales   |   Zoning  |   Comments  |   WebPro 
Card 1 of 1

Location   FROSTCAKE MORTON Property Account Number  16650 Parcel ID  100-000-052-000
Old Parcel ID  9100 -G01 -100*0014*

Current Property Mailing Address
Owner PLYMOUTH TOWN OF City PLYMOUTH

  State MA
Address 26 COURT ST Zip 02360

  Zoning RR

Current Property Sales Information
Sale Date 1/1/1976 Legal Reference 4171-343
Sale Price 0 Grantor(Seller) PLYMOUTH,TOWN OF

Current Property Assessment
   Card 1 Value

Year 2023 Building Value 0
   Xtra Features Value 0

Land Area 0.130 acres Land Value 1,500
   Total Value 1,500

Narrative Description
This property contains 0.130 acres of land mainly classified as Vacant TT with a(n) N/A style building, built about , having N/A exterior and N/A roof cover, with 0
unit(s), 0 total room(s), 0 total bedroom(s), 0 total bath(s), 0 total half bath(s), 0 total 3/4 bath(s).

Legal Description

Property Images

298

http://www.patriotproperties.com/
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/default.htm
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/search.asp
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/summary.asp
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/interior.asp
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/exterior.asp
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/sales.asp
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/maps.asp
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/about.asp
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/RecordCard.asp
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/g_previous.asp
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/g_condo.asp
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/g_sales.asp
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/g_zoning.asp
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/g_comments.asp


|   Printable Record Card  |   Previous Assessment  |   Condo Info  |   Sales   |   Zoning  |   Comments  |   WebPro 
Card 1 of 1

Location   ISL BILLINGTON SEA Property Account Number  16649 Parcel ID  100-000-053-000
Old Parcel ID  9100 -G01 -100*0118*

Current Property Mailing Address
Owner PLYMOUTH TOWN OF City PLYMOUTH

  State MA
Address 26 COURT ST Zip 02360

  Zoning RR

Current Property Sales Information
Sale Date 3/30/1987 Legal Reference 7580-202
Sale Price 0 Grantor(Seller) FOLGER

Current Property Assessment
   Card 1 Value

Year 2023 Building Value 0
   Xtra Features Value 0

Land Area 2.919 acres Land Value 270,300
   Total Value 270,300

Narrative Description
This property contains 2.919 acres of land mainly classified as Vacant TT with a(n) N/A style building, built about , having N/A exterior and N/A roof cover, with 0
unit(s), 0 total room(s), 0 total bedroom(s), 0 total bath(s), 0 total half bath(s), 0 total 3/4 bath(s).

Legal Description

Property Images

299

http://www.patriotproperties.com/
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/default.htm
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/search.asp
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/summary.asp
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/interior.asp
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/exterior.asp
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/sales.asp
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/maps.asp
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/about.asp
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/RecordCard.asp
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/g_previous.asp
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/g_condo.asp
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/g_sales.asp
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/g_zoning.asp
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/g_comments.asp


300



301



302



303



304



ARTICLE 14: 

ARTICLE 14: Conveyance of Tax Title Property to Conservation Commission 
To see if the Town will vote to transfer the care, custody, management, and control of the parcels listed 
below from the Town Treasurer for tax title purposes to the Conservation Commission for conservation 
purposes pursuant to G.L. c. 40, section 8C; and further to authorize the Conservation Commission to 
execute any and all instruments as may be necessary to effectuate the vote taken hereunder, as follows:  

Parcel ID Location Legal Reference Recording Date 
058-000-013-000 Off Valley Road Bk. 1820, Pg. 50 November 15, 1941 

073-000-007-192 Off Shallow Pond Lane Bk. 26980, Pg. 115 November 6, 2003 

or take any other action relative thereto. 
OPEN SPACE COMMITTEE 

RECOMMENDATION: Approval (11-2-1) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 14. Approval of this 
article will transfer the listed parcels from the Town Treasurer to the Conservation Commission for open 
space and conservation purposes. The parcels were taken by the Town through a tax lien proceeding. 

305



306



Memo 
To:  Brad Brothers, Assistant Town Manager 
From:  Plymouth Open Space Committee 
Date:  July 18, 2023 
Re:  2023 Fall Annual Town Meeting – Article 14 

Please reserve the following article for the upcoming 2023 Fall Annual Town Meeting: 
To see if the Town will vote to transfer the care, custody, management and control of the 
parcels listed below as on file with the Town Clerk, from the Town Treasurer for tax title 
purposes to the Conservation Commission for conservation purposes pursuant to G.L. c. 
40, section 8C; and further to authorize the Conservation Commission to execute any and 
all instruments as may be necessary to effectuate the vote taken hereunder, or take any 
other action relative thereto. 
 

Parcel ID Location Legal Reference Recording Date 
058-000-013-000 Off Valley Road Bk. 1820, Pg. 50 November 15, 1941 

073-000-007-192 Off Shallow Pond 
Lane 

Bk. 26980, Pg. 115 November 6, 2003 

 
1. 058-000-013-000: 

- 10.71 acres 
- Lies within NHESP & Area 3 of Plymouth’s Aquifer Protection District. 
- Directly abuts >150 acres of protected open space, including the Elbow Pond 

Conservation Area. 
 

2. 073-000-007-192: 
- 1.43 acres 
- Directly abuts >208 acres of protected open space (Briggs Property) 
- Would become part of the greater Beaver Dam Conservation Area, Briggs 

Property, Indian Brook Conservation Area, Little Island Pond Conservation Area 
and Talcott Estate consisting of over 1,055 acres. 

- Would be an excellent opportunity for public access to these properties.  
 

Department of Planning 
and Development 

307



05
8-0

00
-01

1-0
07

056-000-081-007C

058-000-011-010

056-000-081-006A

058-000-011-009

056-000-081-002
058-000-013-000

056-000-081-001
058-000-014-001 057-000-041A-001

058-000-015-000

057-000-041A-002058-000-016-000
058-000-014-002 057-000-041B-002058-000-018-000 057-000-043-000057-000-044-000

057-000-045-000057-000-047-000057-000-048B-000
057-000-049-000

056-000-081-007B

058-000-022-027

056-000-080-000

056-000-081-005

056-000-081-004

056-000-081-003

058-000-011-008

058-000-019-000

058-000-020-000

058-000-021-000

05
9-0

00
-03

8-0
52

058-000-026-019

BEGIN
CIRCLE

ELB O W

POND LANE

B
L

U E G IL
L

LANE

EL
BO

W
PO

ND
 LA

NE

DEER RUN

TR
AIL

S EN
D

CO
VE

RO
AD

BLUE GILL LANE

LOWER ELBOWPOND LANE

RO
XY

CA
HO

ON ROAD

VA
LL

EY
 RO

AD

ELBOW POND

This product is for informational purposes and is not suitable for 
legal, engineering, or surveying purposes. The Town of Plymouth
makes no warranty, representation, or guarantee of any kind
regarding either any maps or other information provided herein or
the sources of such maps or other information. The Town of
Plymouth assumes no liability for any errors, omissions, or 
inaccuracies in the information provided regardless of the cause of
such or for any decision made, action taken, or action not taken by
the user in reliance upon any maps or information provided herein. 

.0 800 1,600400 Feet

WAREHAM

CARVER

Cape
Cod Bay

_̂

Fall Town Meeting 2023
Tax Title Property: Map 58, Lot 13

Note:
Lot lies outside:
- FEMA Flood Zones
- Town Stormwater System
Lot lies within:
- NHESP Rare Species/Wildlife Habitats
- Aquifer Protection District, Area 3

Locus

10.71 Acres

308



05
8-0

00
-01

1-0
07

056-000-081-007C

058-000-011-010

056-000-081-006A

058-000-011-009

056-000-081-002
058-000-013-000

056-000-081-001
058-000-014-001 057-000-041A-001

058-000-015-000

057-000-041A-002058-000-016-000
058-000-014-002 057-000-041B-002058-000-018-000 057-000-043-000057-000-044-000

057-000-045-000057-000-047-000057-000-048B-000
057-000-049-000

056-000-081-007B

058-000-022-027

056-000-080-000

056-000-081-005

056-000-081-004

056-000-081-003

058-000-011-008

058-000-019-000

058-000-020-000

058-000-021-000

05
9-0

00
-03

8-0
52

058-000-026-019

BEGIN
CIRCLE

ELB O W

POND LANE

B
L

U E G IL
L

LANE

EL
BO

W
PO

ND
 LA

NE

DEER RUN

TR
AIL

S EN
D

CO
VE

RO
AD

BLUE GILL LANE

LOWER ELBOWPOND LANE

RO
XY

CA
HO

ON ROAD

VA
LL

EY
 RO

AD

ELBOW POND

This product is for informational purposes and is not suitable for 
legal, engineering, or surveying purposes. The Town of Plymouth
makes no warranty, representation, or guarantee of any kind
regarding either any maps or other information provided herein or
the sources of such maps or other information. The Town of
Plymouth assumes no liability for any errors, omissions, or 
inaccuracies in the information provided regardless of the cause of
such or for any decision made, action taken, or action not taken by
the user in reliance upon any maps or information provided herein. 

.0 800 1,600400 Feet

WAREHAM

CARVER

Cape
Cod Bay

_̂

Fall Town Meeting 2023
Tax Title Property: Map 58, Lot 13

Note:
Lot lies outside:
- FEMA Flood Zones
- Town Stormwater System
Lot lies within:
- NHESP Rare Species/Wildlife Habitats
- Aquifer Protection District, Area 3

Locus

10.71 Acres

Legend
NHESP Priority Habitats of Rare Species

309



|   Printable Record Card  |   Previous Assessment  |   Condo Info  |   Sales   |   Zoning  |   Comments  |   WebPro 
Card 1 of 1

Location   BOURNE DIV-VALLEY Property Account Number  12114 Parcel ID  058-000-013-000
Old Parcel ID  9100 -G01 -058*0013*

Current Property Mailing Address
Owner PLYMOUTH TOWN OF City PLYMOUTH

  State MA
Address 26 COURT ST Zip 02360

  Zoning RR

Current Property Sales Information
Sale Date 1/1/1941 Legal Reference 1820-50
Sale Price 0 Grantor(Seller) 

Current Property Assessment
   Card 1 Value

Year 2023 Building Value 0
   Xtra Features Value 0

Land Area 10.709 acres Land Value 379,400
   Total Value 379,400

Narrative Description
This property contains 10.709 acres of land mainly classified as Vacant TT with a(n) N/A style building, built about , having N/A exterior and N/A roof cover, with 0
unit(s), 0 total room(s), 0 total bedroom(s), 0 total bath(s), 0 total half bath(s), 0 total 3/4 bath(s).

Legal Description

Property Images

310

http://www.patriotproperties.com/
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/default.htm
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/search.asp
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/summary.asp
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/interior.asp
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/exterior.asp
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/sales.asp
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/maps.asp
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/about.asp
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/RecordCard.asp
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/g_previous.asp
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/g_condo.asp
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/g_sales.asp
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/g_zoning.asp
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/g_comments.asp


311



312



313



WHISPERING
PINES DRIVE

SHALLOW POND LANE

STATE ROAD
CRESCENT STREET

PENNY
LANE

WHISPERING PINES DRIVE

MO
NU

ME
NT

 PO
ND

S P
AT

H

INDIAN BROOK ROAD

Manomet
Recreation

Area

Indian
Brook
School

Tax Title Lot

Briggs Estate

Hillside Estates
Open Space

073-000-007-192

This product is for informational purposes and is not suitable for 
legal, engineering, or surveying purposes. The Town of Plymouth
makes no warranty, representation, or guarantee of any kind
regarding either any maps or other information provided herein or
the sources of such maps or other information. The Town of
Plymouth assumes no liability for any errors, omissions, or 
inaccuracies in the information provided regardless of the cause of
such or for any decision made, action taken, or action not taken by
the user in reliance upon any maps or information provided herein. 

.0 200 400100 Feet
Fall Town Meeting, 2023
Tax Title Property: 073-000-007-192 
Case #: 9398

Map Prepared by:
Plymouth Planning & Development
June 21, 2023

Locus
1.43 Acre

314



GREAT
ISLAND
POND

SHALLOW
POND

MOREY'S
POND

Manomet
Recreation

Area

Parcel off
Carolyn

Drive

Ship Pond
Conservation

Area

Briggs Estate

Centerhill
Road Lots

Manomet
Transfer
Station

Kelleher
Property

Bluff
Indian Brook
Conservation

Area

Pond View Circle, Ship
Pond Conservation Area

Indian
Brook
School

Shallow
Pond Beach

Clark Estates
Open Space

Ship
Pond
Well

Indian
Hill

Water Tank

Briggs
Reservoir

Talcott

Clark Estates
Open Space -
Drainage Lot

Plymouth Long
Beach Lots

Briggs Estate
/ Bud's Field

Hillside
Estates

Open Space

Beaver Dam Conservation
Area / Carolyn Drive
Conservation Area

Little Island Pond
Conservation Area,

Briggs Estate

Tax
Title
Lot

Manomet
Former
Landfill

Fresh Pond Park

Clark Estates
Access Easement

This product is for informational purposes and is not suitable for 
legal, engineering, or surveying purposes. The Town of Plymouth
makes no warranty, representation, or guarantee of any kind
regarding either any maps or other information provided herein or
the sources of such maps or other information. The Town of
Plymouth assumes no liability for any errors, omissions, or 
inaccuracies in the information provided regardless of the cause of
such or for any decision made, action taken, or action not taken by
the user in reliance upon any maps or information provided herein. 

.0 1,600 3,200800 Feet
Fall Town Meeting, 2023
Tax Title Property: 073-000-007-192 
Case #: 9398

Map Prepared by:
Plymouth Planning & Development
June 21, 2023

Locus
1.43 Acre

315



|   Printable Record Card  |   Previous Assessment  |   Condo Info  |   Sales   |   Zoning  |   Comments  |   WebPro 
Card 1 of 1

Location  40 SHALLOW POND LN Property Account Number  58617 Parcel ID  073-000-007-192
Old Parcel ID  9100 -G01 -073*0350*

Current Property Mailing Address
Owner PLYMOUTH TOWN OF City PLYMOUTH

  State MA
Address 26 COURT ST Zip 02360

  Zoning R25

Current Property Sales Information
Sale Date 11/6/2003 Legal Reference 26980-115
Sale Price 0 Grantor(Seller) TGS REALTY INVESTMENT TRUST,

Current Property Assessment
   Card 1 Value

Year 2023 Building Value 0
   Xtra Features Value 0

Land Area 1.429 acres Land Value 202,100
   Total Value 202,100

Narrative Description
This property contains 1.429 acres of land mainly classified as Vacant TT with a(n) N/A style building, built about , having N/A exterior and N/A roof cover, with 0
unit(s), 0 total room(s), 0 total bedroom(s), 0 total bath(s), 0 total half bath(s), 0 total 3/4 bath(s).

Legal Description

Property Images

316

http://www.patriotproperties.com/
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/default.htm
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/search.asp
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/summary.asp
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/interior.asp
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/exterior.asp
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/sales.asp
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/maps.asp
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/about.asp
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/RecordCard.asp
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/g_previous.asp
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/g_condo.asp
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/g_sales.asp
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/g_zoning.asp
https://plymouth.patriotproperties.com/g_comments.asp


317



318



ARTICLE 15: 

ARTICLE 15: Bylaw Amendment 
To see if the Town will vote to adopt the following ban on the sale of miniature single use containers for 
alcoholic beverages as a general by-law and to insert into the Bylaw of the Town of Plymouth, Massachusetts as 
Chapter 133 as follows: 

133-1 Definitions 

Miniature Single Use Alcohol Container (Nip) - Any bottle or container of alcohol that is 100 ml or 
less in size.  
Establishment - Establishment shall mean any business within the Town of Plymouth offering nips for 
sale. 

133-2 Findings, Purpose, and Declaration 

(a) Findings. The Town Meeting finds and determines that: 

1. Nip bottles are harmful to the marine and land environments as well as to wildlife as they take
hundreds of years to biodegradable, leach toxins and are not recyclable in Massachusetts due to
their size.

2. Nip bottles are a significant part of litter resulting in potential impacts upon the
desirability of Plymouth for tourism as well as upon the attractiveness of the town
for residents and businesses alike.

3. Nip bottles frequently end up on the sides of roads, in waterways and the drainage
system as well as in other areas of the environment, thereby contributing to the expense for the
collection and disposal of litter and trash throughout the town.

(b) Purpose. The purpose of this bylaw is to: 

1. Help lessen the deterioration of the environment.

2. Provide an additional and effective method to protect public and private property from litter while
reducing some of the burden of enforcement. 

(c) Declaration. Town Meeting declares that for all these reasons, as well as others, that nip bottles are 
a nuisance to the Town that must be abated as set forth herein. 

133-3 Ban on Sale of Nips by Establishments within the Town of Plymouth 

The sale of alcoholic beverages in containers less than or equal to 100 milliliters is prohibited by all 
establishments within the Town of Plymouth, effective: July 1, 2024. 

133-4 Severability 

319



If any provision of this bylaw shall be held to be invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, then such 
provision shall be considered separately and apart from the remaining provisions of this bylaw, which 
shall remain in full force and effect. 

or take any other action relative thereto. 
OPEN SPACE COMMITTEE 

RECOMMENDATION: Not Recommended (6-8-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends that Town Meeting does not approve Article 15. The 
Committee felt that the article language in the warrant, and as presented, was too broad. The Committee 
feels the ultimate solution is litter enforcement. 

320



Memo 
To:  Brad Brothers, Assistant Town Manager 
From:  Plymouth Open Space Committee 
Date:  July 12, 2023 
Re:  2023 Fall Town Meeting – Article 15 

Please reserve the following article for the upcoming 2023 Fall Town Meeting: 

 

To see if the Town will vote to adopt the following ban on the sale of miniature single use 

containers for alcoholic beverages as a general by-law and to insert into the Code of the Town 

of Plymouth, Massachusetts as Chapter 133 as follows, or take any other action relative 

thereto:  

 

133-1 Definitions 

 

Miniature Single Use Alcohol Container (Nip) - Any bottle or container of alcohol 

that is 100 ml or less in size.  

Establishment - Establishment shall mean any business within the Town of Plymouth 

offering nips for sale. 

   

133-2 Findings, Purpose, and Declaration 

 

(a) Findings. The Town Meeting finds and determines that:  

 

1. Nip bottles are harmful to the marine and land environments as well as to wildlife 

as they take hundreds of years to biodegradable, leach toxins and are not 

recyclable in Massachusetts due to their size. 

 

2. Nip bottles are a significant part of litter resulting in potential impacts upon the 

      desirability of Plymouth for tourism as well as upon the attractiveness of the town   

      for residents and businesses alike.  

 

3. Nip bottles frequently end up on the sides of roads, in waterways and the drainage 

 system as well as in other areas of the environment, thereby contributing to the 

expense for the collection and disposal of litter and trash throughout the town. 

 

 

 

Plymouth Open Space 
Committee 

321



 2 

(b) Purpose. The purpose of this bylaw is to:  

 

1. Help lessen the deterioration of the environment.  

 

2. Provide an additional and effective method to protect public and private property 

from litter while reducing some of the burden of enforcement.  

 

(c) Declaration. Town Meeting declares that for all these reasons, as well as others, 

that nip bottles are a nuisance to the Town that must be abated as set forth herein. 

 

133-3 Ban on Sale of Nips by Establishments within the Town of Plymouth 

 

The sale of alcoholic beverages in containers less than or equal to 100 milliliters is 

prohibited by all establishments within the Town of Plymouth, effective: July 1, 2024. 

 

133-4 Severability 

  

If any provision of this bylaw shall be held to be invalid by a court of competent 

jurisdiction, then such provision shall be considered separately and apart from the 

remaining provisions of this bylaw, which shall remain in full force and effect. 

 

322



1 

SUSTAINABLE PLYMOUTH FAQ ABOUT PROPOSED NIP BAN IN PLYMOUTH, MA 

August 2023  

How big of a litter problem are “nips”? 

• In four days of cleanups in Plymouth, volunteers picked up over 14,000 empty nip bottles,
despite the fact that town wide cleanups have been occurring twice a year for over a decade.
Imagine how many would have been collected this year if it was the town’s first event!

• In the Hyde Park neighborhood of Boston, residents collected over 10,000 nip bottles in two
months of cleanups.

• In their first town wide clean up in Gardner, MA, (1/3 the population of Plymouth), residents
picked up 50,000 nip bottles in one month and more than 100,000 over two years.

• In Falmouth, 32% of all litter items collected in cleanups were nips: the single largest item in the
litter stream.  After Falmouth’s nip ban went into effect, only 6% of litter items were nips.

• On the May 10, 2023 PACTV “This Week in Plymouth” program focusing on the cleanup to come
that weekend, Town Manager Derek Brindisi mentioned the Seaside Trail extension project and
what the DPW workers had found.  As he noted, they “filled up multiple trash bags with just nip
bottles alone" and stated: “Clearly there is a problem in the community” with nip litter.

• Nips are somewhat hard to see when driving by at 30 or 40 miles an hour and focusing on the
road ahead, but take a walk along Plymouth’s major thoroughfares, in our parks, downtown, or
along our beach front and the problem becomes obvious.

• Nips cannot be recycled. Nips do not meet FTC standards for a recyclable item. They are too
small to be captured by sorting machines, break apart and jam equipment, and are of little mon-
etary value to recyclers.

• Nips are non-biodegradable waste.  Plastic fragments last for centuries in the environment, are
killing countless marine animals, and are polluting our oceans. They bind with other toxins in our
seas, increasing the toxic soup throughout our world.

• Nips are made of chemicals based on benzene, which is has been labeled as a known human car-
cinogen by the Department of Health and Human Services, by the EPA, and by the International
Agency for Cancer Research.

• Plastics are being found in human blood, stools, and lungs and in the placentas of pregnant
women.

• Nips are made from fossil fuels and, as a single use item, have a high carbon impact 
throughout their life cycle (production through to disposal) as well as due to the ratio of 
packaging to product.

• No. Deposit legislation that would cover nips has failed for four consecutive years in the Massa-
chusetts House and Senate. There is little enthusiasm for the $0.05 deposit because this will not 
cover liquor stores’ expenses for handling a new package size that will also require investment in 
automation to manage returns.

• When Chelsea first proposed its ban on the sale of nips, the Massachusetts Wine and Spirit 
Wholesalers organization announced its opposition not only to bans, but to deposits as well 
claiming recycling attempts had been a failure.  When Mashpee proposed a ban, the liquor stores 
there told the Select Board they would establish a deposit system of their own.  The

Shouldn't we wait for state legislation to solve the litter problem?

323



2 

Board gave them a year to try and do so.  The stores failed to establish such a system and the 
town then passed its ban. 

• Even if passed, the $0.05 deposit would not be a sufficient deterrent for curtailing litter.  Those 
who are consuming nips when on the road will not bring them in for deposit but continue to 
throw the “evidence” out the window.  Furthermore, even with a deposit, nip bottles cannot be 
recycled as they are too small for the sorting machines to handle, break and contribute to 
jammed machinery, and are diverted to trash.  Also, the material recovery facilities (recycling 
sorting companies) would need to engage in expensive retooling to recycle these nip bottles, 
which they are reluctant to do.  The material itself is also of little monetary value to recyclers.

• While a larger deposit might be better, such a change will require a lengthy process in state 
government, and the timing or likelihood of passage is uncertain.  So far, the state has refused 
to increase deposits on beverages of any kind for over 30 years.

Why not let other Massachusetts towns & cities go first?  

• Chelsea, MA has had good results with a ban on 50ml & 100ml nips, in effect since July 2018.  In 
our region, Falmouth, Mashpee, Brewster, Nantucket, Oak Bluffs, Edgartown, Fairhaven, New 
Bedford, and Wareham have all passed regulations to prohibit nips.  Newton and Brookline 
passed regulations, and Boston, Framingham, Medford, Quincy, and Winthrop are also 
discussing a nip prohibition.  Plymouth will not be the first.

• Massachusetts will not act with deliberate speed because special interest money has opposed 
such measures. For example, with respect to plastic grocery bags, already banned in Plymouth, 
there are bans in more than 150 Massachusetts municipalities including on the entire South 
Shore and Cape Cod; 2/3 of the Commonwealth’s residents now live in municipalities with plas-

tic bag bans; all our largest cities have all passed bag bans; and Stop and Shop recently an-

nounced it will cease supplying all plastic shopping bags throughout the Northeast.  Yet our state 

legislature wants to “see more support” before pursuing a state-level ban!

• The liquor industry is opposed to banning nips.  In the face of more and more bans taking effect, 
it has recently argued that a deposit would be better than a ban, yet it has acted in opposition to 
expanded bottle bills and repeatedly argued that the recycling of bottles doesn’t work.

Are there alternatives to a ban on 50ml & 100ml nips? 

• No. Only certain nip consumers create the roadside litter problem. There is a fundamental bar-
rier to reaching this group with education and messaging and little chance of influencing behav-
ior voluntarily.

• Litter laws already exist but enforcement is hampered because police must observe the offense 
to issue a citation. Regulation by banning the smaller “single use” sizes is the best solution.

Won’t a ban on the 50ml & 100ml bottles devastate liquor stores in Plymouth? 

• Information from Chelsea government officials, liquor stores, and bodegas is that the nip ban 
(now in place for over four years) has not resulted in any job loss or business failures for 
Chelsea-based liquor stores.

• Robert Mellion, Executive Director of the Massachusetts Package Stores Association, acknowl-
edged that “no liquor stores closed” in Chelsea after its ban went into effect.   Some customers’

324



3 

response in Chelsea has been to buy larger size bottles, offsetting a portion of the loss from the 
sale of nips.  Liquor stores will not be “bankrupted”.   

• In Chelsea, City Councilor Roy Avellaneda noted that a liquor store there sold its license in 2021 
for $650,000.  That price did not include all the inventory, shelving, coolers, or the building.  In 
reference to the ban, he stated “business couldn’t be that bad if a license is worth that much."

• In 2018, Boston’s Licensing Board Chairwoman Kathleen Joyce developed a policy that applied 
to any new package store license or transfer of a license requiring the licensee to agree to not 
sell singles or miniature bottles of alcohol.  Since then, 57 package stores obtained licenses un-
der those conditions.  Clearly these new owners did not find a restriction against selling nips to 
have significant impact on the value of owning a liquor store in Boston.  According to City Coun-
cilor Ricardo Arroyo, the “logical next step” is to ban the sale of nips citywide and the council is 
considering just that.

• When Chelsea was contemplating a ban, Robert Mellion estimated that doing so could affect
“up to 10% of sales”.  “Up to” means that it could be much less. Figures offered by various liquor 
industry representatives and stores vary wildly but offer no evidence to support their projec-
tions.  Also, note that the comment referred to sales, not profits.  Given the number of nips an 
individual patron may buy at one time, it would not be unreasonable to anticipate that the pro-
portion of sales that nips make up might not be proportionate to the percent of profit. The pur-
chase of six nips is six sales, but a six-pack of beer is one.

• In Falmouth, the second municipality in Massachusetts to pass a ban, fair share gross revenue 
for nips sold in Massachusetts was estimated at no more than $15,000/year for each liquor 
store in that town, but as customers move to larger size containers (1/2 pints), that is expected 
to offset that loss in gross revenue.

Won’t customers switch to larger bottles of liquor, causing more driving related problems?  

• This article is not about prohibiting the use of alcohol, nor is it about a belief that banning nips 
will deter someone caught in the throes of alcohol addiction from drinking.  The proposed ban 
on nips is focused primarily on reducing litter.  However, data indicates that banning nips does 
reduce alcohol related problems in the public realm as well as alcohol-related dangerous behav-
iors.

• The best evidence comes from Chelsea, where alcohol-related ambulance and fire department 
responses decreased almost 75 percent within two years after its ban went into effect (from 
742 in 2017, to 556 in 2018 when the newly enacted ban had been in place for only half a year, 
down to 127 as of August 2019).  That is an average of 16 calls a month down from 62. Public 
drunkenness diminished as evidenced by decreases in protective custody: 222 instances in 2018 
to 86 in 2019 (January to August). Brian Keyes, the police chief in Chelsea at the time when its 
ban was passed and a past president of the Massachusetts Major City Police Chiefs Association, 
strongly supported the regulation (Sarah Betancourt, CommonWealth Magazine August 18, 
2019 ).

• Former Wareham Selectwoman Mary Mackey Bruce noted similar results, stating that “In addi-
tion to helping cut down on trash, [Wareham’s ban] has also cut public drinking and related po-

325



4 

lice calls” (Frank Mulligan.  “Wareham Selectmen endorse ban on alcoholic nips”.  Courier-Senti-
nel. October 7., 2020  https://www.wickedlocal.com/story/courier-sentinel/2020/10/07/ware-
ham-selectmen-endorse-ban-on-alcoholic-nips/42955461). 

• Years of research have demonstrated that with increased cost (as would be the case of having to 
buy at minimum a half pint), incidents of alcohol-related risky behaviors diminishes.

o In research supported by the National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism on the 
effect of price on alcohol consumption and alcohol-related problems, authors concluded 
that “Studies investigating such a relationship found that alcohol prices were one factor 
influencing alcohol consumption among youth and young adults. Other studies deter-
mined that increases in the total price of alcohol can reduce drinking and driving and its 
consequences among all age groups; lower the frequency of diseases, injuries, and 
deaths related to alcohol use and abuse; and reduce alcohol-related violence and other 
crime.”  The Chelsea data supports their findings.

o A study published in the British Medical Bulletin stated “The empirical literature has 
consistently found that increasing the price of alcohol leads to a reduction in consump-
tion."

o A paper released by the North Dakota Health and Human Services Department noted 
that “Like many products, the price of alcohol affects consumption, which has a direct 
impact on alcohol-related consequences. Research indicates that higher alcohol taxes 
lead to a reduction in drinking and heavy drinking, lower traffic fatality rates and some 
types of crime.” It is safe to assume that the increased price of a ½ pint versus a 50ml or 
100ml nips would have the same impact.

Will banning nips curtail individual freedom to buy alcoholic products? 

• No. This article is not a prohibition.  Individuals’ freedom to consume alcohol will not be re-
stricted.  Sale is banned only for 50ml and 100ml alcohol container sizes. These small sizes are 
tailored to single use occasions (e.g., “on the go” in a vehicle) that contribute to litter and DUI 
risk.

• With low cash outlay, these small sizes also pose a health risk and foster alcohol abuse and un-
derage consumption. Alcohol will still be available in legal container sizes of 200ml, 375ml, 
500ml, 750ml, 1.0 liter, and 1.75 liter.

For more information, please contact Sustainable Plymouth at sustainableplymouth@gmail.com 

326

https://www.wickedlocal.com/story/courier-sentinel/2020/10/07/wareham-selectmen-endorse-ban-on-alcoholic-nips/42955461
https://www.wickedlocal.com/story/courier-sentinel/2020/10/07/wareham-selectmen-endorse-ban-on-alcoholic-nips/42955461
mailto:info@sustainableplymouth.org


ARTICLE 16: 
 
ARTICLE 16: Legislative Petition 
To see if the Town will vote to authorize the Select Board to petition the Massachusetts General Court for 
special legislation in the form set forth below, provided, however, that the Massachusetts General Court 
may make clerical or editorial changes of form only to the bill, unless the Select Board approves 
amendments to the bill before enactment by the Massachusetts General Court, and provided further that 
the Select Board are hereby authorized to approve amendments which shall be within the scope of the 
general public objectives of this petition. 
 

An Act Relative to the Town of Plymouth Harbormaster Employees 
 

Be it enacted by the Senate and House of Representatives in General Court assembled, and by the 
authority of the same as follows: 
 
Section 1: 
In the Town of Plymouth, the position of Harbormaster, and the Town of Plymouth Harbormaster 
Department employees who have statutory powers of law enforcement, shall be Group 4 employees 
pursuant to M.G.L. c. 32, § 3(2)(g). Notwithstanding any provision in M.G.L. c. 32, §§ 1-28, inclusive to 
the contrary, all prior creditable service rendered before the effective date of this act rendered by the 
Harbormaster and Harbormaster Department employees as of the date of this act will be considered 
Group 4 service. 
 
Section 2: 
This act shall take effect upon its passage. 
 
or take any other action relative thereto.  
SELECT BOARD 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval Unanimous (13-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 16. Approval of this 
article will authorize the Town to petition the Massachusetts General Court for special legislation that 
would place the full-time sworn members of the Harbormaster Division of the Plymouth Police 
Department into retirement Group 4 as outlined in M.G.L. c. 32, § 3. All full-time members of the 
Harbormaster have completed the Police Officer Standards and Training and are certified police officers, 
which provides them with the full law enforcement authority throughout the town, thereby justifying the 
reclassification into retirement Group 4. 
 

327



328



     Memo 
To: Derek Brindisi, Town Manager 

From: Dana Flynn, Chief of Police 

CC:        Brad Brothers, Assistant Town Manager 

Date: 8/8/23 

Re: FY24 Fall Town Meeting Article 16 – Reclassification of Full-Time Harbormaster Personnel  

I am seeking approval to petition the Massachusetts General Court for special legislation that 
would place the full-time sworn members of the Harbormaster Division of the Plymouth Police 
Department into retirement Group 4 as outlined in MGL c. 32 s. 3. 

On December 31, 2020 “An Act Relative to Justice, Equity and Accountability in Law Enforcement 
in the Commonwealth” aka “Police Reform” was signed into law. 

Among the many items within the law included the establishment of a Police Officer Standards 
and Training (POST) Commission. One of the duties of POST was to establish minimum 
standards of training for police officers.  As such POST determined that those persons who have 
law enforcement authority, similar to the full-time members of the Harbormaster Division, must 
complete training equivalent to full-time municipal police officers.  Previously, they would only 
need to attend a “Reserve Officer” training course which required half of the needed classroom 
and practical training hours as full-time officers.   

Each of the full-time members of the Harbormaster Division have completed POST’s requisite 
training through the Massachusetts Police Training Council and are certified police officers.  On 
July 1, 2023, because of the stringent requirements of the POST Commission pertaining to 
training, accountability, and certification the Harbormaster Department was moved from the 
umbrella of the Department of Marine and Environmental Affairs to the Plymouth Police 
Department.  The full-time members of the Harbormaster Division are now sworn Special 
Plymouth Police Officers, which provides them with full law enforcement authority throughout the 
town, and are bound by the policies and procedures, training requirements, and rules and 
regulations of the police department.   

Though the primary areas of responsibility of the full-time sworn members of the Harbormaster 
Division remains with public safety, security, and emergency response in the harbor, along the 
coastline, and the ponds of the town, their designation as Special Police Officers with full police 
authority allows for additional duties as responsibilities as determined by the Chief of Police.  In 
addition to the above, they are the primary enforcement entity for the following: 

Massachusetts General Laws 

• C.21: Oil & Hazardous Material Release Prevention/Endangerment Act 

Plymouth Police Department 

 

329



• C.40: By-laws of towns 
• C.90B: Motorboats, Other Vessels, and Recreational Vehicles 
• C.91: Waterways 
• C.102: Shipping & Seamanship, Harbors and Harbormasters 
• C.111: Public Health 
• C.130: Marine Fish and Fisheries; Shellfish 

Code of Massachusetts Regulations 

• 301: Executive Office of Energy and Environmental Affairs 
• 310: Department of Environmental Protection 
• 320: Department of Fish and Game 
• 321: Division of Fisheries & Wildlife 
• 322: Division of Marine Fisheries 
• 323: Office of Law Enforcement 
• 350: Department of Conservation and Recreation 

Plymouth Town Bylaws 

• C.30 Beaches and Parks 
• C.81 Harbor 
• C.134 Ponds 
• Waterways Regulations 
• Shellfish and Herring Regulations 
• Aquaculture Regulations 

 
MGL c. 32 s. 3 designates public safety employees such as police officers and firefighters 
members of Group 4 for determination of retirement benefits.  A review of the duties and 
responsibilities of the full-time members of the Harbormaster Division, their designation as 
Special Police Officers, along with the enhanced training and certification requirements of the 
POST Commission, justifies their reclassification into Group 4.  

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

330



331



332



ARTICLE 17: 
 
 
ARTICLE 17: HOLTEC PILOT 
To see if the Town will vote to approve a payment in lieu of taxes agreement between the Town and 
Holtec Pilgrim, LLC (or any affiliate, subsidiary, or successor in interest thereof), for the property known 
as the Pilgrim Nuclear Generation Station, as on file with the Town Clerk, or take any other action 
relative thereto. 
SELECT BOARD 
 
RECOMMENDATION: The Advisory & Finance Committee had NOT heard or considered this 
article at the time of going to print. Updates will be provided, as necessary. 
 

333



334



ARTICLE 18: 

ARTICLE 18: SOLAR PILOT – 17 Plymouth Street.  
To see if the Town will vote, pursuant to the provisions of G. L. c.59, §38H, to authorize the Select Board 
and Board of Assessors to negotiate and enter into an agreement for payments in lieu-of-taxes (“PILOT”), 
for a 2.476 Megawatt DC (more or less) solar photovoltaic energy generating facility for ReWild 
Renewables Solar Project (or its affiliates, successors or assigns) to be located on a 12 acre agricultural 
reservoir (more or less) at 17 Plymouth Street, submitted as 0 Carver Road Floating Solar, currently 
shown on Plymouth Assessor’s Map 107 Lots 3, 4, 5, and 6U, upon such terms and conditions as the 
Select Board and Board of Assessors shall deem to be in the best interest of the Town, or take any other 
action relative thereto.  
SELECT BOARD 

RECOMMENDATION: Approval Unanimous (14-0-0)  
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 18. Approval of this 
article will authorize this payment-in-lieu-of-taxes (PILOT) agreement for personal property tax 
associated with a floating solar development, which will occupy approximately 5 acres within a 12-acre 
agriculture reservoir, located at 17 Plymouth Street in Plymouth, shown as lots 3, 4, 5, and 6U on 
Assessors Map 107. This is a floating solar project with a total production size of 2.476 MW DC. The 
terms of this agreement would be $15,000 per MW DC with an escalation of 2.5% per year for 20 years. 
50% of these payments will be deposited into the Environmental Affairs Fund. 

335



336



 

 
TO:   SELECT BOARD 
  ADVISORY & FINANCE 
  TOWN MEETING MEMBERS 
 
FROM:  LYNNE A. BARRETT  
  DIRECTOR OF FINANCE  
 
SUBJECT: PILOT AGREEMENT – 17 PLYMOUTH ST SOLAR PROJECT  
 
DATE:  AUGUST 10, 2023 
 
CC:  ANNE DUNN, DIRECTOR OF ASSESSING 
 
 
ARTICLE __: SOLAR PILOT – 17 Plymouth Street. To see if the Town will vote, 
pursuant to the provisions of G. L. c.59, §38H, to authorize the Select Board and Board 
of Assessors to negotiate and enter into an agreement for payments in lieu-of-taxes 
(“PILOT”), for a 2.476 Megawatt DC (more or less) solar photovoltaic energy generating 
facility for ReWild Renewables Solar Project (or its affiliates, successors or assigns) to be 
located on a 12 acre agricultural reservoir (more or less) at 17 Plymouth Street, submitted 
as 0 Carver Road Floating Solar, currently shown on Plymouth Assessor’s Map 107 Lots 
3, 4, 5, and 6U, upon such terms and conditions as the Select Board and Board 
of  Assessors shall deem to be in the best interest of the Town, or take any other action 
relating thereto.  
SELECT BOARD  
 
This article request is for approval of the terms of a PILOT agreement for the 
personal property tax associated with a solar development located at 17 Plymouth 
Street in Plymouth, shown as lots 3, 4, 5, and 6U on Assessors Map 107, aka 0 
Carver Road Floating Solar, Off Carver Road.  This is a floating solar project which 
will occupy approximately +/- 4.95 acres within a 12 acre agricultural reservoir, with 
a total production size of 2.476 MW DC.  The terms of this agreement will be 
$15,000 per MW DC with an escalation of 2.5% per year for 20 years.   
 
50% of these payments will be deposited into the Environmental Affairs Fund, 
please see link for more information on this. 
 
https://www.plymouth-ma.gov/460/Environmental-Affairs-Fund 
 
 
 

TOWN OF PLYMOUTH 
FINANCE DEPARTMENT 

26 COURT STREET, PLYMOUTH, MA  02360 
PHONE (508) 747-1620 EXTENSION 10177 

 

337

https://www.plymouth-ma.gov/460/Environmental-Affairs-Fund


 
 
 
 
 
 
Schedule of payments on an annual basis are described below: 
 

17 Plymouth St, Plymouth MA 
PILOT for Personal Property 
     

  2.476 $15,000/MW DC 
   2.5% Escalator 

Year DC Amount 
1 2.476 37,140.00 
2 2.476 38,068.50 
3 2.476 39,020.21 
4 2.476 39,995.72 
5 2.476 40,995.61 
6 2.476 42,020.50 
7 2.476 43,071.01 
8 2.476 44,147.79 
9 2.476 45,251.48 

10 2.476 46,382.77 
11 2.476 47,542.34 
12 2.476 48,730.90 
13 2.476 49,949.17 
14 2.476 51,197.90 
15 2.476 52,477.85 
16 2.476 53,789.79 
17 2.476 55,134.54 
18 2.476 56,512.90 
19 2.476 57,925.72 
20 2.476 59,373.87 
    948,728.58 

 
 
Thanks, for your consideration in this matter and if there are any questions, please 
let me know. 

338



 

 

 

 

To:  Nick Mayo, Director of Inspectional Services 

From:  Patrick M. Farah, Planning Technician  

Date:  February 1, 2023 

Re: Site Plan Review, ReWild Renewables Solar Project  

 17 Plymouth Street, Plymouth, MA 02360 

Lots 3, 4, 5, and 6U, Map 107  

 

Site plans entitled: “0 Carver Road Floating Solar, Off Carver Road, Plymouth, 

Massachusetts (Plymouth County)” 

Dated November 9, 2022, and prepared by Beals and Thomas, Inc., 32 Court 

Street, Plymouth, MA 02360  

______________________________________________________________________________ 

 

FINDINGS: 

 

Rewild Renewables, LLC, herein known as the Applicant, proposes to construct a 2.4 Megawatt 

(MW)-DC solar photovoltaic system on an existing agricultural reservoir (tailwater recovery 

pond), shown as Lots 3, 4, 5, and 6U on Assessors Map 107, 0 Carver Road in Plymouth, 

Massachusetts, deed recorded at the Plymouth Registry of Deeds, Book 28900, Page 14. 

 

The proposed solar system will occupy an area of +/-4.95 acres within the 12 acre agricultural 

reservoir and will consist of +/-4,356 (550-watt) photovoltaic (PV) panels. A fenced area of 

approximately 2,600 square feet for the electrical equipment pad. lies within the Rural 

Residential (RR) Zone.  

 

The proposed site does not lie within Natural Heritage Estimated & Priority Habitats of Rare 

Wildlife. No vernal pools have been identified within the parcel or near the proposed project. 

Lots 3, 4, 5, and 6U lie outside Plymouth’s Aquifer Protection Zone. 

 

Location of the proposed solar facility lies within Zone “X” (Areas determined to be outside the 

500-Year Flood Plain) as depicted on FEMA 2016 flood maps.  

 

The 2.4MW proposed solar facility appears to meet all setback requirements set forth in the 

Dimensional Table of the Zoning Bylaw. Site Line distances to the nearest residential property 

line and dwelling are approximately 315 feet and 680 feet, respectively. 

 

The proposed project will lie almost exclusively within pervious surfaces, with the exception of 

the equipment pad. As a result, drainage calculations have not been submitted with the filing. 

 

339



 

 

The Applicant proposes best management practices for storm-water management controls, 

although a sedimentation control barrier will be installed along the existing service road during 

project construction, as shown on Sheet C4.1 of the submitted plans. 

 

The proposed equipment pad will be located northeast of the array, on the opposite side of one of 

the service roads, as shown on the submitted site plan, Sheet C4.1. Emergency vehicle access 

will consist of existing agricultural service roads, which are currently used and maintained for 

cranberry growing operations. 

 

Proposed interconnection service lines will be underground as required in §C.2.b. of   

 

Due to the nature of the proposed siting, the Applicant has determined that this floating solar 

array will not require perimeter fencing as it will be installed on the tailwater recovery pond and 

interfere with the existing normal agriculture operations.  

 

The Applicant has noted that the proposed solar array will be anchored by either a Bank and/or 

Bottom Anchoring System. Specific detail has been provided in a Memo from Beals & Thomas, 

dated January 11, 2023 

 

A 10-foot cedar stockade fence is proposed around the equipment pad as a security measure. 

Note that P. C4.1 (Site Plan, Electric Equipment Inset) of the submitted plans.  

 

Several vegetated plantings are proposed along portions of the equipment pad’s edge, to serve as 

a screening buffer. Specific planting detail has been submitted in a Memo from Beals & Thomas, 

dated January 11, 2023.   

 

The Applicant has submitted copies of their application to Engineering and the Fire Department 

and received comments, included in the filing. 

 

The use is allowed according to MGL Chapter 40A, Section 3 which states: “No zoning 

ordinance or by-law shall prohibit or unreasonably regulate the installation of solar energy 

systems or the building of structures that facilitate the collection of solar energy, except where 

necessary to protect the public health, safety or welfare.” 

 

PLANNING BOARD RECOMMENDATION: 

 

At the regularly scheduled meeting of the Planning Board held on Wednesday, January 25, 2023, 

the Planning Board voted (4-0) that the Building Commissioner be notified that the above-

referenced site plan will comply with the requirements of the Zoning Bylaw, provided the 

following recommendations are addressed: 

 

1. The Applicant may be required to file with Massachusetts Environmental Policy Act 

(MEPA) Office if a state permit is required and/or state funds are provided for this 

project. 

340



 

 

 

2. The Applicant agrees to prepare a Construction Storm-water Pollution Prevention 

Plan (SWPPP) and Notice of Intent (NOI), in accordance with EPA NPDES 

Requirements, if required. 

 

3. The Applicant agrees to address Engineering and Fire Department 

comments/concerns as required prior to issuance of any permits.  

 

4. Any material removed from the proposed project site, more than 10 cubic yards, may 

require a gravel removal special permit to the discretion of the Building 

Commissioner. 

 

5. The Applicant agrees to submit an amended site plan, showing the planting list of 

native species around the equipment pad, to the Building Commissioner prior to 

issuance of any permits. 

   

6. If needed, the Applicant agrees to install any necessary equipment lighting (LED), 

adhering to the Light Pollution Bylaw. 

 

7. The Applicant agrees to submit abutter notification at least 60 days prior to 

commencement of work, as required by Zoning Bylaw, §207-11 Ground-mounted 

Solar Photovoltaic Systems C.5.a. (Notification). 

 

8. The Applicant agrees to submit a cash bond in an amount approved by the Building 

Commissioner to cover the cost of system removal, as required for all ground-

mounted solar systems in excess of 2 Megawatts. 

 

9. The Applicant agrees to perform periodic water quality testing to ensure no changes 

occur from the proposed solar array or any of its components. 

 

Cc: 

Beals and Thomas, Inc. – Sarah Stearns 

Department of Planning & Development File 

341



342



343



344



ARTICLE 19: 

ARTICLE 19: SOLAR PILOT – Exit 13  
To see if the Town will vote, pursuant to the provisions of G. L. c.59, §38H, to authorize the Select Board 
and Board of Assessors to negotiate and enter into an agreement for payments in lieu-of-taxes (“PILOT”), 
for a .67745 Megawatt DC (more or less) solar photovoltaic canopy energy generating facility for 
Ameresco (or its affiliates, successors or assigns) to be located on the 1.19 acre parcel of land at Exit 13 
Long Pond Road Park & Ride, currently shown on Plymouth Assessor’s Map 89, upon such terms and 
conditions as the Select Board and Board of Assessors shall deem to be in the best interest of the Town, 
or take any other action relative thereto.  
SELECT BOARD 

RECOMMENDATION: Approval Unanimous (13-0-1) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 19. Approval of this 
article will authorize this payment-in-lieu-of-taxes (PILOT) agreement for personal property tax 
associated with a solar development located at Exit 13 Long Pond Road Park & Ride in Plymouth, shown 
on Assessors Map 89. This is a parking lot canopy solar project with a total production size of .67745 
MW DC. The terms of this agreement would be $13,000 per MW DC with an escalation of 2.5% per year 
for 20 years. 50% of these payments will be deposited into the Environmental Affairs Fund. 

345



346



 

 
TO:   SELECT BOARD 
  ADVISORY & FINANCE 
  TOWN MEETING MEMBERS 
 
FROM:  LYNNE A. BARRETT  
  DIRECTOR OF FINANCE  
 
SUBJECT: PILOT AGREEMENT – EXIT 13 SOLAR CANOPY PROJECT AT STATE 

PARK & RIDE  
 
DATE:  AUGUST 10, 2023 
 
CC:  ANNE DUNN, DIRECTOR OF ASSESSING 
 
 
ARTICLE __: SOLAR PILOT – Exit 13 . To see if the Town will vote, pursuant to the 
provisions of G. L. c.59, §38H, to authorize the Select Board and Board of Assessors to 
negotiate and enter into an agreement for payments in lieu-of-taxes (“PILOT”), for 
a .67745 Megawatt DC (more or less) solar photovoltaic canopy energy generating 
facility for Ameresco (or its affiliates, successors or assigns) to be located on the parcel 
of land at Exit 13 Long Pond Road Park & Ride, currently shown on Plymouth 
Assessor’s Map 89, upon such terms and conditions as the Select Board and Board 
of  Assessors shall deem to be in the best interest of the Town, or take any other action 
relating thereto.  
SELECT BOARD  
 
This article request is for approval of the terms of a PILOT agreement for the 
personal property tax associated with a solar development located at Exit 5, Long 
Pond Road, in Plymouth, Assessors Map 89.  This is a parking lot canopy solar 
project, aka MASSDOT III Solar Canopy, on a portion of land described in the 
location, with a total production size of .67745 MW DC.  The terms of this 
agreement will be $13,000 per MW DC with an escalation of 2.5% per year for 20 
years.   
 
50% of these payments will be deposited into the Environmental Affairs Fund, 
please see link for more information on this. 
 
https://www.plymouth-ma.gov/460/Environmental-Affairs-Fund 
 
 
 

TOWN OF PLYMOUTH 
FINANCE DEPARTMENT 

26 COURT STREET, PLYMOUTH, MA  02360 
PHONE (508) 747-1620 EXTENSION 10177 

 

347

https://www.plymouth-ma.gov/460/Environmental-Affairs-Fund


 
 
 
 
 
 
Schedule of payments on an annual basis are described below: 
 

 
 
Thanks, for your consideration in this matter and if there are any questions, please 
let me know. 

0.67745 13,000/MW DC

Year DC Amount
1 0.67745 8,806.85
2 0.67745 9,027.02
3 0.67745 9,252.70
4 0.67745 9,484.01
5 0.67745 9,721.11
6 0.67745 9,964.14
7 0.67745 10,213.25
8 0.67745 10,468.58
9 0.67745 10,730.29

10 0.67745 10,998.55
11 0.67745 11,273.51
12 0.67745 11,555.35
13 0.67745 11,844.23
14 0.67745 12,140.34
15 0.67745 12,443.85
16 0.67745 12,754.94
17 0.67745 13,073.82
18 0.67745 13,400.66
19 0.67745 13,735.68
20 0.67745 14,079.07

224,967.97

PILOT Payment 
Schedule 2.5% Escalator

348



349



350



ARTICLE 21: 
 
 
ARTICLE 21: Amendment to April 2023 Annual Art 9 A38 – Amend Funding Source 
To see if the Town will vote to amend the vote taken under Article 9, A38 of the 2023 April Annual 
Town Meeting, Design Cemetery Space, by reducing the amount of $9,855 from the vote taken under 
Article 9A-15 of the 2009 April Annual Town Meeting, Cemetery Software, and by increasing the 
amount from sales of lots by $9,855, or take any other action relative thereto. 
FINANCE DEPARTMENT 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval Unanimous (13-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 21. Approval of this 
article will amend the vote taken under Article 9 A38 at the April 2023 Annual Town Meeting, Design 
Cemetery Space, to amend the funding by reducing the amount from article 9A-15 of the April 2009 
Annual Town Meeting, Cemetery Software, by $9,855 and by increasing the amount from sales of lots by 
$9,855. The purpose of the amendment to switch the funding source, due to the Cemetery Software fund 
balance being less than the amount needed, to funding source, sales of lots, that has the appropriate fund 
balance to satisfy Article 9 A38 funding amount approved by Town Meeting. 
 

351



352



 

 
TO:   SELECT BOARD 
  ADVISORY & FINANCE 
  TOWN MEETING MEMBERS 
 
FROM:  LYNNE A. BARRETT  
  DIRECTOR OF FINANCE  
 

SUBJECT: Amendment to April 2023 Annual Art 9 A38 – Design Cemetery 
Space Needed 

   
DATE:  AUGUST 11, 2023  
 
 

I submit the following article: 

To see if the Town will vote to amend the vote taken under Article 9, A38 
of the 2023 April Annual Town Meeting, Design Cemetery Space, by 
reducing the amount of $9,855 from the vote taken under Article 9A-15 
of the 2009 April Annual Town Meeting, Cemetery Software, and by 
increasing the amount from sales of lots by $9,855, or taken any other 
action relative thereto. 

 
The Reason for this article is that the amount represented in the Burkes Law 
Report on page 29 of the 2023 Spring Annual Town Meeting, Report & 
Recommendations book, for Article 9A-15 2009 April ATM for Cemetery Software 
was relied upon by a Town Meeting Member and used $10,000 in a motion to 
amend the funding recommendation by the Finance Department on Town Meeting 
floor.  It was then discovered after town meeting that several article balances in 
that report were inaccurate due to a software upgrade that occurred prior to 
producing that report. The software changed some parameters that we were 
unaware of at the time. It has since been fixed.  The actual amount remaining in 
that article was $145, therefore the difference of $9,855 needs to come from Sale 
of Lots. 
 
Thank you for your consideration in this matter. 

TOWN OF PLYMOUTH 
FINANCE DEPARTMENT 

26 COURT STREET, PLYMOUTH, MA  02360 
PHONE (508) 747-1620 EXTENSION 10177 

 

353



354



ARTICLE 22: 
 
 
ARTICLE 22: Amendment to Annual 2023 Article 13 – Promotion Fund 
To see if the Town will vote to amend the vote taken under Article 13 at the 2023 April Annual Town 
Meeting, Promotion Fund, to fix a typographical error, and increase the appropriation by transferring 
$136,478 from the Town Promotion Fund created pursuant to Chapter 4 of the Acts of 1993, for programs 
and projects that enhance the beautification, recreational resources, public safety, promotional and 
marketing activities, events, services, and public improvements, or take any other action relative thereto. 
FINANCE DEPARTMENT 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval Unanimous (13-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 22. Approval of this 
article will amend the vote taken under Article 13 at the April 2023 Annual Town Meeting, Promotion 
Fund, to fix a typographical error, and increase the appropriation by transferring $136,478 from the Town 
Promotion Fund created pursuant to Chapter 4 of the Acts of 1993, for programs and projects that 
enhance the beautification, recreational resources, public safety, promotional and marketing activities, 
events, services, and public improvements. 
 

355



356



 

 
TO:   SELECT BOARD 
  ADVISORY & FINANCE 
  TOWN MEETING MEMBERS 
 
FROM:  LYNNE A. BARRETT  
  DIRECTOR OF FINANCE  
 
SUBJECT: AMEND ARTICLE 13 OF THE SPRING 2023 ANNUAL TOWN MEETING – 

PROMOTION FUND   
 
DATE:  AUGUST 11, 2023  
 
 

I submit the following article for consideration: 

To see if the Town will vote to amend the vote taken under Article 13 at 
the 2023 April Annual Town Meeting, Promotion Fund, to fix a 
typographical error, and increase the appropriation by transferring 
$136,478 from the Town Promotion Fund created pursuant to Chapter 
4 of the Acts of 1993, for programs and projects that enhance the 
beautification, recreational resources, public safety, promotional and 
marketing activities, events, services, and public improvements, or take 
any action relative thereto. 

 
The reason for this article is to fix a typographical error that was made in the 
motions document for town meeting.  The amount in the motion document 
represented the motion that was done in the previous year instead of reflecting the 
amount that was requested by the Director of Planning & Development and 
approved by the Advisory & Finance.  This amendment will increase the amount 
appropriated from $1,109,928 to $1,246,406 which reflected the Advisory & 
Finance’s approval on page 155 of the Spring 2023 Report & Recommendations 
book. 
 
Thank you for your consideration in this matter. 

TOWN OF PLYMOUTH 
FINANCE DEPARTMENT 

26 COURT STREET, PLYMOUTH, MA  02360 
PHONE (508) 747-1620 EXTENSION 10177 

 

357



358



ARTICLE 23: 
 
 
ARTICLE 23: Special Purpose Article- Opioid Settlement 
To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate, transfer from available funds, or borrow to establish 
a special purpose article to utilize and administer the Opioid Settlement Abatement payments distributed 
to the Town, or take any other action relative thereto. 
SELECT BOARD 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval $239,092.09 Unanimous (13-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 23. Approval of this 
article will authorize the transfer of $239,092.09 from free cash to the Opioid Special Revenue Account 
for the purpose of funding community-based organizations focused on preventing drug addiction and 
providing mental health services across our community. 
 

359



360



________________________________________________________________________________ 

To: Select Board 

Advisory and Finance Committee 

From: Derek S. Brindisi, Town Manager 

Subject: Opioid Settlement Funds 

Date: August 18, 2023 

________________________________________________________________________ 

I respectfully request a Free Cash transfer of $239,092.09 to the Opioid Special 
Revenue Account for the purposes of funding community-based programs that are aimed at 
combating fatal and non-fatal overdoses and their secondary mental health effects. The Town 
will receive approximately $4,000,000 over a 15-year period.  

In 2022, drugmaker Johnson & Johnson and other major distributors and pharmacy chains 
finalized nationwide settlements over their role in the opioid addiction crisis where mishandling opioid 
pain drugs caused tens of thousands of overdose deaths across the country. These agreements clear the 
way for over $40 billion to flow to nearly every state and local government in the U.S., expecting to 
provide a significant boost to efforts aimed at reversing the current opioid crisis. Overdoses involving 
opioids, including prescription pills and heroin, surged during the COVID-19 pandemic, increasing 
38% in 2020 over the previous year and another 15% in 2021, according to the U.S. Centers for 
Disease Control and Prevention. 

With fatal overdoses continuing to rage across the U.S., largely because of the spread of 
fentanyl and other illicitly produced synthetic opioids, public health experts are urging governments to 
use these funds to ensure access to drug treatment and prevention. Additionally, there needs to be an 
emphasize to fund programs that are proven to work, collect and analyze data and launch prevention 
efforts aimed at young people, all while focusing on diversity, equity, and inclusion. 

Under the leadership of the town’s new Health and Human Services Department, these funds 
will be distributed through a competitive grant process to numerous community-based organizations 
focused on preventing drug addiction and providing mental health services across our community.   

Respectfully submitted, 

Derek S. Brindisi, Town Manager 

Town of Plymouth 
Town Manager’s Office 

26 Court Street 
Plymouth, Massachusetts 02360 

508-747-1620 
Fax 508-830-4028 

361



 

Maximum 
Distributor

Maximum           
J & J / Janssen Walmart CVS Walgreens Teva Allergan TOTAL

0010021-472012
Manufacturers & 

Traders Trust

total estimated 1,833,935.83        421,528.00 265,094.52           468,129.56          509,041.88          353,901.31         210,837.55          4,062,468.65            
17 years  10 years 6 years 10 years 15 years 13 years 7 years

Fiscal 2023 sum/fall 22 78,344.29      78,411.75    39,276.71            
82,336.03      25,925.25            304,294.03               

Fiscal 2024 July 2023 82,336.00         78,411.75    higher 33,477.43             25,925.25            27,223.18           30,119.65            277,493.26               
Fiscal 2025 July 2024 103,055.00       78,412.00      higher 26,689.90             25,925.25            27,223.18           30,119.65            291,424.98               
Fiscal 2026 July 2025 103,055.00       78,412.00      higher 53,337.52             25,925.25            27,223.18           30,119.65            318,072.60               
Fiscal 2027 July 2026 118,874.00       15,819.00      lower 53,337.52             25,925.25            27,223.18           30,119.65            271,298.60               
Fiscal 2028 July 2027 118,874.00       15,819.00      lower 53,337.52             25,925.25            27,223.18           30,119.65            271,298.60               
Fiscal 2029 July 2028 137,024.00       15,819.00      lower 53,337.52             39,276.71            27,223.18           30,119.65            302,800.06               
Fiscal 2030 July 2029 141,346.00       20,141.00      50,672.76             39,276.71            27,223.18           30,119.65            308,779.30               
Fiscal 2031 July 2030 141,346.00       20,141.00      47,965.70             39,276.71            27,223.18           275,952.59               
Fiscal 2032 July 2031 122,026.00       20,141.00      47,965.70             39,276.71            27,223.18           256,632.59               
Fiscal 2033 July 2032 101,885.00       47,965.70             39,276.71            27,223.18           216,350.59               
Fiscal 2034 July 2033 101,885.00       39,276.71            27,223.18           168,384.89               
Fiscal 2035 July 2034 101,885.00       39,276.71            27,223.18           168,384.89               

Dec 2034 39,276.71            27,223.18           66,499.89                 
Fiscal 2036 July 2035 101,885.00       101,885.00               
Fiscal 2037 July 2036 101,885.00       101,885.00               
Fiscal 2038 July 2037 101,885.00       101,885.00               
Fiscal 2039 July 2038 101,885.00       101,885.00                

 

 

 

 

362



ARTICLE 24: 
 
 
ARTICLE 24: Citizens Petition 
To see if the Town will vote to amend its Zoning Bylaws governing Ground-Mounted Solar Photovoltaic 
Systems (§ 207-11). The intent is to ensure that when there are nearby residents who are not naturally 
shielded from a proposal, a plan to adequately do so MUST be presented to Planning Board, who in turn 
MUST make the implementation of such a plan a recommendation to the Building Commission. 
This plan further adds to the Financial Surety section of the bylaw concerning bonds and increases abutter 
notification requirements from 300 to 700 feet. 
 
SEE ATTACHED 
 
Or take any other action relative thereto. 
BY PETITION: MARC PACHECO, et al 
 
(The following was attached) 
 
§ 207-11. Ground-Mounted Solar Photovoltaic Systems [Amended 10-23-2018 FTM by Article 
22; Amended 4-8-19 SATM by Article 22] 
 
4. Information Required with Zoning Permit for all GMSPS. 
 

d) Financial Surety. Except for a municipally owned GMSPS, or a GMSPS designed to 
cover a parking lot, a project designed to generate in excess of 2MW, or exceed 8 feet 
above grade, shall require a performance guarantee in the form of a cash bond in an 
amount approved by the Building Commissioner to cover the cost of GMSPS removal 
in the event the town must remove the installation and stabilize the Development Site 
with loam and seed. 
 
5. Other Requirements.  

a) Notification. When site plan review is required, at least fourteen days prior to site plan review by 
the Planning Board, notice of the time and place of said review shall be sent by mail by the 
GMSPS Owner/Operator, postage prepaid to abutting owners of land within three SEVEN 
hundred feet of the property line of the parcel or parcels upon which the GMSPS proposes to be 
situated, as said abutters appear on the most recent applicable tax list. The assessors maintaining 
any applicable tax list shall certify the names and addresses of parties interest and such 
certification shall be conclusive for all purposes. At least 60 business days prior to the 
commencement of work on a project, the GMSPS Owner/Operator shall notify abutters within 
300 700 feet of when work will commence and that site plans are available for public review at 
Town Hall. 

 
g) Viewshed affected. Exempting the municipality, when site plan review is required and there are 

residents within 700 ft of the proposed GMSPS whose viewshed will be impacted, affecting 
community/scenic character and property values (as determined by the Building Commissioner), 
the following SHALL apply: 

 
1. A viewshed SHALL be defined as the geographical area that is visible from a 

363



location. It includes all surrounding points that are in line-of-sight with that location and 
excludes points that are beyond the horizon or largely obstructed by terrain and other features 
(e.g., buildings, multiple trees {Deciduous, Conifers or otherwise}). 

 
2. An applicant SHALL present a complete plan which includes screening, as defined in §201-3 

of the Bylaw and which accomplishes the goal of adequately and sufficiently reducing the 
impact of the GMSPS, regardless of the height of the GMSPS, for the abovementioned 
residents. The plan SHALL include but not be limited to the use of berms, fencing and/or 
vegetation. 

 
3. The Planning Board SHALL make a recommendation for screening which accomplishes the 

goal of adequately and sufficiently reducing the visual impact of the GMSPS, regardless of 
the height of the GMSPS, from the residents. The plan should include, but not be limited to 
the use of berms, fencing and/or vegetation. 

 
a. The Planning Board MAY waive this provision IF the applicant obtains the notarized, 

written permission of every one of the abutting property’s LANDOWNERS meeting 
the 700 ft viewshed criteria. 

 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval 5-4-2 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 24. Approval of this 
article will amend the zoning bylaw § 207-11. Ground-Mounted Solar Photovoltaic Systems (GMSPS) 
requirement for 4 d. Financial Surety requirement to include projects that exceed 8 feet above grade in 
height, amend the requirement for 5 a. Notification for abutter notification of potential GMSPS Projects 
to include projects that are within 700 feet of the property line of the parcel or parcels upon which the 
GMSPS proposes to be situated, and add a new section g) Viewshed affected, to the zoning bylaw. The 
Committee had mixed feelings about the intent of this amendment.  

364



Over the past few years, Massachusetts has increasingly promoted solar energy as an important 
piece in ensuring our energy needs are met in a safe, green and sustainable fashion. And 
rightfully so.  Ground-Mounted Solar Photovoltaic Systems (GMSPS), or solar fields/farms, are 
a crucial part of any plan to combat climate change. 
 
However, we are concerned that our Planning Board does not have the tools they need to ensure 
these often-massive projects do not overwhelm their surrounding neighbors.  We want our 
elected officials to be able to both SUPPORT solar farms while PROTECTING the interests of 
all residents. We feel it is necessary to emphasize the need to protect residents and ensure that 
recommendations to do so shall be made to the proper officials. 
 
Therefore, our proposed zoning bylaw amendment is to see if the Town will vote to amend 
Chapter 207, Section 11 of the Town Bylaws by adding the underlined and italicized, and 
deleting the strike through text as shown below: 
  
 
 
§ 207-11. Ground-Mounted Solar Photovoltaic Systems [Amended 10-23-2018 FTM by Ar�cle 
22; Amended 4-8-19 SATM by Ar�cle 22] 
 
------------ 
 
4. Information Required with Zoning Permit for all GMSPS. 
 

d) Financial Surety. Except for a municipally owned GMSPS, or a GMSPS designed to 
cover a parking lot, a project designed to generate in excess of 2MW, or exceed 8 feet 
above grade, shall require a performance guarantee in the form of a cash bond in an 
amount approved by the Building Commissioner to cover the cost of GMSPS removal 
in the event the town must remove the installation and stabilize the Development Site 
with loam and seed. 
 

5. Other Requirements.  

a) Notification. When site plan review is required, at least fourteen days prior to site plan 
review by the Planning Board, notice of the time and place of said review shall be sent by 
mail by the GMSPS Owner/Operator, postage prepaid to abutting owners of land within 
three seven hundred feet of the property line of the parcel or parcels upon which the 
GMSPS proposes to be situated, as said abutters appear on the most recent applicable tax 
list. The assessors maintaining any applicable tax list shall certify the names and 
addresses of parties interest and such certification shall be conclusive for all purposes. At 
least 60 business days prior to the commencement of work on a project, the GMSPS 
Owner/Operator shall notify abutters within 300 700 feet of when work will commence 
and that site plans are available for public review at Town Hall. 
 

365



g) Viewshed affected. Exempting the municipality, when site plan review is required and 
there are residents within 700 ft of the proposed GMSPS whose viewshed will be 
impacted, affecting community/scenic character and property values (as determined by 
the Building Commissioner), the following SHALL apply: 
 
1. A viewshed SHALL be defined as the geographical area that is visible from a 

location. It includes all surrounding points that are in line-of-sight with that location 
and excludes points that are beyond the horizon or largely obstructed 
by terrain and other features (e.g., buildings, multiple trees {Deciduous, Conifers 
or otherwise}). 
 

2. An applicant SHALL present a complete plan which includes screening, as defined in 
§201-3 of the Bylaw and which accomplishes the goal of adequately and sufficiently 
reducing the impact of the GMSPS, regardless of the height of the GMSPS, for the 
abovementioned residents. The plan SHALL include but not be limited to the use of 
berms, fencing and/or vegetation. 
 

3. The Planning Board SHALL make a recommendation for screening which 
accomplishes the goal of adequately and sufficiently reducing the visual impact of the 
GMSPS, regardless of the height of the GMSPS, from the residents. The plan should 
include, but not be limited to the use of berms, fencing and/or vegetation. 
 

a. The Planning Board MAY waive this provision IF the applicant obtains the 
notarized, written permission of every one of the abutting property’s 
LANDOWNERS meeting the 700 ft viewshed criteria. 

 

366


	3 ATM Section 1 Report & Recommendations - Copy
	Blank Page

	3-1 Final Recommendations
	4 ATM SECTION 2 Roll Call Votes
	Blank Page

	4 Roll Call Voting Chart-Fall
	Sheet1

	5 ATM SECTION 3 Capital Improvements Committee
	Blank Page

	5-1 Art 4 Project List Ranking & Funding Source
	Town Mngr Rec to CIC

	7 ATM SECTION  4 Supporting Documentation
	Blank Page

	7-2A Rec Page  
	7-2A1 - Town ManagerFY24 TM_Budget Adjustment
	7-2A2 Supplemental Budget Climate Resiliency Memo- CRSP Budget
	Memo- CRSP Budget .pdf
	CRSP Budget.pdf
	Sheet1


	7-2A3 Town CLerk supplemental budget memo rev 3
	7-2A4 - Building FY 24 budget adjustment Blight
	MEMORANDUM

	7-2A5 Supplemental Budget Dispatch with County from Benefits
	7-2A6 IT Budget FY2024 amendment
	7-2A7 Finance Request for Overtime_Charter Committee
	7-2A8 Police - Fall ATM Budget Amendment
	7-2A10 Parks and Forestry Graffiti Budget MEMO
	7-2A11 Supplemental Budget Request_Snow & Ice
	7-2A12 Library Memo FY24 Budget Amendment
	7-2A13 Planning Memo Consulting Services
	7-2B Rec Page
	7-2B1 Water Supplemental Budget Amendment Memo FTM FY24
	7-2B2 Sewer_FY2024 -23 FATM Supplemental Budget
	7-4 Rec Page
	7-4-1 - Downtown Corridor Heat Island Mitigation and Beautification_202308291450038634
	SUBJECT: Downtown Resiliency Project Design- Green and Heat Island Reduction Infrastructure
	Court Street/Main Street – Green Infrastructure Study Plymouth, MA
	Task 1.0 Data Collection & Analysis
	Subtask 1.1: Record Files Research for Project Area
	Subtask 1.2: Base Map Development
	Subtask 1.3: Review of Grant Requirements and Applicability
	Subtask 1.4: Corridor Analysis

	Task 2.0 Conceptual Alternative Development
	Subtask 2.1 Conceptual Prototypes
	Subtask 2.2 Client Coordination & Meetings
	Subtask 2.3: Concept Alternatives

	Task 3.0 - Preferred Overall Schematic Design
	Subtask 3.1: General Plan Development
	Subtask 3.2: Enlarged Views and 3D Visualizations
	Subtask 3.3 Probable Estimate of Cost

	SCOPE EXCLUSIONS
	Design Fee Estimate

	DELIVERING  RESILIENCY
	Implement Green Infrastructure


	7-4-2 - Security Camera Upgrades
	7-4-3 - Replace Pumping Engine
	7-4-4 - Town Wharf Extension
	Plymouth T-Wharf Mooring Layout R4 [DRAFT].pdf
	Sheets and Views
	SITE BASEPLAN-FIGURE 1
	SITE BASEPLAN-FIGURE 2



	7-4-5 - Schematic Design and Appraisal
	7-4-6 - Store Pond Engineering and Permitting
	7-4-7 - Herring Pond Management Plan Implementation
	7-4-8 - Savery Pond Groundwater Flow Model
	7-4-9 - Design of Dark Orchard All Persons Trail_202309050803105650
	7-4-10 - CMOM
	7-4-11 - Infrastructure Improvements
	7-4-12 - Water Infrastructure Improvements
	7-5 Rec Page
	7-5-1 Nuisance Bylaw Warrant Article Memo (002)
	MEMORANDUM

	7-6 Rec Page
	7-6-1 Swimming Pool Bylaw Memo
	MEMORANDUM

	7-6-2 Swimming Pool Bylaw letter backup
	7-8 Rec Page
	7-8-1 Master Plan Funds Request v2
	7-8-2 Plymouth Master Plan Draft Scope Version 9
	7-9A Rec Page
	7-9A-2
	7-9A-3
	7-9B Rec Page
	7-9B-2
	7-9C Rec Page
	7-9C-2
	7-9D Rec Page
	7-9D-2
	7-9E Rec Page
	7-9E-2
	7-9F Rec Page
	7-9F-2
	7-9G Rec Page
	7-9G-2
	7-9G-3
	7-9G-4
	7-9H Rec Page
	7-9I Rec Page
	7-9I-3
	7-10 Rec Page
	7-10-1 Fall 23 Proposed Plan Bourne Road memo
	7-10-2 Fall 23 Proposed Plan Bourne Road
	7-11 Rec Page
	7-11-1 Memo- EV Charging Revolving fund
	7-13 Rec Page
	7-13-1 Parks Land Conveyance
	Morton Park Tax Title Properties
	Morton Park Tax Title Properties Aquifer Protection
	Map 100, Lot 51 Assessors Sheet
	Map 100, Lot 29 Assessors Sheet
	Map 100, Lot 52 Assessors Sheet
	Map 100, Lot 53 Assessors Sheet
	Final Judgement, Map 100, Lot 29
	Instrument, Map 100, Lot 29
	Final Judgement, Map 100, Lots 51,52,53
	Instrument, Map 100, Lots 51,52,53

	7-14 Rec Page
	7-14-1 Open Space Committee Packet, Conservation Land Conveyance
	Map 58, Lot 13 Locus Map
	Map 58, Lot 13 NHESP Map
	6809_6_5_1939
	16658_11_15_1941

	7-15 Rec Page
	7-15-1 NIP Ban Article, FTM 2023
	7-15-2 Nip Ban FAQ Document 5 edited
	7-16 Rec Page
	7-16-1 HRP Retire Memo
	Code of Massachusetts Regulations
	Plymouth Town Bylaws

	7-16-2 Support from Retirement-Harbormaster HRP
	7-17 Rec Page
	7-18 Rec Page
	7-18-1 FATM 2023 - Solar PILOT - 17 Plymouth St_with backup
	FATM 2023 - Solar PILOT - 17 Plymouth St
	Planning Board Vote - ReWild Renewables, Feb 1, 2023
	17 Plymouth St_0 Carver Road Floating Solar_Maps

	7-19 Rec Page
	7-19-1 FATM 2023 - Solar PILOT - Exit 13 Canopies_With Map
	FATM 2023 - Solar PILOT - Exit 13 Canopies
	Exit 13_Canopies_Map

	7-21 Rec Page
	7-21-1 Amend Art 9A Spring Special_Cemetery Sale of Lots
	7-22 Rec Page
	7-22-1 Amend Art 13 Spring Special_Promotion Fund
	7-23 Rec Page
	7-23-1 Opioid Funds
	7-24 Rec Page
	7-24-1 Citizens Pet Memo for Warrent
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	2 Table of Contents.pdf
	SUPPORTING Documentation




